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September 9, 2019 

The Honorable Chuck Grassley 
President Pro Tempore of the Senate, Washington, DC 20510 
The Honorable Nancy Pelosi 
Speaker of the House of Representatives, Washington, DC 20515 

Dear Senator Grassley and Speaker Pelosi: 

We are writing to notify you of the Commission’s June 20, 2019 public hearing on “A ‘World-Class’ Military: 
Assessing China’s Global Military Ambitions.”  The Floyd D. Spence National Defense Authorization Act for 
2001 § 1238, Pub. L. No. 106-398 (as amended by the Carl Levin and Howard P. “Buck” McKeon National 
Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2015 § 1259b, Pub. L. No. 113-291) provides the basis for this 
hearing. 

At the hearing, the Commissioners received testimony from the following witnesses: Christopher A. Ford, 
Assistant Secretary for International Security and Nonproliferation, U.S. Department of State; Mary Beth 
Morgan, Acting Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense for East Asia, U.S. Department of Defense; Daniel K. 
Taylor, Acting Defense Intelligence Officer for East Asia, Defense Intelligence Agency; Dean Cheng, Senior 
Research Fellow, Asian Studies Center, Heritage Foundation; M. Taylor Fravel, Ph.D., Arthur and Ruth Sloan 
Professor of Political Science, Massachusetts Institute of Technology; Phillip C. Saunders, Ph.D., Director of 
the Center for the Study of Chinese Military Affairs, National Defense University; Isaac B. Kardon, Ph.D., 
Assistant Professor, Strategic and Operational Research Department, U.S. Naval War College; Christopher D. 
Yung, Ph.D., Donald Bren Chair of Non-Western Strategic Thought and Director of East Asian Studies, 
Marine Corps University; David Santoro, Ph.D., Director and Senior Fellow for Nuclear Policy, Pacific 
Forum; Thomas G. Mahnken, Ph.D., President and Chief Executive Officer, Center for Strategic and 
Budgetary Assessments; and Abraham M. Denmark, Director, Asia Program, Woodrow Wilson International 
Center for Scholars. The following submitted statements for the record: Elbridge Colby, Director, Defense 
Program, Center for a New American Security; and Derek Grossman, Senior Defense Analyst, RAND 
Corporation This hearing examined the internal and external challenges the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) 
faces in its attempts to consolidate power at home and increase its influence abroad. The first panel explored 
the implications of President Xi and the CCP’s tightening control over economic and security policy making. 
The second panel examined China’s domestic challenges, considering China’s economic weakness and 
financial sector risks, the risks and benefits of China’s state-led economic policies, and the country’s reliance 
on a number of key foreign technologies. The third panel assessed China’s external challenges, focusing on the 
People’s Liberation Army’s shortcomings and the limits of Chinese soft, sharp, and hard power. 

The full transcript of the hearing, prepared statements, and supporting documents are posted to the 
Commission’s website, www.uscc.gov.  Members and the staff of the Commission are available to provide 
more detailed briefings. We hope these materials will be helpful to the Congress as it continues its assessment 
of U.S.-China relations and their impact on U.S. security. 

The Commission will examine in greater depth these issues and the others in our statutory mandate this year. 
Our 2019 Annual Report will be submitted to Congress in November 2019. Should you have any questions, 
please do not hesitate to have your staff contact one of us or our Congressional Liaison, Leslie Tisdale Reagan, 
at 202-624-1496 or lreagan@uscc.gov. 

Sincerely yours,      

Carolyn Bartholomew 
Chairman Robin Cleveland 

Vice Chairman 

cc: Members of Congress and Congressional Staff

http://www.uscc.gov/
mailto:ltisdale@uscc.gov
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appears to guide China's conduct in its region and around the world, declaring “China is a big 
country, and other countries are small countries.  And that is just a fact.” 

The words of Mr. Yang are typical of a Chinese Communist Party whose world view 
combines Marxist dialectic precepts of inevitable conflict with the traditional Chinese concept of 
Tianxia, or all under heaven, which dictates that China is the world's only civilization, and every 
other nation is inherently inferior. 

This is antithetical to liberal democratic norms of equality between states, a principle that 
has been promoted by the United States since it became a world power. 

Beijing's entire approach to geopolitics is fundamentally rooted in this unique world 
view.  As Congressman Mike Gallagher noted in a timely piece in the American Interest, the 
CCP perceives itself in a “life-or-death” struggle against Western ideas, including democracy 
and universality of human rights. 

They do not see relations between nations as equal.  One is a hegemon, and one is a 
vassal.  China approaching the world center stage then may not be an entirely welcome 
phenomenon for the rest of the world. 

China continues to bully and pressure regional states.  That leaves our longstanding 
democratic ally, Taiwan, which has never been under the control of the People's Republic of 
China. 

As we just witnessed, two million people demonstrated on the streets of Hong Kong 
against Beijing's efforts to undermine Hong Kong's freedom. 

Xi Jinping has explicitly broken his pledge to the United States not to militarize the South 
China Seas with the building of the islands.  Under his watch the PLA has been told to be ready 
to “fight and win” a war against a “powerful enemy,” Beijing's code word for the United States. 

China has also rededicated itself to securing a preponderant position in the 21st century's 
latest technologies, at the expense of the United States and other countries, often by lying, 
cheating, and stealing its way to the top. 

Building a world class military will provide Beijing with an even more powerful tool to 
continue this behavior and achieve these goals. 

With that I turn to my distinguished co-chair, Commissioner and Admiral Mike 
McDevitt, who will provide his thoughts on what the world class military might look like.  I look 
forward to hearing our esteemed witnesses' testimony today. 
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER LEWIS 
HEARING CO-CHAIR 

 
The long process of political upheaval in contemporary China began in 1911, when 
revolutionaries threw off the shackles of the Qing Dynasty and sought to build a modern nation. 
The original goals of the Xinhai revolution—nationalism, democracy, and the people’s 
livelihood—were supplanted by Marxism-Leninism following the victory of the Chinese 
Communist Party (CCP) in a civil war that left millions dead by its conclusion in 1949. After 
several decades of mutual hostility, the United States welcomed Beijing into the community of 
nations and assumed that, through engagement and good will, the People’s Republic of China 
would evolve into a true democratic republic. That assumption is no longer valid today. 
  
At the CCP’s 19th National Congress in 2017, Chinese President and General Secretary of the 
CCP, Xi Jinping, declared that China was now approaching the “world’s center stage” and 
pledged to build what he termed a “world-class” military by 2049, the centennial of the founding 
of the People’s Republic of China. Xi Jinping has also identified 2049 as the year China will 
attain “national rejuvenation,” implying that building a “world-class” military and “national 
rejuvenation” are intrinsically linked.  
 
As political scientist Ian Bremmer notes, “China presents a contradictory legacy.”  On the one 
hand, the CCP has presided over the largest economic expansion in human history. Nearly two-
thirds of the population lived on $1.90 per day or less in 1990. In 2015, that number was less 
than 1%. Per capita income increased by more than 900% over that period, and infant mortality 
rates fell by more than 80%. 
 
On the other hand, as it has grown more powerful, the CCP has doubled down on its most malign 
instincts. Chinese leaders have ordered the People’s Liberation Army (PLA) to coerce China’s 
neighbors into conceding their territory and national sovereignty while jailing over one million 
of its ethnic Uyghur population in so-called “re-education camps.”  As early as 2010, China’s 
then-foreign minister, Yang Jiechi, outlined the philosophy that appears to guide China’s conduct 
in its region and around the world, declaring that: “China is a big country and other countries are 
small countries and that is just a fact.”  
 
The words of Mr. Yang are typical of a CCP whose world-view combines Marxist dialectic 
precepts of inevitable conflict with the traditional Chinese concept of tian xia—or, “All Under 
Heaven”, which dictates that China is the world’s only Civilization, and every other nation is 
inherently inferior. This is antithetical to liberal democratic norms of equality between states, a 
principle that has been supported by the United States since it became a world power.  
Beijing’s entire approach to geopolitics is fundamentally rooted in this unique world-view. As 
Congressman Mike Gallagher noted in a timely piece in the American Interest, the CCP 
perceives itself in a “life-or-death struggle” against Western ideas, including democracy and the 
universality of human rights.  
 
China approaching the “world’s center stage,” then, may not be an entirely welcome 
phenomenon for the rest of the world. China continues to bully and pressure regional states, not 
least our long-standing democratic ally, Taiwan—which has never been under the control of the 
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People’s Republic of China. As we just witnessed, 2 million people demonstrated on the streets 
of Hong Kong against Beijing’s efforts to undermine Hong Kong’s freedom. Xi Jinping has 
explicitly broken his pledge to the United States not to militarize the South China Sea. Under his 
watch, the PLA has been told to be ready to “fight and win” a war against a “powerful enemy”—
Beijing’s code word for the United States. China has also rededicated itself to securing a 
preponderant position in the 21st century’s latest technologies at the expense of the United States 
and other countries—often by lying, cheating, and stealing its way to the top.  
Building a “world-class” military will provide Beijing with an even more powerful tool to 
continue this behavior and achieve these goals. 
 
With that, I turn to my distinguished co-chair, Commissioner and Admiral Mike McDevitt, who 
will provide his thoughts on what this “world-class” military might look like. I look forward to 
hearing our esteemed witnesses’ testimony today. 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT 
HEARING CO-CHAIR 

 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Thank you, Commissioner Lewis.  And I want to first, 

having spent late last night reading all of the testimony, thank all of the witnesses for their time 
and effort they have put into preparing testimony for what I consider a ground breaking hearing. 

And I certainly want to thank the House Foreign Affairs Committee for securing this 
room for us to use today. 

Since the PLA's modernization drive began in the 1990's its capabilities have grown 
dramatically.  I'm not going to get into a recitation of what these are or not.  But I want to 
emphasize the comment addressed by my co-chair, that Xi Jinping has made his ambitions for 
the PLA perfectly clear. 

There is no mystery.  What he wants for China, he wants a PLA that "makes an all-out 
effort to become a world class armed force by 2050." 

Being world class carries the connotation of being second to none, or being top tier, or 
being the best in the world.  Most significantly is a established and accelerated time table for 
completion of modernization. 

He has spoken about stepping up their efforts.  And what that means in practice was also 
announced in his 19th Party Congress report, when he said we'll "make it our mission to see that 
by 2035," which by the way, to remind everybody, is just 15 years from now, "the modernization 
of our national defense and our forces is basically completed.  And by that, by the mid-21st 
century our people's armed forces will have been fully transformed into world class forces." 

Since then Xi has continued to stoke a sense of urgency.  Take, for example, on May in 
2018 a South China Sea naval review, which Xi watched from the flying bridge of a brand new 
destroyer, wearing his trending camo uniform. 

It reminded the 10,000 sailors involved in the 50 odd ships and submarines that "the task 
of building of the strength of the people's navy has never been so urgent." 

The buildup of the navy has been impressive.  It means that just in 18 months or so China 
is likely to have the world's second most capable navy, at least in terms of ships and installed 
weapons systems.  And how they'll be employed is unclear. 

A partial answer to the question can be found in Djibouti, on the Horn of Africa, and as 
the far, in the far reaches of the Indian Ocean, where Beijing opened a base in 2017. 

Twenty years ago Beijing claimed it did not station troops or send military bases in any, 
or set up military bases in any foreign country as a matter of policy.  That was then.  This is now.  
Beijing's policy on this issue, like so many other examples, is conditional.  It is what it says it is. 

For the United States the very big question is, when General Secretary Xi describes his 
vision for the PLA we really don't know what he has in mind.  What does he believe a world 
class PLA actually looks like? 

We can assume it will be large.  But how large?  And with what blend of capabilities?  
We must never forget, this is a party military, not a national military.  It does what the party tells 
it to do.  Or at least that's what Xi harps on and expects. 

Will it be a force with a global expeditionary capability, mimicking the United States?  
Or is it going to be an overwhelming regional force, reminiscent of Imperial Japan on the eve of 
World War II?  Actually, the two are not mutually exclusive.  It could be both. 

This hearing will explore these questions, and assess what the implications of a world 
class military might be for the United States and its allies and partners. 
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Our objective with this hearing is to begin a public discourse, and hopefully a 
Government discourse on this topic.  And develop recommendations for Congress on how the 
United States might best protect its interests in the face of a highly capable Chinese competitor. 

Our first panel today will provide U.S. Government views on China's military ambitions, 
and how China's military-civilianfusion strategy fits into these ambitions. 

But before we begin I want to let everybody know that today's testimonies and transcripts 
will be posted on our website at www.uscc.gov.  Also, our next hearing on China's medicine and 
health development is going to be on July 31st. 

With that, thank you again for joining us.  And now I'm going to go ahead and introduce 
our first panelist.
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT 
HEARING CO-CHAIR 

 
Thank you, Commissioner Lewis, and good morning, everyone. Thank you, particularly, to our 
witnesses for the time and effort they have put into their testimonies and to the House Foreign 
Affairs Committee for securing this room for our use today.  

Since the People’s Liberation Army’s modernization drive began in the 1990’s, its capabilities 
have grown dramatically. I want to emphasize the comment made by my co-chair that General 
Secretary of the Communist Party Xi Jinping made his ambitions for the PLA perfectly clear. 
There is no mystery what he wants for China: a PLA that (quote) “makes an all-out effort to 
become a world-class armed forces by 2050.” Being “world-class” carries the connotation of 
being “second to none,” being “top tier,” or being the “best in the world.” Most significantly, he 
established an accelerated timetable for completion of military modernization. A sense of 
urgency is clear. Xi said, “We will step up efforts to build China into a strong maritime country.” 
He went on to explicitly outline what “stepping up efforts” actually meant:    
 

We will make it our mission to see that by 2035, [just 15 years from now] the 
modernization of our national defense and our forces is basically completed; and that by 
the mid-21st century our peoples armed forces have been fully transformed into world-
class forces. 
 

Since then Xi has continued to stoke a sense of urgency. Take, for example, a May 2018 South 
China Sea naval review, which Xi watched from the flying bridge of a new destroyer. Wearing 
his trendy “camouflage uniform,” he reminded the 10,000 or so sailors involved on 50 odd ships 
and submarines “that the task of building up the strength of the people’s navy has never been so 
urgent.” 
 
The build-up of the navy has been most impressive. It means that China will be the second-most 
capable navy in the world by 2020, at least in terms of ships and installed combat systems. How 
these ships will actually be employed is unclear. As the PLAN’s “blue water” capability 
continues to expand, will it begin to operate sizable naval Task Forces aboard on a routine basis 
similar to the way the U.S. Navy does, or will the operational focus remain regional with only 
modestly-sized formations active abroad?   

A partial answer to this question can be found in Djibouti on the Horn of Africa at the far reaches 
of the Indian Ocean, where Beijing opened a base in 2017. Twenty years ago Beijing claimed it 
“does not station any troops or set up any military bases in any foreign country” as a matter of 
policy. That was then. This is now. Beijing’s policy on this issue, like so many other examples, is 
conditional. It is what it says it is. 

For the United States the very big question is when General Secretary Xi describes his vision for 
the PLA we really don’t know what he has in mind. What does he believe a “world-class” PLA 
actually looks like? We can assume it will be large, but how large and with what blend of 
capabilities? We must never forget this is Party military, not a national military. It does what the 
Party tells it to do, or least that is what Xi harps on and expects. Will it be a force with global 
expeditionary capability, mimicking the United States, or an overwhelming regional force 
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reminiscent of Imperial Japan on the eve of World War II?  As the two are not necessarily 
mutually exclusive, could it be both?  

This hearing will explore these questions and assess what the implications of a world-class 
Chinese military might be for the United States and its allies and partners.  Our goal is to begin a 
public dialogue on this topic and develop recommendations for Congress on how the United 
States might best protect its interests in the face of a highly-capable Chinese competitor. 

Our first panel today will provide U.S. government views on China’s military ambitions and how 
China’s military-civilian fusion strategy fits into these ambitions. 

But before we begin, I wanted to let everyone know that today’s testimonies and transcript will 
be posted on our website, www.uscc.gov. Also, our next hearing, on China’s medicine and health 
development, will be on July 31st. 

Thank you, again, for joining us today.  With that, we will proceed with our first panel. 
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PANEL I INTRODUCTION BY COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT 
 

First we're going to hear from Christopher A. Ford, the Assistant Secretary for 
International Security and Non Proliferation, at the U.S. Department of State. 

Before coming to ISN Dr. Ford served as Special Assistant to the President, and Senior 
Director for Weapons of Mass Destruction and Counter Proliferation.  I hope you made it clear 
that you were not, you were going against the proliferation, as opposed to -- That's a heck of a 
title. 

Anyway, Dr. Ford served on several Congressional staffs, including the Senate Select 
Committee on Intelligence, the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations, and in 2003 served as 
the Principle Deputy Assistant Secretary in the State Department's Bureau of Verification and 
Compliance. 

He's also a Senior Fellow at Hudson Institute.  And he served as an intelligence officer in 
the U.S. Navy Reserve from 1994 to 2011. 

He earned his Bachelors Degree at Harvard and his PhD from Oxford, and as a Rhodes 
Scholar.  And he has a law degree from Yale Law School. 

So, Dr. Ford, why don't I ask you to begin your commentary.  Each witness is asked to 
keep your verbal remarks to around seven minutes.  And then we'll have enough time for 
questions and answers.
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OPENING STATEMENT OF CHRISTOPHER A. FORD, ASSISTANT SECRETARY 
FOR INTERNATIONAL SECURITY AND NONPROLIFERATION, U.S. 

DEPARTMENT OF STATE 
 

DR. FORD:  Thank you, Mr. Commissioner.  It's a pleasure to be here.  And thanks for 
the chance to talk about these topics.  I will be giving what I hope will be an appropriately 
abbreviated version of my remarks.  But I would ask that the full text be entered into the record, 
if that is acceptable. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT: That's no problem. 
DR. FORD:   Well, Mr. Commissioner, Commissioners, as we develop an ever better 

whole of Government approach to meeting the challenges that are presented by China's power, 
and its increasingly assertive self-aggrandizement in the international arena, we are proceeding 
along, of course, the compass bearing provided by the National Security Strategy and the 
National Defense Strategy, which clearly focuses us upon the imperative of meeting the 
competitive challenge of near peer adversaries, such as China and Russia. 

I would like to try to address today a little bit only one piece of that broader puzzle.  And 
that is the question of how technology acquisition fits into China's geopolitical strategy. 

As I say, this is really only one piece of that puzzle.  But it is the one that my little corner 
of the State Department spends a great deal of time on.  So, I hope you'll forgive me for dwelling 
somewhat upon it. 

Understanding Chinese strategy in this respect I would argue is critical.  Because it is 
only upon a basis of that clear understanding that we can take effective countermeasures. 

Despite decades of propaganda tropes about win-win, and the peaceful rise, and that sort 
of stuff, it turns out when one looks at it closely, and indeed when one observes the emerging 
behavior, that military muscularity, and indeed an increasing degree of military muscularity is 
central to Beijing's geopolitical vision. 

China has adopted a whole system strategy to develop what it calls a world class military, 
so as to achieve the so called strong military dream referred to by Xi Jinping, by 2049. 

By that date the Chinese Communist Party hopes to have legitimated its authoritarian rule 
by having achieved what is called the great rejuvenation of the Chinese Nation, as China 
reclaims for itself the geopolitical centrality that it sees to be its birthright, and of which Chinese 
nationalists feel that their country was robbed in the 19th century by predatory European 
imperialists. 

This is a central priority for Xi Jinping, who explained at the 19th Party Congress that the 
strong military dream is critical to China's rejuvenation.  But even though he is unprecedentedly 
unabashed in the pursuit of this global military power, this is not a new theme for him. 

Our National Security Strategy describes China as one of the revisionist powers that 
threaten U.S. security interests. 

China's conception of its national identify and its national security strategy seem to be 
premised upon a strong sense of mission, in the form of acquiring greater power and status in the 
world. 

That power and that status are in turn the currencies with which it is felt that China will 
rectify the historical grievances associated with its so called century of humiliation that followed 
the Middle Kingdom's 19th century defeats, at the hand of European imperialists, using advanced 
military technology of the period. 

Despite the win-win propaganda rhetoric therefore, this is not a peaceable, benevolent, 
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live and let live vision of 21st century engagement. 
In the scope of its ambitions the Chinese Communist Party I would argue is inescapably 

revisionist, even revanchist in its approach to influencing the rest of the world. 
Its self-conceived national mission is to make itself ever more powerful, vis-a-vis 

everyone else.  And particularly vis-a-vis the United States.  And it has devoted its national 
security policy to what the 2002 Chinese Defense White Paper described as a policy of 
unremittingly enhancing the overall national strength. 

And unfortunately it does not appear that this objective is merely one of acquiring 
relative power and status.  Fascinatingly, and I would suggest worryingly, Chinese officials have 
also made clear that in some sense their target is what I like to describe as the current 
sociopolitical operating system of the international community. 

This was a problem called out in the National Defense Strategy, which noted specifically 
that China aims to shape a world consistent with its authoritarian model, gaining veto authority 
over other nations' economic, diplomatic, and security decisions. 

But you didn't just take our word for it.  Xi Jinping himself noted with alarming 
confidence that China's development over the past four decades had demonstrated to the 
international community what he described as a new model of modernization that other countries 
should look to, and should adopt. 

In effect, this model is one of state controlled economics and authoritarian dictatorship.  
And thus, one of direct, indirect competition with the liberal institutions of our current 
international systems. 

He makes no bones about this.  And this makes him in some sense the first Chinese 
leader since Mao Zedong to openly state that China wishes to overturn the norms governing the 
international system, and remake the world in line with its own image. 

Let me turn to the issue of technology in this strategy, however.  Because that is a critical 
piece that we work on. 

To help facilitate the growth of the military power that it sees as the key to helping 
achieve this dream, China has adopted an approach that it calls military civilian fusion, military 
civil fusion, or MCF, which seeks to in effect break down all the barriers between the civilian 
sector and China's defense industrial base, in order to simultaneously achieve economic 
development, as well as military modernization. 

Some of the roots of this I think go back all the way to the 19th century, where as I 
alluded to before, China has painful memory of what happens when advanced military 
technology allows one empire to dominate and humiliate another empire. 

China may have lost out on the last, or prior revolutions in military affairs.  But it is 
determined to win the next one.  And it sees the acquisition of technology, and the development 
of technological capabilities, in particularly advanced artificial intelligence facilitated war 
fighting, as being the key to the success that it wishes to have in the next RMA, that will decide 
the future of the late, mid late 21st century. 

And to fuel this military civil fusion strategy China has focused relentlessly not just upon 
acquiring technology indigenously, but also upon acquiring it abroad, by means both fair and 
foul, in order to tilt the playing field in favor of itself, at the expense of U.S. and global 
companies. 

This is one of the reasons why we focus so much in the U.S. Government right now upon 
reforming national security export control rules, recalibrating our export control policy, building 
out recent statutory changes, which we are very grateful to have gotten from Congress, that are 
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designed to help close loopholes in our traditional methods of screening investments in the 
United States for national security implications. 

And the emphasis that we also place upon screening visa applicants, to try to weed out 
persons who are seeking sensitive technologies.  And of course, upon shoring up cyber defenses 
against cyber facilitated theft. 

So, some of what needs to be done, forgive me, I'm already almost out of time.  Some of 
what needs to be done is, lies in that realm of Government policy.  But much of it also relates to 
a broader sort of awareness of this challenge. 

And here is where I'm so pleased to be able to testify here today, because of the 
importance of increasing public awareness of these challenges. 

Business people, researchers, academics, technologists, and scientists of all sorts need to 
be keenly aware of these problems, and of the need to collectively come up with a better 
response.  We all need to be part of this. 

Because the implications of the sort fused, whole-ist system approach that China is 
taking, both to its broader geopolitical strategy, and to the technology aspects that are sort of 
nested within that strategy, is not something that the Government, I'm afraid, can undertake 
alone. 

We all need to build circuits of what I call sort of appropriate caution into the back of our 
heads.  And I'm not suggesting in any way that this should lead to any kind of a call for a 
technological boycott of China.  That would be untenable and unwise. 

But it is an important lesson.  Because we need to be much, much, much more careful 
than we have been for a long time.  One of the central challenges, I would argue, is that we face a 
geopolitical competitive adversary in China, with whom we need to have, and learn how to have, 
both a competitive relationship and a simultaneously cooperative one. 

And doing those things at the same time is something for which we don't have much of 
an intellectual template from the Cold War, where our dealings with the Soviets were much more 
purely competitive. 

We have to figure this out, almost as Deng Xiaoping himself suggested, one could feel 
one's way across a river by feeling for the stones if you can't see beneath the water. 

We are making this up as we go along.  But a critical aspect to this is awareness of the 
problem.  And that is why this Commission can play such an important role in drawing attention 
to these challenges, and encouraging ever more effective responses to the collective challenges 
that we face. 

I would ask if you could that my longer remarks, that go into some more detail about 
aspects of China's technology acquisition policy be entered into the record.  And I very much 
look forward to your questions, and our discussion here today.  Thank you, sir.
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researchers, academics, technologists, and scientists all need to understand the broader context of 

China’s global strategy, and the implications of its “fused” military-civilian industrial complex.  

This is not a call for anything like a complete high-technology “boycott” of China, but there is a 

need for serious risk mitigation. 

This is true in large part simply because there are so many points of contact between 

China’s MCF industrial complex and the outside world.  Authoritative Chinese sources, for 

instance, have explained that the entire Chinese university system is considered – in the words of 

the Xinhua state news agency in 2018 – the “front line” of MCF.  As befits the priority given to 

the “front line” in any kind of struggle, the MCF system is working along multiple lines of effort 

to advance Chinese capabilities through the development of a talent pool of doctoral, masters, 

and undergraduate-level workers in STEM fields.  The Chinese government certifies universities 

to undertake classified research and development on military contracts, as well as certifying them 

for weapons production – a policy known in China as the “three certifications.”  To date, more 

than 80 Chinese universities have already been certified to undertake Top Secret or Secret level 

military research and development under this program.   

Significantly, this approach also includes implementing a policy under which state-

owned defense enterprises fund the education of students at the undergraduate, masters, and 

doctoral level – even to the point of providing living stipends.  These student subsidies turn their 

recipients into something akin to employees of China’s defense industry, especially since this 

support is given in return for a service commitment from the students to the companies that fund 

their education. 

 As you might imagine, this well-developed system for leveraging military advantage out 

of China’s enormous flows of outbound and returning students in STEM fields presents 

enormous challenges for those of us concerned with screening visa applications for proliferation 

risks – one of the responsibilities of my bureau at the State Department.  It is extremely 

important to put some national security brakes on the Chinese system’s massive technology-

transfer bureaucracy.  It is also important, however, to avoid the unjustified conclusion that all 

Chinese students or technicians seeking to come here are threats – or that the solution to the 

national security problem with which the CCP’s strategy has confronted us is simply to shut 

down all ongoing engagements with the world’s second-largest economy.   

Striking the right balance is not easy.  Even as we police against those who would take 

advantage of our openness to collect technology for those seek to collect knowledge with which 

to do us harm, however, we must also remain open and welcoming to Chinese talent that wants 

to work within our university and lab system to help push the frontiers of the emerging and even 

disruptive technologies that can help fuel mankind’s flourishing in the years to come.   

So that’s one of our challenges.  But this difficulty is inherent in the challenge of living 

out a relationship with China that is both cooperative and competitive in significant ways.  This 

is one of the key challenges of our era, and while no one can guarantee you that we will always 

get the balance right, I can assure you that we are keenly aware of these imperatives and are 

committed to answering these challenges effectively. 

Thank you. 
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COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Well, not only will it go into the record, but you can be 

assured we're going to ask you some questions that will give you a chance to elaborate. 
Let me turn now to Ms. Mary Beth Morgan, who is the Acting Deputy Assistant 

Secretary of Defense for East Asia.  By the way, once I spent a year as an Acting Deputy 
Assistant Secretary of Defense.  So, I've trod, I understand the path you're traveling here. 

She is responsible for advising senior leadership with DoD on all policy matters 
pertaining to the development and the implementation of defense strategy, plans, policies, 
bilateral security relations in East Asia. 

Her previous roles in the Department of Defense, including served as, serving as Chief of 
Staff to the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Homeland Defense and Global Security, Director 
for Cyber Strategy and International Engagement, and Regional Director for Southeast Asia and 
Oceania. 

Ms. Morgan holds both a Bachelors Degree in International Affairs, and an MPA from 
George Washington University.  She's also a graduate of the National War College, my alma 
mater.  And earning, is working on a master of science, oh, and earned a Master of Science 
degree in National Security Strategy. 

Ms. Morgan, over to you. 
MS. MORGAN:  Thank you, sir.  Commissioner Lewis, Commissioner McDevitt, 

Members of the Commission, and staff, thank you so much for the opportunity to meet with you 
today. 

My remarks will hopefully briefly address how the Department views the military 
component of China's rise, and discuss the implications for the Department, and how we're 
working to address the challenge. 

China's leaders have set major economic and political milestones in the lead up to the 
100th anniversary of the founding of the People's Republic of China in 2049.  And China's 
military ambitions are linked to these milestones as well. 

By 2035 China wants to complete its military modernization.  And by 2049 they have 
characterized their goal of becoming a world class military. 

In this regard China's efforts are designed with a clear purpose in mind, to displace the 
United States in the Indo-Pacific region, to expand beyond the reaches of its state driven 
economic model, and to reorder the region in its favor. 

This is in direct contrast to the U.S. vision for a free and open Indo-Pacific that promotes 
security, stability, and prosperity for all, based on the following principles, respect for 
sovereignty and independence of all nations, peaceful resolution of disputes, free, fair, and 
reciprocal trade, based on open investment, transparent agreements, and connectivity, and 
adherence to international rules and norms, including those of freedom of navigation and 
overflight. 

From the Department's perspective we view China's activities as seeking to erode U.S. 
military advantages.  China is working to become the preeminent power in the Indo-Pacific 
region, while simultaneously undertaking plans to expand its overseas presence, and developing 
capabilities to sustain military operations farther from Chinese shores. 

The People's Liberation Army is implementing a long term, comprehensive 
modernization effort to fight and win short duration, high intensity conflicts along its periphery, 
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including against strong military opponents. 
Some of its activities, include continued militarization in the South China Sea, which 

erode the international rules based order. 
I want to briefly highlight some developments related to PLA modernization.  I know that 

Mr. Taylor will speak in greater detail.  But I think it's important to tell you what we're paying 
close attention to. 

First, China continues to implement major restructuring of its armed forces.  It's also 
developing and fielding new classes of weapons systems. 

In recent years these have included precision guided cruise and ballistic missile systems, 
its second and third aircraft carriers, and modern combat and support aircraft, as well as a very 
robust space launch program. 

Third, China's nuclear forces are also undergoing significant reform, as well as PLA is 
modernizing its training and exercises, by increasingly using professional opposition forces 
during its training, to improve the realism. 

In addition, China is focused on widening the PLA's operational reach to match what its 
leaders consider to be the global nature of China's economic and national interests. 

Over the past few years we have seen public statements calling for expanded basing and 
access overseas.  And in fact, Xi Jinping in January called for the completion of the security 
system for the One Belt One Road Initiative, to strengthen protection of its overseas interests, 
and ensure the security of major overseas projects and personnel. 

The Department is responding to these developments in line with the objectives of the 
2017 National Security Strategy, and the 2018 National Defense Strategy, which is clear on DoD 
priorities, and lays out the central challenge that we face, which is the return of great power 
competition. 

And as such DoD's military advantage, vis-a-vis China, is eroding.  If inadequately 
addressed this will undermine our ability to deter aggression and coercion. 

A negative shift in the regional balance of power could encourage competitors to 
challenge and subvert the free and open order, which supports the prosperity and security for the 
United States and our allies and partners. 

The NDS explains how the Department will engage in long term competition with China.  
And we are executing the strategy along three lines of effort. 

The first line of effort is preparing for a more lethal and resilient joint force.  Our efforts 
span both near term force employment activities and longer term investments, including new 
asymmetric ways to upgrade and employ legacy systems, as well as the experimentation and 
exercises needed to test evolving war fighting concepts and capabilities. 

With the help of Congress we've begun to restore our competitive edge.  And recent 
budgets have allowed us to build readiness, and invest in new capabilities, while meeting our 
current operational requirements. 

Greater investments into our own modernization include emphasis on space, cyber, and 
new missiles such as hypersonics. 

Our second line of effort is strengthening alliances and attracting new partnerships.  Our 
alliances and partnerships are a crucial and durable asymmetric advantage that no other country 
can match. 

As China continues to leverage its economic, political, and military tools to erode the 
sovereignty of others, we're redoubling our focus on our alliances and partnerships. 

We're doing this through strengthening our traditional alliances, operationalizing our 
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major defense partnerships, and expanding our long standing partnerships with the likes of 
Singapore, New Zealand, Mongolia, and India.  And we're working to engage new partners like 
Indonesia and Vietnam. 

To maintain a free and open Indo-Pacific we're also working together with United 
Kingdom, France, and Canada, who have their own Pacific ideas. 

A key focus of our efforts is expanding interoperability with allies and partners to ensure 
that we can work together effectively during day to day competition, crises, and if necessary 
conflict. 

Specifically, we're focused on building greater security cooperation, information sharing 
agreements, and training for high end combat missions in alliance, bilateral, and multi-lateral 
exercises. 

We're also working to promote a network security architecture that's capable of 
decisively meeting these challenges.  So, we're trying to augment our bilateral relationships with 
trilateral and multi-lateral arrangements, and encouraging intra-Asian security relationships.  
Thereby creating more partnerships with purposes. 

Our last line of effort is reforming the Department for greater performance and 
affordability.  For us competition does not mean confrontation.  Nor must it lead to conflict. 

The United States seeks a constructive, results oriented military to military relationship 
with China.  And we're focused on reducing the risk of misunderstanding or miscalculation, 
ensuring the safety of our forces operating in close proximity, and enhancing our ability to 
communicate in the event of a crisis. 

We do not believe that our countries are destined to be adversaries.  And we remain open 
to cooperation with China where our interests align. 

At the recent Shangri-La dialogue earlier this month Acting Secretary Shanahan met with 
Chinese Minister of Defense Wei Fenghe to exchange views and discuss areas of potential 
cooperation and collaboration. 

During their meeting Acting Secretary Shanahan raised how China can do more to 
enforcer U.N. sanctions against North Korea, which North Korea is evading by conducting ship 
to ship transfers of refined petroleum, including near or in Chinese territorial waters. 

We seek cooperation where our interests align.  But we will also call out China's 
behaviors that are counter to the rules based international order, and the norms of behavior that 
are expected of all countries. 

For example, the U.S. has called for all of China's maritime forces, including China's 
Coast Guard and Maritime Militia, to abide by international rules and norms for safe encounters 
at sea. 

We're also prioritizing defense engagements that promote safety and reduce risk, such as 
those through the Military Maritime Consultative Agreement.  And also working to implement 
existing confidence building measures, and utilize our defense telephone link to promote 
communication. 

As the Commission is aware, China is expanding and diversifying its nuclear arsenal, and 
may double the size of its stockpile over the next decade. 

The 2018 Nuclear Posture Review emphasizes the continued importance of the U.S. 
nuclear triad.  And that is why the U.S. has undertaken a nuclear modernization program 
intended to ensure an effective and credible nuclear triad for decades to come. 

The triad provides diversity and flexibility that allows us to tailor strategies to deter 
nuclear armed competitors like China.  This approach is necessary, given the scope and scale of 
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China's nuclear modernization program, and its continued lack of transparency on nuclear issues. 
This issue speaks to the impetus for including China in multi-lateral arms control.  

President Trump has directed the Administration to think more broadly about arms control, and 
seeking to bring both China and Russia to the negotiating table. 

As a major power it's appropriate for China to act responsibly, and join in multi-lateral 
arms control.  The U.S. will continue to seek a meaningful dialogue with China on our respective 
nuclear policies, doctrine, and capabilities, to reduce the risk of miscalculation and 
misunderstanding. 

Ultimately how constructive our relationship can be is contingent on whether, and the 
extent to which China is willing to engage in behaviors that support rather than undermine the 
rules based international order. 

Our vision for a free and open Indo-Pacific is inclusive and affirmative for any country, 
China included, who chooses to support the enduring principles embedded in our vision. 

I thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today.  And I look forward to your 
questions. 
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Commissioner Lewis, Commissioner McDevitt, members of the Commission, and staff, thank 

you for the opportunity to meet with you today.  My remarks will briefly address how the 

Department of Defense views the military component of China’s rise, and discuss implications 

for the Department and how we are working to address this challenge. 

 

China’s leaders have set major economic and political milestones for 2021, 2035, and 2049 in 

the lead up to the 100th anniversary of the founding of the People’s Republic of China.  China’s 

military ambitions are linked to these milestones.  By 2035, China’s military leaders seek to 

complete military modernization and by 2049, they have characterized their goal as becoming a 

“world-class” military.  In this regard, China’s efforts are designed with a clear purpose in mind:  

to displace the United States in the Indo-Pacific region; to expand the reaches of its state-driven 

economic model; and to reorder the region in its favor.  

 

This is in direct contrast to the U.S. vision for a free and open Indo-Pacific that promotes 

security, stability, and prosperity for all based on the following principles:  respect for the 

sovereignty and independence of all nations; peaceful resolution of disputes; free, fair, and 

reciprocal trade based on open investment, transparent agreements, and connectivity; and 

adherence to international rules and norms, including those of freedom of navigation and 

overflight. 

 

The Department views China’s activities as seeking to erode U.S. military advantages.  China is 

working to become the preeminent power in the Indo-Pacific region, while simultaneously 

undertaking plans to expand its overseas presence and developing capabilities to sustain military 

operations farther from Chinese shores. 

 

The People’s Liberation Army (PLA) is implementing a long-term, comprehensive military 

modernization effort to fight and win short-duration, high-intensity conflicts along its periphery, 

including against “strong military opponents.”  Some of its activities, including continued 

militarization in the South China Sea, erode the international rules-based order. 

   

I want to briefly highlight some developments related to PLA modernization that the Department 

is monitoring closely. 

 

First, China continues to implement a major restructuring of its armed forces, which has included 

reorganization; personnel reductions; and creating new institutions like the Strategic Support 
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Force and Logistics Support Force. 

 

Second, China is developing and fielding new classes of weapon systems.  In recent years, these 

have included precision-guided cruise and ballistic missile systems; its second and third aircraft 

carriers; modern combat and support aircraft; and a robust space launch program. 

 

Third, China’s nuclear forces are also undergoing significant reform, including expanding and 

diversifying China’s nuclear arsenal, pursuing a viable nuclear “triad,” and developing nuclear 

theater-range precision-strike systems capable of reaching U.S. territory and that of our allies and 

partners, as well as U.S. forces and bases in the region.   

 

Fourth, the PLA is modernizing its training and exercises by increasingly using professional 

opposition forces during training to improve realism. 

 

Fifth, China is also focused on widening the PLA’s operational reach to match what its leaders 

consider to be the global nature of China’s economic and national interests.  Press reporting in 

2018 indicated China sought to expand its military basing and access in the Middle East, 

Southeast Asia and the Western Pacific.  Xi Jinping in January 2019 called for the completion of 

a “security system” for the “One Belt, One Road” Initiative to “strengthen protection of [its] 

overseas interests and ensure the security of major overseas projects and personnel.”  The PLA 

Navy has advocated for a long-term strategy to obtain bases in other countries, using methods 

such as the construction and purchase of ports, as well as long-term leases, to gain rights to 

foreign ports.   

 

The Department is responding to China’s activities as part of a whole-of-government response in 

line with the objectives of the 2017 U.S. National Security Strategy and the 2018 National 

Defense Strategy.  The NDS is clear on the Department’s priorities and lays out the central 

challenge we face, which is the return of great power competition.  As such, the Department’s 

military advantage vis-à-vis China is eroding.  If inadequately addressed, this will undermine our 

ability to deter aggression and coercion.  

 

A negative shift in the regional balance of power could encourage competitors to challenge and 

subvert the free and open order, which supports prosperity and security for the United States and 

its allies and partners. 

 

The NDS explains how the Department will engage in long-term competition with China and 

calls for the Department to execute the strategy along three lines of effort.  

 

The first line of effort is preparing a more lethal and resilient joint force.  Our efforts span both 

near-term force employment activities and longer-term investments in the Joint Force, including 

new, asymmetric ways to upgrade and employ legacy systems, experimentation, and exercises to 

test evolving warfighting concepts and capabilities.  With the help of Congress starting in 2017, 

we began to restore our competitive advantage.  Recent budgets have allowed us to build 

readiness and invest in new capabilities while meeting our current operational requirements.  We 

continue to put greater investment into modernization – including emphasis on space, cyber and 

new missiles, such as hypersonics. 
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The United States and China are not destined to be adversaries, and the United States is pursuing 

cooperation with China where our interests align.  At the Shangri-La Dialogue earlier this month, 

Acting Secretary Shanahan met with Chinese Minister of Defense Wei Fenghe to exchange 

views and discuss areas of potential cooperation and collaboration.  During their meeting, Acting 

Secretary Shanahan raised how China can do more to enforce U.N. sanctions against North 

Korea, which North Korea is evading by conducting ship-to-ship transfers of refined petroleum, 

including near or in Chinese territorial waters. 

 

That said, the United States will call out China’s behaviors that are counter to the rules-based 

international order and the norms of behavior that are expected of all countries.  For example, the 

United States has called for all of China’s maritime forces, including the China Coast Guard and 

the People’s Armed Forces Maritime Militia, to abide by international rules and norms for safe 

encounters at sea.   

 

Regarding nuclear issues, as the Commission is aware, China is expanding and diversifying its 

nuclear arsenal and may double the size of its stockpile over the next decade.  The 2018 Nuclear 

Posture Review emphasizes the continued importance of the U.S. nuclear triad.  That is why the 

United States has undertaken a nuclear modernization program intended to ensure an effective 

and credible nuclear triad for decades to come.  The triad provides diversity and flexibility that 

allows us to tailor strategies to deter nuclear-armed competitors, like China.  This approach is 

necessary given the scope and scale of China’s nuclear modernization program and its continued 

lack of transparency on nuclear issues.   

 

This issue speaks to the impetus for including China in multilateral arms control.  President 

Trump has directed the Administration to think more broadly about arms control, seeking to 

bring both China and Russia to the negotiating table.  As a major power, it is appropriate for 

China to act responsibly and join in multilateral arms control.  The United States will continue to 

seek a meaningful dialogue with China on our respective nuclear policies, doctrine, and 

capabilities to reduce the risk of miscalculation and misunderstanding. 

 

Ultimately, how constructive our relationship can be with China is contingent on the extent to 

which China is willing to engage in behaviors that support – rather than undermine – the rules-

based international order.  Our vision for a free and open Indo-Pacific is inclusive and 

affirmative for any country – China included – that chooses to support the enduring principles 

embedded in this vision. 
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COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Thank you very much for a very comprehensive 

statement.  Finally, let me introduce Mr. Daniel K. Taylor, who is the Acting Defense 
Intelligence Officer for East Asia at the Defense Intelligence Agency. 

In this role he serves as a subject matter expert and senior level advisor to the Director for 
Analysis, and the Director for the Asia Pacific Regional Center, and supports the Office of the 
Secretary of Defense, the Joint Staff, the military departments, the combatant commands, and 
other U.S. Government departments and agencies, friendly foreign Governments, and the 
Department of Defense, and intelligence community officials on all intelligence matters related 
to East Asia. 

He previously served for four years as DIA Senior Defense Intelligence Analyst for 
China, and in the U.S. Army as a field artilleryman, both in the regular Army and in the Army 
National Guard. 

Welcome, Mr. Taylor.  And we're looking forward to hearing from you. 
MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you, sir.  Good morning.  Thank you to all the Commissioners for 

having me here today to talk about this important topic. 
We in DIA are closely following China's efforts to develop what they call a world class 

military, and what these efforts tell us about how China will act on the world stage over the next 
several decades. 

As has already been discussed this morning, China's leaders see their country as one that 
is moving closer to the center stage in the world as they strive to achieve, as already has been 
discussed, the great rejuvenation of the Chinese nation. 

This ambition permeates China's National Security Strategy, and the PLA's role in 
supporting the Party. 

In his work report to the 19th Party Congress in October 2017 Xi Jinping called on the 
PLA to "prepare for military struggle in all strategic directions."  And said the military was 
integral to achieving China's national rejuvenation. 

In his speech Xi set three developmental benchmarks for the PLA, including becoming a 
mechanized force with increased, informatized, and strategic capabilities by 2020, a fully 
modernized force by 2035, and as we've said, a world class military by 2049. 

The latter two goals build on the call in China's 2013 Defense White Paper, also issued 
under Xi, for China's armed forces to achieve status, as they say, commensurate with China's 
international standing. 

Viewed in sum, Xi's vision for the PLA constitutes a logical outgrowth of China's 
Communist Party instructions to the PLA since 2004, to protect China's expanding development 
interests at home and abroad. 

To develop this world class military China is advancing a comprehensive military 
modernization program.  Over the past decade China has increased its capability to address a 
range of regional security objectives beyond its continued emphasis on capabilities for Taiwan 
contingencies. 

Modernization includes improvements to military capabilities, to conduct operations 
against potential foreign intervention in a regional conflict, nuclear deterrents, and power 
projection operations. 

The PLA continues to enhance capabilities to conduct space, counterspace, electronic 
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warfare, and cyberspace operations.  The PLA also seeks enhanced joint operations, command 
and control, joint logistics support, and a real time surveillance, reconnaissance, and warning 
systems to bolster its war fighting capability. 

PLA modernization includes command and  force structure reforms to improve 
operational flexibility, and readiness for future deployment.  The PLA often uses the term 
informatization to describe the transformation of becoming a modern military that can operate in 
the digital age. 

The concept figures prominently in PLA writings, describing a force's ability to use 
advanced information technology and communications systems to gain operational advantage 
over an adversary. 

The PLA uses the term informatized warfare to describe the process of acquiring, 
transmitting, processing, and using information to conduct joint military operations across the 
domains of land, sea, air, space, cyberspace, and the electromagnetic spectrum during a conflict. 

When we try to understand what China means by a world class military it's important to 
look at the types of missions China believes its military must be able to execute. 

In 2015 their White Paper on military strategy outlined eight strategic tasks, as they 
called them, or types of missions the PLA must be ready to execute. 

These included safeguarding the sovereignty of China's territory, safeguarding national 
unification, safeguarding China's interests in new domains, such as space and cyberspace, 
safeguarding China's overseas interests, maintaining strategic deterrents, participating in 
international security cooperation, maintaining China's political security and social stability, and 
also conducting emergency rescue, disaster relief, and what they called rights and interest 
protection missions abroad. 

Beijing almost certainly views these missions as necessary national security tasks for 
China to claim great power status.  In 2017 Beijing emphasized several of these tasks in a 
different White Paper, stressing the need for a PLA that is able to conduct expeditionary 
operations and other activities to defend and secure growing Chinese national interests overseas 
from what they called destabilizing and uncertain factors. 

The groundwork for the PLA's role in overseas missions was laid in 2004, when then 
President Hu Jintao outlined for the PLA what are commonly referred to as the new historic 
missions, that augmented the PLA's role as a guardian of China's global interests. 

These missions included ensuring China's sovereignty, territorial integrity, and domestic 
security, preserving what they call the period of strategic opportunity for China's development, 
safeguarding their expanding national interests, and helping ensure world peace. 

Hu's endowment of the PLA with these missions at a time when economic interests had 
become substantial drivers of Beijing's foreign policy signified a critical inflection point in the 
PLA's assumption of a global role.  And it transitioned away from a force bound only to 
defending China's immediate territorial and sovereignty interests. 

Subsequent PLA activities, such as counter piracy operations in the Gulf of Aden since 
2009, international training and exercises, noncombatant evacuations in Libya and Yemen, and 
expanded peacekeeping operations in Africa under U.N. auspices have all been part of China's 
increasingly ambitious vision for expanding PLA activities to support its growing global roles. 

China's establishment of its first overseas military base in Djibouti in 2017, as noted, this 
was overturning Beijing's insistence from its first Defense White Paper in 1998, that China does 
not station troops or set up military bases in any foreign country, is only the latest development 
in this progression. 
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The base in Djibouti, with a deployed company of Marines and their equipment, and 
probable follow on bases at other locations, signals a turning point in the expansion of PLA 
operations in the Indian Ocean region and beyond. 

These bases, and other improvements to the PLA's ability to project power during the 
next decade will increase China's ability to deter by military force, and sustain operations abroad. 

Beyond bases, China's maritime emphasis and concern with protecting its overseas 
interests have increasingly drawn the PLA Navy beyond China's borders and immediate 
periphery. 

The evolving focus of the PLA Navy from what they called offshore waters defense to a 
mix of offshore waters defense and what they call opens seas protection reflects China's desire 
for a wider operational reach. 

China's efforts to enhance its presence abroad, including boosting economic connectivity 
under what they call the Belt and Road Initiative could enable the PLA to project power at even 
greater distances from the Chinese mainland. 

In 2017 China's leaders said that the Belt and Road, which at first included economic 
initiatives in Asia, South Asia, Africa, and Europe, now encompasses all regions of the world, 
including the Arctic and Latin America, demonstrating the scope of Beijing's ambition. 

Growing PLA mission areas and enhanced presence abroad may lead to an increase in 
demand for the PLA to protect China's overseas interests, and provide support to Chinese 
personnel abroad. 

Beijing's objective of building a world class military also includes developments in its 
nuclear capabilities.  We know this because Xi Jinping has raised China's Rocket Force in 
stature, have identified it as supporting China's major power status, and has called on the Rocket 
Force to enhance its nuclear deterrents and nuclear counterstrike capabilities. 

Similarly, Xi Jinping has called for China's sea-borne nuclear forces to advance by leaps 
and bounds.  In the 2015 Military Strategy White Paper they highlighted that a nuclear force is 
China's strategic cornerstone for safeguarding national sovereignty and security, noting that it 
will optimize it by improving strategic early warning, command and control, missile penetration, 
rapid reaction, and survivability. 

Despite China's rapid improvement in nuclear weapons capabilities we don't have 
evidence that Beijing seeks quantitative parity with the United States.  However, a doubling of 
the stockpile will narrow the gap in capabilities. 

As DIA has previously published in other documents, China probably maintains an 
operational nuclear warhead stockpile in the low hundreds.  It probably has enough nuclear 
materials for a potential nuclear weapon stockpile of several hundreds in the future. 

China probably seeks the narrow match, or in some areas exceed the qualitative 
equivalency with the United States.  China probably continues research and development on new 
nuclear warheads, given the development of new nuclear weapons delivery systems, such as the 
DF-26 intermediate range ballistic missile with precision strike capability, and the road mobile 
DF-41 intercontinental ballistic missile with MIRVs.  There are no fielded U.S. equivalents to 
these systems. 

Development of a next generation ballistic missile submarine and accompanying missile, 
and development of a stealth strategic bomber highlight ways in which China is attempting to 
field capabilities that are similar to the United States. 
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Development of hypersonic live vehicle technologies, as well as air launched ballistic 
missile highlight activities where China is conducting substantial research that could 
significantly upgrade the quality of its nuclear force. 

Finally, we consider China's stockpile of nuclear material to be an impediment though to 
rapid increase in the number of warheads that would reach quantitative equivalency with the 
United States. 

For example, China would probably need to construct new plutonium production 
reactors, or repurpose civilian nuclear reactors in order to produce the required materials to reach 
quantitative equivalency with the United States. 

China may be trying to alleviate developmental limitations, as a result of limited large 
scale testing prior to their self-imposed testing moratorium in 1996 by conducting a substantial 
number of tests that simulate the extreme physics of a nuclear blast. 

We will continue to follow these developments as we watch what China's building 
toward in the future.  And we look forward to your questions.  
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PANEL I QUESTION AND ANSWER 
 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Thank you.  Very interesting.  All of the 
Commissioners have already indicated that they want to ask questions.  So, I'll, we have about 55 
minutes or so of questions here. 

So, I'm just going to have one for all of you.  Mr. Taylor has answered it to a large 
degree.  But to me the million dollar question when you talk about what is a China, Chinese 
military that is world class look like? 

Does that include the nuclear component?  In other words, they are certainly not world 
class in terms of quantity, and what have you.  And so, this is an opinion piece.  I'm just asking 
for your views. 

Do you think that China has, harbors the desire to build to equivalency, or near 
equivalency with the United States, in terms of its overall nuclear warfare capability? 

Or are they going to be satisfied with something less, as long as it's an assured retaliatory 
capability?  Let me start with Dr. Ford, given the fact that you've treaded some of these lanes 
before. 

DR. FORD:  Well, I would certainly have to defer to my intelligence community 
colleague in terms of any current assessment of Chinese intentions in this respect. 

I would point out that in our, over many years, in our engagements with China, and I 
speak for more the older ones than the more recent ones.  Because this aspect is not really my 
lane in the road.  It's Department of State right now. 

But at least in prior engagements with China to inquire about the degree to which it may 
be possible to bring them in, as Ms. Morgan said, about bring them in in some fashion to the 
arms control business. 

The usual response, the traditional response is that we might be happy to talk about 
strategic arms control at such point as you come down to our level. 

And you could take that as an encouragement for disarmament progress, or you could 
take that as an implied promise that we will only engaged in this when we have reached parity, 
whether that is by you coming down, or us coming up. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Right. 
DR. FORD:  Or some combination of the two.  I will leave that to others to interpret.  But 

it's a notably ambiguous statement that has always raised questions in my mind about what the 
ultimate strategic intention is. 

If I could say just more broadly about sort of strategic vision of China's military role in 
the world?  I was very struck by the comment that Mr. Taylor made about rights and national 
security protection missions abroad as being an emerging mission, particularly from the naval 
perspective. 

Just, as a long time reader of Chinese propaganda narratives, I have noticed a great deal 
of emphasis over a couple of decades now upon the historical model of the great Chinese 
Admiral Zheng He, who in the 15th century traveled an amazing series of voyages, with an 
extraordinarily impressive so called treasure fleet, sailing around. 

And many of these Chinese propaganda narratives point to Zheng He as an example of 
what Chinese sort of risen military power would be like. 

And they describe Zheng He as being a, essentially a global peace emissary.  This is not 
about European style conquest, you know, parenthetically inserting, like the Opium Wars with 
those British ironclads.  This is about a sort of a global peace mission of engagement and trade, 
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and that sort of thing. 
In fact, if you go do your research on what Zheng He actually got up to, it is a much more 

interesting and challenging conceptual model indeed for China's global naval presence. 
And what Zheng He actually did was, yes, he did engage, and did trade, and did lots of 

things.  And brought giraffes and things back to the Court. 
But what he also did was engage in essentially a 15th century version of gunboat 

diplomacy, in which his naval armada intervened occasionally in local civil wars, in favor of 
candidates that the Chinese Emperor, that the Imperial, that the Chinese Empire favored.  I think 
he even took one local leader back in chains aboard his vessels. 

So, there is a gunboat diplomacy analogue here that I think, if they are in fact themselves 
invoking the 15th century treasure voyages as a model of what China's global naval presence 
would be like, we should do our homework, and be very careful about that. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Thank you.  Ms. Morgan, I know your testimony 
emphasized the importance of getting China into an arms control regime.  But being in an arms 
control regime does not preclude parity. 

And so, the question to you is, do you think, I'm not asking, do you believe that China 
might be, have the vision of parity, or near parity with the United States? 

MS. MORGAN:  I think it's important that we put it in the larger constructs of the 
military modernization writ large.  They're advancing across the board. 

So, when you see assessments that they're looking at increasing the level of their nuclear 
stockpile.  It's a natural addition, right, to what they're already doing. 

And I think we have to look very carefully.  Because the Chinese have benefitted from 
the ability to pursue shorter and intermediate range ground launch systems and capabilities, 
where we have not, just given a lot of the treaty requirements. 

So, we need to consider what kind of systems we should be pursuing.  And in the Indo-
Pacific context consider, you know, what that actually means in terms of basing and how China 
will factor into those future arms control considerations. 

And I think when you look at the Nuclear Posture Review of 2018, when it's calling for 
flexible and tailored options, and it talks about low yield ballistic warheads, and nuclear sea 
launched cruise missiles, that's a way of addressing these changes within the region, in a tailored 
and strategic way. 

And, I mean, there's a lot of work that the Department is still doing on that.  But I think 
some of this is just the natural growth.  And they view the United States as the pace setter, and 
the peer that they want to rise to that level to. 

They have watched us in our military operations since the First Gulf War.  And they have 
learned from that.  And they're beginning to adapt and learn from that.  So, I think it's only 
natural that that would include their, the nuclear piece.  And I think the 2018 NPR acknowledges 
that. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Mr. Taylor, without reprising your testimony, do you 
have any other thoughts on this?  

MR. TAYLOR:  My main thought at this point would be, we still see a China that is 
focused on maintaining that assured retaliatory capability that's sort of been the bedrock of their 
nuclear force since it's been around. 

However, they also have had a central concept of ambiguity in their nuclear forces, and a 
sort of a lack of transparency that we've seen over the years, as they would portray themselves as 
such a weaker power that they had to maintain this little bit of ambiguity. 
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But we're getting to a point with this potential significant growth in their total warhead 
numbers into the next decade.  And the technologies that are maturing, such as more precision 
strike capable systems, nuclear arms systems that give them different options, development of a 
triad, as they feel the Air Force moves back into the nuclear business. 

So, the leaders of the Party will have more options in the nuclear realm.  And they'll have 
more potential decision space there within this level of ambiguity. 

So, it's unclear what exactly  changes might be coming in their nuclear strategy and 
doctrine.  But we don't see, to go back to the, directly answering the question, we don't see any 
evidence that they are pushing for equivalence in numbers to the United States. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to turn now to 
Commissioner Lewis.  And then we'll continue to work our way across the spectrum of questions 
here. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  I have one question.  And this relates to something you said, 
Dr. Ford, about the U.S. cooperation with China. 

In cooperating with China, if our military meets with them, with their military, where we 
talk to them about technological aspects, how do we make sure that we are not enhancing their 
abilities against us? 

DR. FORD:  Excellent question, sir.  I would again defer to my DoD colleagues on the 
implications of mil to mil contacts.  Although, I should note the Chinese are always very happy 
to have those, for whatever reasons that may be. 

In terms of cooperation with China, if I could perhaps by analogy tell a story of our own 
challenges in this respect when it comes to civil nuclear cooperation. 

That's one of the things that my bureau does in the Department of State is negotiate so 
called 123 agreements with other countries.  And we also do national security export controls. 

We have had a civil nuclear cooperation agreement with China for many years now.  A 
new version of it came into force in 2015.  And at the time it was felt that we could sort of 
mitigate the risks of that kind of engagement with the policies that were then in place. 

We've subsequently learned a great deal about how the Chinese nuclear industry works.  
About it's deep enmeshment with military civil fusion, about the role in which Chinese nuclear 
industrial giants play in supporting naval nuclear propulsion developments that will go in the 
future into aircraft carriers, that will be used to intimidate China's neighbors into next generation 
ballistic missile submarines,. 

And attack submarines that will directly menace American forces in the American 
homeland.  And into things like floating nuclear power plants that could be, are intended to be 
used, for example, in places like those little manufactured islets in the South China Sea. 

So, we became rather alarmed over a period of several years with regard to what it was 
that we feared that our nuclear engagement with China was contributing to.  We also learned a 
great deal about how they were stealing information from us. 

And as a result of becoming concerned about the implications of the policies that we had 
adopted several years ago we have now, as of last autumn, announced a new, a very significant 
recalibration of our export control strategy, with respect to China in the civil nuclear space. 

We do not cut it off.  But we have dramatically scaled it back.  And we are much more 
scrupulous about the types of technologies, and the types of engagements that will be licensed by 
the Department of Energy, by whomever else it may be. 

So, I, you know, I don't know what the right answer is on the mil-mil context.  but I 
would suggest that that sort of general story of becoming aware of the challenges presented by 
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China's strategy, and of the implications of our own engagement as China seeks to learn from the 
outside world in order to supercharge its global ambitions. 

You know, we can apply that very basic conceptual model in other areas.  Perhaps even 
to mil-mil as well.  But perhaps that's already underway.  But I don't want to say more about the 
mil-mil stuff than that at this time. 

But I would suggest that kind of caution is something that we should emulate across 
many areas of our engagement with the People's Republic. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Thank you.  Commissioner Wessel. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  I think she wanted to say something. 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Go ahead. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Did you have something you wanted to say about that issue? 
MS. MORGAN:  Well, I just think to, just to emphasize, as I said in my opening 

statement.  The Department is very cognizant of how we're looking at that. 
And as we're approaching mil to mil we're trying to be very pragmatic and constructive in 

our engagement.  Because as the Chinese begin to operate more beyond its shores our forces are 
going to be in closer to proximity to one another on a regular basis. 

And so, that's why we're trying to work to promote, at those working levels, 
understandings of, these are the international rules of the road in maritime and for overflight, so 
that we don't have a miscalculation and an incident that then puts us into an escalation cycle, so 
that we understand. 

So, we're trying to find very pragmatic ways to reduce the risks first.  There are value 
added exchange.  We do have policy dialogues that we try to have, where we want to better 
understand their strategy and doctrine, again, with an eye towards reducing that risk and 
miscalculation. 

And so, we're very clear sighted on that, you know, in our approach.  And we're being 
much more focused I think on that as we move forward. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Commissioner Wessel. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Thank you all for being here.  And thank you to our two 

co-chairs for putting together a excellent hearing, along with staff. 
I'm hoping you can help me on what being a pure competitor means in what I think is an 

evolving landscape that, you know, the traditional view I think was battleships and bombs, the 
ability to project power through forward basing, oilers, all the various things you know a lot 
better than I. 

And I, you know, the Chinese, as well as technology, have looked at both space and 
cyberspace as both an asymmetric opportunity where it, that will be increasingly important to a 
competent military.  And clearly we have great opportunities and capabilities there. 

But it seems that China, again in those two domains has accelerated their activities.  And 
I'm wondering if you can help me as to whether they are a near peer competitor at this point? 

You know, stories, public stories over the last six to eight years indicate that China has 
been engaged in a substantial amount of electronic reconnaissance of U.S. assets, military, 
critical infrastructure, financial networks, et cetera, that I think from public perception would 
potentially disable our economy, and lead to a tremendous unrest, concern, et cetera. 

Where do we stand on the continuum of being a near peer competitor?  Or are they in fact 
a peer competitor in the space, cyberspace domain?  What do you think our greatest 
vulnerabilities are?  And are the concerns I've just outlined overstated? 
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Whoever would like to start.  Dr. Ford, you started with technology.  I'll let you, I'll bat it 
over to you. 

DR. FORD:  All right.  Your question about, what does it mean to be a peer competitor in 
the evolving landscape, I think is an excellent one. 

And I would say, just from what I have seen of how Chinese strategists themselves 
approach this, I would say that they have a very broad view of what that means. 

It is not by any means purely a military thing.  It is, the concepts that you see in Chinese 
strategic writings revolve heavily, since maybe the early, mid 1980s, around the concept that 
they call comprehensive national power, or CNP in the translated acronym, which is a little bit 
like the Soviet correlation of forces idea. 

But I think it probably has a broader aperture in so far as, although it also includes things 
like raw economic power and technology, and military things, I think it probably has more of an 
emphasis relatively speaking than the Soviets did in their correlation of forces thinking. 

More of an emphasis in the Chinese contexts upon sort of whole of society things.  More 
upon, you know, soft power and culture.  And fits with their own sort of civilizational self image 
as a, you know, and feeling of grievance in having lost the status of being the sort of 
civilizational polestar of humanity, if you will, back in the day.  And a sort of romanticized 
vision of what China's role used to be in the world, and what they wish they could declaim for 
themselves. 

So, in that sense I think they view this as a very, very broad aperture game.  And by their 
own metrics here, although they do try to -- There's some remarkable writing in the Chinese 
canon that purports to kind of quantify CNP, you know. 

Obscure academics will publish papers on how, ah, China is now 3.4 percent closer to 
comprehensive national power than, you know, whatever it might be.  Things that don't make a 
lot of sense to me personally. 

But I think even by their own metrics they're not there yet.  We, I like to use the term 
near peer, which is one that I think I may have learned when I was doing work for Andy 
Marshall years ago. 

But in any event, near peer is a useful way to think about someone who is extremely 
powerful and worth worrying about, but who is not in fact yet a peer.  I think they are very much 
not yet a peer along really any of those axis. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  But near peer does not make them less of a threat, does it? 
MR. TAYLOR:  I think, historically, one can perhaps make the argument that sometimes 

near-peers, if they are self-assertive rising near-peers, are perhaps more of a threat.  Historically, 
there is debate about what model of sort of imperial succession or hegemonic succession may be 
applicable here, but sometimes powers rise against each other and get along okay, more or less.  
You look at us and the Brits, for example, although we didn't have entirely a smooth ride.  But 
sometimes it goes rather badly.  And you, of course, see Japanese imperial ambitions in the 
Pacific.  You see late 19th century or early 20th century Wilhelm in Germany, for example, 
being rather a problem when it came to being an assertive near-peer to or becoming a near-peer 
to other powers in the arena. 

How this is played and whether China is -- you know, how prudent it is in its engagement 
with the rest of the world, how boldly self-assertive it is, and how wisely we react, these are the 
pieces that will decide, frankly, the future of the 21st century.  And that's why this kind of 
engagement of the sort that the Commission is engaged in and that we are delighted to have this 
discussion with you about, that's why this kind of stuff is so important, because we absolutely 
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have to get this mix right. 
DR. FORD:  So, I can address a little bit on the cyber and the space aspects that you were 

asking about.  I think it's important to notice that the PLA has been studying very carefully what 
they see as the nature of modern war, and they have come to the conclusion a long time ago that 
dominance in the information domain is the first priority in modern conflict.  And they have been 
building capabilities for a couple of decades now.  It sort of culminated in the recent 
reorganization of the PLA and the establishment of the Strategic Support Force to bring space, 
cyber, electronic warfare, all into one organization, because they realized they needed to pull 
together those capabilities in a more efficient and more effective manner. 

The more visible aspect of their development in these areas, of course, is the rapid growth 
in the number of on-orbit satellites they have of all different types to support missions, both civil 
and military, from a very low base 20 years ago to a very large number, maybe not necessarily 
equal in quality to the best U.S. or Western satellites, but quantity has a quality all its own, as 
they say. 

So, when you look at their developments, it becomes very hard to come up with the 
definition of peer or near-peer in these domains.  But, obviously, from our perspective, we have 
seen them put a tremendous amount of emphasis on what they think is the most important thing 
that they are doing to develop their military capabilities.  And we've seen this tremendous 
amount of progress that I don't think will stop going forward. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Commissioner Kamphausen? 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. 
And thank you to our presenters.  It's great to see you all again. 
I have three very distinct questions, one for each of you.  And so, I'll move very quickly. 
I am also pleased that several of our presenters at later panels are here, so you begin to 

get a sense of the kind of things that we'll focus on. 
For Dr. Ford, in your title is included the word "Nonproliferation".  So, give me a minute 

on what your top three nonproliferation issues are with China. 
DR. FORD:  Well, I would say, from a traditional, nonproliferation perspective, the top 

priority is the unfortunate fact that China remains the point of origin of choice for so much of the 
proliferation activity that is still going on around the world.  We see Chinese entities consistently 
providing components and materials for things such as Iran's missile program, for example; 
programs in Pakistan, for example, and that sort of thing.  That is probably the biggest headache 
that I have from a nonpro perspective. 

In the case study, the poster child, quite literally, because he's actually on FBI wanted 
posters, the poster child for that is a fellow by the name of Li Fangwei, who is known as Karl 
Lee.  He is probably Iran's most important source of materials and components for its missile 
program.  We have been demarcheing our Chinese counterparts repeatedly over him for many, 
many years, putting lots of sanctions on him.  He is wanted in U.S. courts.  And the Chinese 
government has consistently not shut down his activities.  He is at the very -- 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Are there other priorities beyond that? 
DR. FORD:  That's the top one.  But I would say most of what I was describing in terms 

of worrying about technology control and the way that we can do more, we hope, to keep 
advanced technologies from feeding some of these Chinese military ambitions, I think that more 
in the international security than the nonproliferation piece per se.  But I would identify the point 
of origin for proliferation items and materials as the first bit in the nonpro area.  And secondly, 
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the degree to which we, as we've already heard from other panelists here, are also very concerned 
with ensuring that China does its part to keep the pressure regime on North Korea under 
international sanctions. 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Okay.  Thank you. 
Ms. Morgan, you highlighted that the PLA is modernizing to the point that we'll be able 

to conduct a short, high-intensive war in its near periphery, or nearly words of that sort.  And the 
policy response is the three lines of effort that you described, at least the first two of which could 
apply to almost any scenario, right, a more lethal joint force and enhanced cooperation with 
allies? 

Connect the dots for us, if you would on what specific things at a policy level we can do 
to prepare for this short, high-intensive war in China's near periphery.  I mean, there are cases we 
can imagine that they have in mind.  I'm not sure what the examples are that they would be 
using, and this may go to a question for Mr. Taylor in a minute.  I'm not sure what models they're 
using to conduct that sort of war.  I understand the vulnerabilities it presents to us.  But it would 
be helpful to hear just any thoughts you might have on that. 

MS. MORGAN:  I think writ large the three lines of effort are all encapsulating, right.  
You have to have the capabilities; you have to have the posture to be ready to respond.  And 
when you look at the Chinese developments, why does it matter?  Well, it's eroding the military 
advantage, both the legal and illegal ways that negate the billions of dollars in investment.  So, 
how are we countering that in a strong way to be prepared? 

The other feature of what they're doing, because of their behavior writ large, is trying to 
erode and divide us and separate us from our allies and partners in the region.  So, our efforts 
with them, as our allies and partners are, they're nervous and very concerned about China's rise 
as well.  So, together, as we are working with them to build, it's powering, posturing, and 
thinking differently to get the allied capabilities and investments and capacities at a higher level.  
So, you're actually making it more difficult and you're increasing the level of deterrence then, 
making it more complicated for China to achieve its goals and objectives in that way. 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Okay.  So, I would characterize what you said as it 
introduces a sense of urgency to both our own efforts and interactions with our allies because of 
the temporal challenge that this is war might present. 

Thank you. 
For Mr. Taylor, you talked about Djibouti.  I'll tip my hand.  I don't think it's the model 

for Chinese bases overseas.  I wrote the first study in 2006 on what future Chinese bases might 
look like, when everyone said they'll never do such a thing.  And this is the antithesis of that.  
Not to say it can't be true because I didn't predict it, but the unique circumstances; namely, most, 
80-plus percent of PLA peacekeeping operations are in Africa, and the PLA Navy has a very real 
need to support its anti-piracy operations in the Gulf of Aden. 

I'm really asking, what other models for bases might we see?  Would it be a mistake -- it's 
a leading question -- would it be a mistake to conclude this is the only type of base that we might 
see from them? 

And before you answer it, let me say to both Ms. Morgan and Mr. Taylor, I think the 
public is very appreciative of the work of the DoD Report to Congress and the new DIA Report 
on China Military Power.  Thank you for those public reports.  They've very helpful. 

MR. TAYLOR:  Well, speaking of reports, I'll have to go back and read your paper from 
7/6 to make sure -- (laughter) -- I'm up-to-date on the thinking on this thing. 

So, I think you're right that there is no one model and there are certainly unique aspects to 
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Djibouti.  It was a uniquely-favorable environment for a foreign military base since the United 
States has a foreign military base in Djibouti and others have operated there. 

They had also specific interests related, as I mentioned during my testimony, to their 
counter-piracy patrols for the past decade in the Gulf of Aden.  And so, it was favorable in those 
aspects and, of course, the peacekeeping aspect, right?  The PLA abroad, it used to be we only 
talked about it in the context of peacekeeping because that was really the only way the PLA went 
abroad. 

I think that there are a variety of potential models, and I think we sometimes forget that 
the other part of the Belt and Road is a land-based belt through Central Asia.  And we are not 
seeing a lot of discussion about how the PLA might project military force or military forces into 
Central Asia.  And that would be a very much emerging model that I think would probably 
follow along some sort of a cooperative model with a host nation element, likely in security for 
investments, security for Chinese personnel, or counterterrorism operations, although we haven't 
seen much maturity in that model going forward. 

On the sort of more traditional one that we've talked about, the naval base option in the 
Indian Ocean region or beyond, I think we've looked at a variety of levels of potential PLA 
access to places, based on either Chinese commercial investments in port facilities to maybe a 
model we haven't seen yet, but maybe a model that involves dedicated space for the PLA to 
operate at a pier, to maybe a model where they have a small support element available to help 
out with operations, to at the very high end, something more similar to Djibouti where they'll 
have their own pier and their own security forces, which while we talk a lot about potential 
places where they might develop such a base, the host nation has a vote, and most of them are 
not nearly as favorable an environment as Djibouti has been to them.  So, I would really expect 
to see them pursuing a variety of agreements to enable PLA presence abroad. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thank you very much. 
Before I turn to Commissioner Wortzel, on the issue of Djibouti, on Monday I had an 

opportunity to meet with a gentleman from Djibouti who is briefing on Chinese influence in the 
region.  And I asked him about, well, China, I assume the PLA wants access to an airfield that 
actually can handle large aircraft, and what have you.  And he said, "Oh, there's lots of room."  
And I said, "Where?"  And he says, "To sea."  In other words, it seemed to me that the 
implication would be the government of Djibouti would be quite willing to allow China to do a 
dredging operation and build a runway out into the Indian Ocean to expand that helicopter thing.  
So, it's just something to think about. 

COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  I appreciate you all being here.  I echo what 
Commissioner Kamphausen said about public reports.  Public reports, public testimony really 
inform the public.  And all the secret briefings in the world don't always help. 

Xi Jinping, who's been rather critical of PLA leaders -- he's accused them of being 
broadly incapable of conducting modern wars.  I'm not going to repeat the five incapables and 
the two insufficient capabilities -- (laughter) -- but, as late as early this year, he has been critical. 

Given that, how is the PLA doing in meeting the timetables set out by Xi?  What are the 
weak areas and what are the strong areas?  And will they meet his timetables for 2025 and 2035? 

MR. TAYLOR:  Very good questions, all right.  I really appreciate the opportunity to 
address some of these issues here. 

I think it has been very clear that Xi Jinping has been, ever since he came in, his focus 
has been on fighting and winning the wars for the PLA.  And you have to think about it in the 
context of the PLA that he inherited and he had been involved in before he became -- and he was 



 
 
 

Back to Table of Contents 

the Vice Chairman of the CMC and various other positions previously in his career.  So, he's 
been around even when he was a very young man as a mishu to the Defense Minister. 

He has been around the PLA.  He's seen it, and he clearly decided that there were 
elements of the PLA that were not conducive to this fighting and winning wars, and that there 
were senior leaders in the PLA who were more focused on other activities than preparing the 
military for the challenges that he thinks that they need to face in the future. 

And so, he's been very open about the need for change and development, 
professionalism.  And as my colleague, Mr. Allen in the back of the room, will be happy for me 
to mention, the people involved in the PLA, and that he needs to have -- he did have the right 
people who weren't in the PLA to enrich themselves or various other things we've seen in the 
past with corruption in the PLA.  So, he's had that focus. 

When you look at the rather happier question, though, about will they meet the goals, and 
what aspects do they need to work on, I think the traditional model in the party leadership and in 
the PLA, they will publicly meet their goals.  That's pretty clear, that we will hear a report from 
the Party Congress or something else saying they've met their goals. 

But when we look at these issues, for us right now looking at the PLA, the biggest 
challenge is that people part.  We could sit here and talk all day about technology and about 
weapons systems and about advancing in military operations.  And we've seen tremendous 
amounts of that, especially over the past two decades.  And we think that's going to continue. 

The military-civilian fusion that Dr. Ford mentioned will enable them to develop a lot of 
this, the hardware aspect of it.  The question is the software aspect and the people aspect of it, 
which I alluded earlier to their large-scale reorganization in the PLA that's been taking place over 
the past few years.  This is a tremendous challenge for them. 

We look at this as a cultural shift in how the PLA, previously a very service-centric, 
stovepiped organization, is now being forced to think about how to operate.  If you want to be a 
world-class military, you have to operate in -- they talk about integrated joint operations -- but 
joint operations capabilities.  And they're really at the ground floor of that as far as the senior 
officers and even mid-level officers who've never really operated with the other services yet.  
And so, there's a lot of work that needs to be done to get to these goals of a modern military in 
2035 and a world-class military in 2049. 

But, for us in DIA and across the intelligence community, the hard part is it's really hard 
to measure how much progress they've made inside their cognitive biases and their training 
aspects and the people in the force.  We can give you checkmarks of new aircraft carriers, new 
missiles, new capabilities, but we're going to have to look really close to figure out how good 
they're getting at actually operating that military. 

COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  If you look at Chinese Central Television descriptions 
of what are supposed to be very sophisticated exercises, they're nothing but firing tables for tanks 
and very limited airborne drops.  I mean, they're rudimentary.  They are what the United States 
military would do for its lieutenants and captains and they're not effective yet. 

MR. TAYLOR:  To add onto your comment -- and obviously, you've been watching PLA 
exercises longer than I have -- but, in the time that I have watched them, we have always 
discussed the sort of showpiece nature of them, the scripted nature of PLA exercises. 

And as we noted earlier, and Ms. Morgan noted earlier, we have seen in recent years' 
progress in actual confrontation exercises involving professional opposing forces, something that 
they really didn't have much of in the past.  And I think they have a long way to go to build this, 
but they seem to be building the pieces together to go toward that. 
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And it becomes hard sometimes because I think there is a messaging aspect to what's on 
television, as they're trying to portray the growing capabilities of the PLA, both to their internal 
domestic audience and to the rest of the world. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thank you. 
Senator Talent? 
SENATOR TALENT:  Thanks, Mr. Chairman. 
And thanks to all of you. 
I hope the five incapables are true. 
(Laughter.) 
You know, they have been strong enough to take a shoal from one of our treaty allies to 

build the reclaimed reefs and militarize them against their promises to us and to so threaten the 
Senkakus, that the Japanese have decided to change their constitution to rebuild their defenses.  
So, I just would not discount -- I know you're not doing that.  Let's not discount their abilities. 

I want to say to you all, I think I'm astonished and very pleased at the speed at which the 
basic strategy has changed in the bipartisan support here in the Congress, and really throughout 
this town, for what you all are doing in the new National Security Strategy, and it's very 
encouraging. 

I do want to follow up on Commissioner Kamphausen's second question about specific 
steps that the Department might take in the region to increase the strength or credibility of 
deterrence.  Yes, I mean, the next scheduled date is 2035.  That is 15 years from now, and I don't 
think that nothing is going to happen in the region during that period of time. 

So, what do you think would be the most effective, in terms of what the Department can 
do, in reassuring allies about our sustainability in the region and in increasing deterrence in the 
minds of Beijing?  Is it really building as many of the new missile frigates as we can and 
deploying them in the region?  Is it a land-based cruise missile?  I think you were referring to 
that, Ms. Morgan.  It's going to be something fairly asymmetric, I would assume, because I just 
don't think in the near-term we're going to be able to put a lot of really expensive assets. 

And I'll just say, we do make recommendations to the Congress as part of our report.  So, 
what would you suggest along those lines?  And any of you who want to answer.  I imagine 
probably Ms. Morgan and Mr. Taylor. 

MS. MORGAN:  Thank you for your question. 
And I think you started your comment on what's been so important for the Department, to 

actually implement the defense strategy, where we have a National Defense Strategy that we're 
being honest with ourselves in terms of near-peer competition and what that means.  So, having 
the right budget to align and giving the sense of urgency to the entire Department -- Acting 
Secretary Shanahan likes to say, you know, "I've got 2 million people and I'm aligning all of 
them to move forward on this."  And so, what does that mean? 

And I broadly described what we're doing in terms of the lethality of the forces are a 
critical component and our working with allies and partners.  And to that, right, it's about 
presence.  We're there, both operationally and active, but also engaging. 

The efforts that we're doing in our security cooperation realms to build the capabilities 
and the capacities of our allies and partners, again, help complicate the calculus for China and 
can increase that level of deterrence.  So, in doing that, that is a mix of all of the things that you 
suggested in your remarks, whether it's missiles, whether it's making it more survivable. 

But also looking at the key capabilities that we bring in space, in cyber, and the new 
technologies that we're investing in and in autonomy.  That can be very fast in terms of 
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sometimes lower cost, and you can produce a lot of them at scale.  And when you're getting your 
allies and partners more capable, again, it's that numbers problem that you're working across the 
landscape.  So, I think those are some of the areas that we're working on. 

But, also, as part of that capacity, it's getting the countries of the region to work better 
with one another.  So, the notion of information-sharing with one another and building the 
capacities related to maritime domain awareness and security. 

Because if the partners in the region can understand what's going on and have a better 
operating picture, right, then they can choose how to engage and operate and have security, and 
not be intimidated to take advantage of the economic benefits that they have in their EEZs, and 
what not, just as an example. 

So, it's combination in that of the security cooperation and, then, all of that partner 
engagement to build those capacities, that information-sharing, as well as the hard capabilities.  
But it's all that relationship-building. 

So, it's very much, I think, a complex combination of all of that.  And through our policy 
and Joint Staff, as well as Indo-Pacific Command, we're all driving towards that.  And the 
partners are very receptive and eager and want to work with us in that way.  So, making sure we 
can keep that flexibility in those security cooperation funds I think is really critical for us in these 
areas as we move forward. 

SENATOR TALENT:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  And let me -- oh, I'm sorry.  Go ahead. 
DR. FORD:  Forgive me, sir. 
Just from a State Department perspective, I would add a couple of things to that, all of 

which makes perfect sense to me. 
But I would add, also, like from the perspective of, as I mentioned before, the technology 

challenge, this is not just a U.S. problem.  It is basically a China and the rest of the world 
problem.  And to the degree that we can be engaged with partners, with technology possessors in 
the developed world to slow the degree to which this flow of militarily-useful technologies goes 
to China in order to shore up its military-civil fusion efforts, to shore up its military 
modernization/strong military dream strategy, that will be important.  And that is necessarily a 
partnership- and relationship-building exercise.  It may also be a capacity-building thing, because 
the export control mechanisms, the regulatory apparatus, the attention and focus, and simply the 
bandwidth upon these kinds of things varies a lot across the international arena.  And to the 
degree that we can be working with partners to build what I call coalitions of caution in that 
respect, we can perhaps have an impact over time in helping bound the problem set that my DoD 
colleagues have to worry about. 

And I should say, also, we can also be engaged politically and diplomatically in helping 
and encouraging would-be partners of China to resist the potential entanglements that can create 
problems and undermine the solidarity of the rest of the world in confronting these challenges as 
well. 

I mentioned the civil nuclear stuff before.  China uses its nuclear industry, as an example 
-- and this is true of many aspects of infrastructure development, but I know the nuclear one best 
-- as a strategic tool.  And to the degree that we can encourage people to not become entangled in 
the kind of debt-facilitated entrapments that are entailed by involvement with Chinese 
infrastructure projects in various respects, we will reduce the degree to which the people in 
Zhongnanhai, in Beijing, are able to use those infrastructure engagements as pressure points to 
undermine the decision making and the political autonomy of the rest of the world, as it seeks to 
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deal with Chinese challenges. 
So, these are things that I think we can attribute to this and help make the DoD problem 

set less severe than it would otherwise be. 
MS. MORGAN:  Yes, and if I can just add one point that Chris is raising?  I was 

speaking to what we can do as the DoD. 
SENATOR TALENT:  Well, that's the question I asked. 
MS. MORGAN:  Yes.  But I think it's really important for the Commission to consider 

how important the China challenge is to the entire United States Government.  And a strong 
whole-of-government response is very important.  We need a strong State Department that's fully 
resourced.  We need to be able to message/counter message.  We need to get our story out in a 
strong way. 

And there's a lot of different areas, when you're looking at Pacific islands and illegal 
fishing and what that means; and law enforcement development that the FBI can help with, and 
our Coast Guard, and things like that.  That's all a part of this. 

So, it truly is a whole-of-government.  All instruments of national power have to be put to 
all of these challenges.  I know we're focused on the military component today. 

SENATOR TALENT:  Right. 
MS. MORGAN:  But I think that's really important. 
SENATOR TALENT:  I agree. 
MS. MORGAN:  We can't do it alone. 
SENATOR TALENT:  The point I was making is that numbers do still matter, and we 

are outnumbered and outgunned in the near seas.  And that's not your fault because we don't have 
the hot production lines to be able to produce things quickly.  I mean, I get all that.  But I think 
we have to recognize that and, then, see what we can do in the short-term maybe to build some 
more asymmetrical firepower. 

And your reference -- and I know you can't go that far yet -- to the idea of land-based 
cruise missiles, or something, I think is a really sound thing to be considering. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  I want to turn now to our Commission Chairperson, 

Commissioner Bartholomew. 
But, before we do, Ms. Morgan, just if you take a look at the totality of our hearings this 

year, we, in fact, do cover whole-of-government protection. 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you.  Thank you to the Co-Chairs for putting 

together this hearing. 
Thank you to our witnesses for appearing today. 
I'd also like to extend appreciation to the Administration for allowing witnesses to appear 

today from the Administration.  We went through a number of years where nobody showed up.  
So, we're really appreciative, and it makes for a more fulsome conversation, a more fulsome 
debate. 

A lot of issues to cover.  I think, first, I want to start, though, with the role of the PLA in 
protecting Chinese economic interests.  You mentioned BRI.  You also, Mr. Taylor, mentioned 
the importance of not neglecting the land activities that the BRI does. 

The Wall Street Journal has just done a big piece on them, the presence of the PLA in 
patrolling the Tajikistan-Afghanistan border.  So, there's economic interest there.  The pipeline is 
in Pakistan. 

So, I just wonder, as we look forward, it's taking you a little bit out of the region, but 
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what is the role of the PLA going to be in protecting China's economic interests beyond 
Noncombatant Evacuation Operations (NEOs), and particularly in terms of state-owned 
enterprises? 

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.  I guess I'll start on that. 
So, you hit on the NEO aspect.  The fundamental part of this that drives a lot of this is 

concern about Chinese citizens abroad and Chinese interests that are involved in these 
investment opportunities.  I mentioned there have been a couple of small models of 
noncombatant evacuations by the PLA.  And I think they're starting to think in the way that they 
need to be -- as there are more interests abroad, more investment abroad, there is a security 
aspect of that.  I think it's going to be different in different places.  I think a lot of it, as I 
mentioned earlier about the basing question, depends on the host nation receptivity.  I think they 
would prefer in most cases, if they can, to work with a security partner in the host nation to 
secure Chinese investments in facilities and personnel. 

But the PLA's role I think will probably be somewhat similar to what we've seen -- and I 
know this is a little bit of a stretch -- but when we've seen the PLA operate in the South China 
Sea, for example, it has been sort of an over watch for militia and coast guard and more civilian 
elements forward. 

So, in my mind, the PLA's direct role related to BRI types of investments would be this 
sort of over watch that will be able to be persistently present in areas much further afield from 
where they were operating in the past, that has credible capability to either go in and conduct an 
evacuation, or at some point down the road they may decide that they want to be more 
interventionist, using their military.  They've been very hesitant to use their military sort of in 
violation of their non-intervention principles that they have espoused for many years.  I think 
they would like to work cooperatively with other countries, but they would like to have that 
capability because they believe that this is a capability great powers have, is that they have 
militaries that can operate globally away from home and protect interests, if they are called upon. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  There are frequently rumors, of course, there's a PLA 
out there doing protection activities.  I think it was also a pipeline in Sudan.  It's very hard to pin 
that down. 

I would like to, again, sort of looking at this whole-of-government approach, we were 
established, of course, to look at the national security implications of the economic relationship.  
And we try to merge those things. 

So, I would like to take you, if you all could get out of the stovepipe of what we're doing, 
Dr. Ford, you talked about the need to prevent China from getting certain technologies.  But one 
of the challenges, of course, which we've just seen with this story on the circuit boards and the 
F-35 is who is it who can produce these things.  Because we can't simply say to people, "Don't 
use Chinese stuff."  What do we do?  What do we do, and how do the different pieces of the U.S. 
Government work together to reach that end? 

DR. FORD:  I wish there were a crisp and easy answer.  I like to say that these things are 
Aristotelian virtues in the sense that, you know, just as Aristotle courage was something that was 
sort of somewhere in the middle between recklessness, on the one hand, and cowardice on the 
other, there isn't a crisp, bright-line recipe for how to do this right. 

What we are trying to do, on an increasingly whole-of-government basis, is look at some 
of these technology issues, for example, on a sort of risk and threat prioritized basis.  There are 
many things that one might wish one could do with a magic wand, but we haven't yet been able 
to persuade people to appropriate for one of those. 
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So, what we are doing is trying to sort of economize with the resources we have in order 
to address the most important challenges first and to build out, in a sense, in concentric circles 
from there. 

In terms of the challenge, it is -- I mean, you mentioned state-owned enterprises a 
moment ago in your previous question.  I would say that, just as an example of the challenge that 
we are trying to grapple with, state-owned enterprises are actually important to pieces of China's 
technological outreach as well, not simply by virtue of their direct involvement in things, but by 
virtue of the fact that these SOEs also play an important role in funding the education of students 
at the doctoral, the undergraduate, the master's level who go abroad to work in STEM fields, in 
particular.  And these SOEs provide to some extent, even to the extent of providing support, 
living stipends, for example, for some students abroad. 

And there are well-established practices of what's known as sort of background 
obfuscation, so that it's not entirely obvious that this particular person is, in fact, receiving a 
stipend from a defense industry in order to go study some advanced topic overseas.  Struggling 
with that as a technology acquisition method is one of the things that we, unfortunately, have to 
spend a lot of time worrying about, as we screen visa applications for their national security 
implications.  So, that is just one of the things. 

And making sure that we have, working with our colleagues and other pieces of the 
interagency -- the intelligence community, DoD, Commerce, Treasury -- we have, I think, quite 
well developed now, or increasingly well developed, interagency mechanisms for looking at how 
to do this right, to make sure that, when we screen, we are screening on an appropriate dataset 
for understanding which of the 80 -- there are at least 80 Chinese universities that have certified 
to do top secret or secret-level Chinese weapons development and production, as part of this 
integrated military-civil fusion game.  If some of those universities are producing -- you know, 
knowing from where people come and what the sort of network of connections are back home is 
a piece of what we need to have in our minds and databases in order to do this screening 
properly. 

That only happens through interagency cooperation, and it's a thing that we are trying to 
approach much more systematically now than before.  I think, so far, it's becoming a success 
story. 

MS. MORGAN:  Could I add, just building on some of the other questions, an aspect of 
this, just as Assistant Secretary Ford said, kind of more specifically when you're looking at like 
what do we do in terms of having an industrial base, right, that can thrive across technologies 
and the next generation of technologies, not just for DoD, but what does the United States future 
economy look like? 

More and more, as the importance of cyberspace has come into fruition, right, as it's 
really taken home, more and more, right, national security and national economic security go 
hand-in-hand.  Because for the first time now -- there was always industrial espionage, right?  
But now, you don't have to actually physically get in to steal the documents or have an insider.  
Yes, you can have insiders and, yes, you can do that, but now, if you don't have strong 
cybersecurity, both at a government level, but also in our industry, that's a critical component to 
all of this as well. 

And it's really hard because, if you're the adversary trying to get the information, you 
only have to be right once.  I mean, defense is very hard.  But that's an area where, as a whole of 
government, we've also been working very hard.  And that's a really key component as we work 
with our colleagues at DHS and Department of Energy, and all the other agencies, when we look 



 
 
 

Back to Table of Contents 

at whether it's critical infrastructure protection, but also the defense industrial base and our 
industrial base writ large. 

So, it's just another factor that was mentioned before that's really important of how we 
address some of these challenges to try and mitigate them.  So, I just offer that food for thought. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Great.  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  We have three minutes left before we 

break.  I'm graded on how well I get everybody out the door on time. 
(Laughter.) 
Seriously, though, I have one last question that you can answer very briefly, Ms. Morgan, 

which is, I think you've said in your testimony that China has the intent of becoming the 
predominant power in the Indo-Pacific.  I've heard that time and again, about East Asia or within 
the first island chain, but you're talking about a chunk of geography that goes all the way to, 
partially encompasses all of the state of India.  So, is that correct, that Defense Department's 
assessment is that China wants to become the predominant power in the Indo-Pacific? 

MS. MORGAN:  Yes. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Yes?  Okay. 
(Laughter.) 
No, thank you all very much for very, very useful testimonies and question-and-answer.  

Much appreciated.  Thanks very much. 
(Whereupon, the above-entitled matter went off the record at 11:08 a.m. and resumed at 

11:22 a.m.) 
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PANEL II INTRODUCTION BY COMMISSIONER LEWIS 
 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  The second panel is about to begin. 
This panel will examine the drivers behind China's ambitions to develop a world-class 

military, China's strategy for the employment of this force, and the budgeting and resources 
supporting China's military ambitions. 

We are very fortunate to have three wonderful panelists today who will give us more 
information than we now know about what's happening. 

First, we will hear from Dean Cheng, Senior Research Fellow with the Asian Study 
Center at the Heritage Foundation.  Prior to joining the Heritage Foundation, he was a Senior 
Analyst with the China Studies Division at CNA, from 2001 to 2009, where he specialized in 
Chinese military issues and authored studies on Chinese military doctrine, mobilization concepts, 
and space capabilities.  Before joining CNA, Mr. Cheng held a number of analyst roles, 
including with Congress' Office of Technology Assessment in the International Security and 
Space Division, and is the author of many publications on the Chinese military. 

Mr. Cheng, please go ahead. 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF DEAN CHENG, SENIOR RESEARCH FELLOW, ASIAN 
STUDIES CENTER, HERITAGE FOUNDATION 

 
MR. CHENG:  Good morning, and my thanks to the U.S.-China Commission for the 

opportunity to be here today. 
My comments are going to be looking at the Chinese efforts to develop what they would 

term an(Chinese term used), , or world-class People's Liberation Army. 
Xi Jinping has talked about developing a world-class PLA, and I would suggest that this 

is driven by several considerations.  The first is the defense of what the Chinese would term 
"core interests" or (Chinese term used), which the Chinese have outlined for us as the continued 
role of the Chinese Communist Party, the preservation of China's territorial integrity and 
sovereignty, which, obviously, has relevance to places like Taiwan, but also Xinjiang and the 
South China Sea, and preserving China's economic development, including access to resources.  
And because China today has a global economy, it has global interests. 

Second is that the PRC is reasserting itself as one of the world's major powers.  And for 
the Chinese, what is essential here is the ability to deter aggression against China or violations of 
those core interests. 

And finally, the Chinese experience from the century of humiliation, that a weak military, 
a week set of capabilities invites aggression. 

The key tasks, therefore, confronting the PLA, I would suggest, begin with what Hu 
Jintao termed "the new historic missions".  Enunciated in 2004, those missions remain in place 
today.  They include keeping the Chinese Communist Party in power, which is perfectly 
reasonable, given that the PLA is a party army; preserving the conditions for economic 
development, and preserving Chinese interest in key domains, including the maritime, outer 
space, and electromagnetic domains. 

The Chinese PLA is also charged with deterring adversaries, but here it's very important 
to note that the Chinese term that we translate as deterrence, (Chinese term used), is more 
accurately translated as "compellence".  And this is an important point because the Western 
concepts of deterrence have specifically rejected the aspect of coercion.  Thomas Schelling, John 
Mearsheimer, all of these folks, in their writings say, yes, when we talk about deterrence, there's 
no compellence aspect.  Whereas the very term (Chinese term used) embodies compellence, 
coercion. 

And finally, the PLA is charged with fighting and winning what they now term 
"informationized local wars".  And this, in particular, means establishing information 
dominance. 

Information dominance in this regard is the ability to gather, transmit, analyze, and 
exploit information more rapidly and more accurately than your adversary.  If you are able to 
conduct, to fight and win, informationized local wars, from the Chinese perspective, this is the 
best way to deter.  The best way to deter is to demonstrate that you can fight and win.  That, in 
turn, requires fielding capable forces, demonstrating the willingness to use them, and 
communicating both capability and will to your adversary. 

So, in this context then, informationized local wars, the PLA's vision of what future 
conflicts are going to look like, one of the key evolutions under Xi Jinping is this idea that they 
are now going to occur under the so-called "new circumstances".  And these new circumstances, 
basically, acknowledge the ever-growing importance of information and communications 
technology. 
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And so, what we see, therefore, is the Chinese writing about the importance of integrated 
network and electronic warfare because, to their mind, electronic warfare and network warfare, 
which includes, but goes beyond cyber, are actually flip sides of the same coin.  This is very 
different from our military where we still have enormous bureaucratic and other fights, including 
issues of authorities between electronic warfare, a military Title 10 responsibility, and network 
warfare, what we would focus more on cyber warfare, which is often seen as a Title 50 
intelligence issue and possibly a law enforcement issue.  For the Chinese, it's convenience that, 
as a party army, none of this necessarily applies.  They do what is necessary. 

The other aspect here, then, is that, in the context of the new circumstances then, we see a 
growing emphasis on what they term "ABC," artificial intelligence, big data, and cloud 
computing.  Because one of the ideals behind this growing set of new circumstances is that, 
amidst the giant flood of terabytes of data gathered from everything from ISR platforms to 
weapons themselves, to old-fashioned human intelligence, how do you find the relevant data, the 
important data?  Wading through all of that for the nuggets, the Chinese see that as big data held 
in clouds that artificial intelligence can help filter and wade through.  So that it's not the idea of a 
Chinese Arnold Schwarzenegger as terminators, so much as a Chinese artificial staff helping the 
human staff make decisions. 

The other element here is the ability to secure space dominance.  And here, we see a 
concerted Chinese effort to develop a range of offensive as well as defensive space capabilities 
to effect space deterrence as well as space blockades. 

We see the steady movement of the Chinese out from not only the traditional orbits of 
low earth orbit, mid-earth orbit, and geosynchronous, but all the way out now to the Lagrange 
Points and beyond geosynchronous in terms of the entire portfolio of space as physical domain 
combined with the elements of space as an integrated system of systems, including satellites, 
ground stations, and the data that links it all together. 

So, from the Chinese perspective, space dominance is not simply about the ability to 
engage satellites, but the ability to limit the information that flows across the space set of 
systems.  Taking out terrestrial ground stations, if you are successful, and killing off the satellites 
feed is every bit as effective as blowing satellites out of the sky.  The objective, as always, is 
information dominance. 

So, I would suggest, ladies and gentlemen of the U.S.-China Commission, that this is the 
world-class PLA that Xi Jinping is talking about, one that can achieve information dominance, to 
help coerce as well as deter others, including the United States, in order to preserve the ability of 
China to develop economically and, ultimately, to keep the CCP in power. 

Thank you very much.
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COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you, Mr. Cheng.  And I want to congratulate you on 
being within the seven minutes.  Thank you. 

Next, we will have M. Taylor Fravel, the Arthur and Ruth Sloan Professor of Political 
Science at Massachusetts Institute of Technology.  Dr. Fravel studies international relations such 
as focus on international security, China and East Asia.  He is an authority on Chinese military 
strategy and is the author of the recent book Active Defense:  China's Military Strategy since 
1949. 

Dr. Fravel is a graduate of Middlebury College and Stanford University, where he 
received his PhD.  He also has graduate degrees from the London School of Economics and 
Oxford University, where he was a Rhodes Scholar.  What a wonderful honor. 

We are so pleased to have you here, Dr. Fravel. 
DR. FRAVEL:  Thank you.  Thank you very much. 
Commissioner Lewis, Commissioner McDevitt, Members of the Commission, thank you 

for inviting me to appear before you today to discuss China as a world-class military and its 
global military ambitions.  I have been asked to comment on the strategy and employment of the 
PLA as a world-class force. 

In my remarks, I would like to make three points.  My first point, based on authoritative 
Chinese sources, the idea of a world-class military should be viewed as a general, high-level, and 
overarching concept of force development.  The idea of a world-class military should not be 
viewed as a strategic concept that outlines how China plans to use its armed forces or where in 
the world it might use them. 

To start, let me discuss the origins of the term "world-class military".  This is necessary 
because Chinese government and PLA documents lack an official definition of the term.  Use of 
the term "world-class military" is commonly associated with the 19th National Party Congress, 
which was held in October 2017.  At the Congress, General Secretary Xi Jinping said the Party 
should, "fully build the People's Army into a world-class military by the middle of the century". 

In fact, however, Xi began using the term several years before in early 2016.  
Specifically, Xi used it in the following phrase in which he called on the PLA to, "achieve the 
goal of a strong army and build a world-class military". 

Xi introduced the goal of building a strong army in 2013 as part of the China Dream.  It 
provided an overarching rationale for the unprecedented organizational forms of the PLA that 
began in 2016. 

Thus, by invoking the objective of building a world-class military in the context of 
becoming a strong army, Xi's initial use of the term "world-class military" indicates that it is also 
a general force development concept.  In other words, it explains what kind of a strong army to 
build.  A strong army will be a world-class one.  Nevertheless, Xi Jinping himself, to my 
knowledge, has never given a speech outlining what the concept of a world-class military is. 

Even though the term has not been defined in authoritative sources, PLA officers and 
scholars have written commentaries to explore what it might mean.  These commentaries make 
several points about world-class militaries. 

First, in terms of capabilities, a world-class military is one that can match or balance the 
armed forces of the leading powers in the system, especially the United States.  It refers to being 
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in the top tier of military powers, not necessarily being the dominant military power. 
Second, these commentaries note militaries become world-class by possessing their own 

advanced doctrines, weapons, personnel, management procedures, and ability to innovate.  
World-class militaries are those that others want to copy or emulate.  The characteristics of 
world-class militaries provide benchmarks for assessing PLA's own progress towards military 
modernization. 

Third, these commentaries note that the PLA is not yet a world-class force.  In particular, 
they highlight deficiencies in the areas I just mentioned above:  doctrine, weapons, personnel, 
management procedures, capacity to innovate, among others. 

Finally, these commentaries do not discuss the geographic characteristics or requirements 
of a world-class military.  That is, they do not describe the global posture requirements of being 
a world-class military, especially in the way in which we might think about world-class in terms 
of global power projection. 

Let me turn to my second point.  The concept of the military strategic guideline which 
outlines China's national military strategy can best illuminate how the PLA approaches questions 
of strategy and employment of China's armed forces.  China has adopted nine military strategies 
or strategic guidelines since 1949.  These guidelines stress how to prepare to fight the future 
wars China might face and to guide the development of the PLA's own operational doctrine for 
structuring training. 

China's most recent national military strategy was adopted in July 2014 with the label 
"Winning Informatized Local Wars".  This strategy has several components. 

First, it continues to stress preparing the PLA to prevail in conflicts on its periphery 
involving China's sovereignty disputes, especially over Taiwan. 

Second, it emphasizes improving the PLA's ability to conduct joint operations, 
highlighting the importance of the collection, processing, and utilization of information in all 
aspects of contemporary warfighting. 

Third, it is China's first military strategy to highlight competition in the maritime domain, 
especially as it relates to China's many sovereignty disputes.  The primary strategic direction or 
center of gravity in the current strategy now includes parts of the Western Pacific in addition to 
China's Southeast. 

Fourth, it emphasizes crisis prevention, crisis management, and escalation control, in 
addition to warfighting. 

And finally, it provides an overarching justification and rationale for the unprecedented 
reforms that began in 2016. 

What are the implications of China's military strategy for the PLA's global role?  Let me 
note four. 

First, geographically, in terms of force employment and warfighting, the PLA remains 
focused on East Asia defined broadly to include these eastern parts of the Western Pacific.  In an 
authoritative list of strategic tasks for the PLA, defense of China's sovereignty and unification 
rank first and second, respectively.  Globally-oriented tasks such as safeguarding overseas 
interests or international security cooperation rank fourth and sixth.  They are not unimportant; 
they are just not the primary focus. 

Second, so long as China's major sovereignty disputes remain unresolved, especially 
Taiwan, its military strategy will continue to emphasize East Asia over other regions.  The PLA 
will not likely expand significantly beyond East Asia until its major sovereignty disputes are 
resolved or until it has achieved a position of military dominance in these disputes. 
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Third, also for this reason, the fulcrum of military competition between the United States 
and China will also be centered in East Asia. 

Fourth, China's global military presence outside of East Asia will grow in the coming 
decade, but it is likely to be relatively modest when compared with other major military powers. 

Third and finally, I would like to offer several recommendations for Congress to 
consider.  Briefly, they are: 

First, Congress should increase funding for open source analysis of issues relating to 
China's foreign and security policies.  There's never been a greater need than today to understand 
how China thinks about and writes about pressing problems.  Yet, funding for such open source 
analysis continues to decrease. 

Second, Congress should examine the possibility and feasibility of a strategy of active 
denial for the U.S. to adopt to meet the challenges posed by China's military modernization in 
East Asia. 

Thank you very much for the opportunity to appear before you today, and I look forward 
to your questions.
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COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much.  And you also are congratulated for 
doing what you did within seven minutes. 

We'll now here from Phillip Saunders, Director for the Center of Chinese Military Affairs 
of the National Defense University.  He previously worked at the Monterey Institute of 
International Studies, where he served as Director of the East Asia Nonproliferation Program 
from 1999 to 2003, four years, and worked on Asia policy issues as an officer in the United 
States Air Force.  His research focuses on Chinese foreign policy, security policy, and military 
issues, and he's the author of many publications on the Chinese military and Asia security. 

Please go ahead. 
DR. SAUNDERS:  Great.  Thank you very much.  It's an honor to testify before the 

Commission. 
I'm asked to talk about what we can tell from China's official budget figures, what are 

some trends there, and what happens as the Chinese economy slows down, and how will that 
affect modernization.  And it's a great set of questions. 

Economics is the foundation of military power.  The size and technological sophistication 
of a country's army serves as a hard constraint on the potential size and capability of its military 
forces; and in China's case, its rapid economic growth and technological upgrading that is both 
funding and supporting Chinese military modernization with sustained increases in defense 
spending. 

In looking at the official data, this is challenging.  China gives an annual total, but the 
detailed information is quite limited.  The best they do is to give three broad categories of 
personnel spending, training and maintenance, and equipment spending, including R&D, 
procurement, and maintenance.  They don't release figures for individual services or figures for 
the 13 to 15 categories they use internally to manage the PLA budget. 

So, one challenge is the official figures include a lot of things that are related to defense, 
but aren't included.  That includes the People's Armed Police; some domestic procurement and 
R&D expenses; procurement of foreign weapons; demobilization, retirement, and education 
expenses; military construction; some aspects of the space program; some nuclear weapons 
spending, and reimbursement for military expenses and disaster relief.  So, there's a number of 
boxes that are defense-related that are not in the budget, and that's something we have to deal 
with. 

The official defense budget figure for 2017 was about $160 billion.  And we have a 
couple of different estimates of what's in those boxes that are not included.  An OSD estimate is 
it's about $30 billion more; a DIA estimate, the same.  IISS says maybe it's $53 billion more than 
the official budget.  And SIPRI, which uses a much broader, more inclusive definition, says it 
might be as much as $69 billion higher.  And from that, I would say there's probably a figure of 
about $30 to $50 billion more than the official budget. 

And the first thing to note is that's very different from when we were looking at this in 
the 1990s and we said the official budget, the actual budget might be two or three times.  So, 
there is significant money that's not counted, but it's much less as a percentage.  And I think 
that's because the official budget has gone up very dramatically in recent years.  So, a lot more of 
it is on-budget, and some of these off-budget revenues and expenditures have either moved into 
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the budget or declined in size relative to the official budget. 
For example, procurement of foreign weapons, we used to say that's about $3 billion a 

year.  It certainly ought to be part of the budget.  SIPRI, in 2017, says it's about $1.2 billion.  So, 
it's smaller in absolute size and as a proportion of the budget. 

What I think we see in the very recent trends, which I've got in the paper, first, you have 
to start by huge sustained increases in real defense spending, double-digit increases through 
about 2016.  But that's started to slow to about 5 to 7 percent growth rate in the last couple of 
years. 

And if you look at the figures as a proportion, you see that defense spending occasionally 
has outpaced GDP growth, but mostly is in line with it and mostly is consistent with increases in 
overall government spending.  So, the conclusion from that is the official data don't indicate that 
defense spending is becoming a higher priority in recent years.  It's going up with other 
government spending, and as a share of GDP, it's fluctuated between 1.2 and 1.4 percent of GDP. 

So, a couple of trends we can pull out of the data.  First, more spending to the air force, 
the navy, and the rocket force since 2004.  Second, the portion of the budget going to equipment 
has gone up from about 32 percent to about 41 percent.  And that's the hardware recapitalization, 
expansion of the force, more sophisticated weapon systems, and the R&D and the maintenance 
required to keep them going. 

The share of the budget going to personnel is down from about 34 percent to about 31 
percent.  That's a little surprising because they've having to pay more to recruit a talented force.  
The reforms have certainly changed this internally, but there just is not data available publicly to 
see precisely how this is broken out. 

And so, that's a first conclusion, is the lack of public data, it imposes limits on what we 
can do.  The Commission might want to commission classified briefings on specific aspects of 
Chinese defense spending or maybe research on the financial details of the defense industry, 
where more data is available. 

So, a couple of other things.  What are some of the trends we see kind of going forward?  
One of them is increased competition between the services for resources.  And we see that with 
respect to areas like maritime operations.  That's a priority.  All the services want to be part of 
that.  We see it in precision strike, where they're all developing long-range precision systems, 
and, also, in the nuclear domain, as the navy's nuclear force comes online and the air force starts 
to get into that business.  And this is a real challenge for them.  Recent interactions with the PLA 
show that they're grappling with how you reconcile the competing demands from the services 
and the theater commands for more money and more systems. 

So, let me, in my limited time, talk a little bit about where is this going in the future.  I 
think everybody sees the Chinese economy as slowing down.  Just it's a big economy.  It's hard 
to go as fast.  They're running into some limits of their model.  And if they keep the same 
relative priority, that suggests defense spending growth is going to slow down significantly.  It's 
already starting to do that.  But a couple of things to think about that trend. 

The recapitalization and expansion of the PLA, the hardware they've both, that has life-
cycle costs.  And so, the force they have today, they're going to be paying for the next 30 years, 
and that will eventually turn into a sunk cost.  And it may constrain some ability to innovate. 

Second, the point I made about increasing competition between services and missions is a 
trend.  I think if we see an economic downturn or crisis beyond what we expect, which is a 
slowing of growth, that could delay production or fielding of high-end assets and constrain 
modernization.  And collectively, to me, that suggests they will eventually get to an equilibrium 
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point where they're growing slowly, but the rapid growth in budget and capability will slow 
down. 

I want to highlight, while resources are important, people is the ultimate constraint on the 
PLA's capability, and having high-quality officers who can command a joint force is critical. 

I'm on penalty time now, but let me hit two big trends. 
This might change if they come to regard external military threats as the biggest threat to 

the China state and to the Communist Party rule.  And they're very nervous about shifts in U.S. 
policy and strategy that are much more focused on them.  If they conclude this is the major 
challenge, this may require adjustments in grand strategy and military modernization, including 
more defense spending. 

But I would caveat by saying, they've looked closely at what brought down the Soviet 
Union and concluded that overspending on military capabilities at the expense of economic 
development was a major factor.  I think, right now, they're more focused on internal challenges, 
and that means spending enough on development to raise living standards, spending enough on 
internal security to keep the population in line.  And those are more important relative priorities 
than military modernization. 

The one thing that might change that is if Chinese leaders perceive U.S.-China strategic 
competition as headed toward an inevitable military slowdown, and that would change their 
priorities. 

Thank you. 
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PANEL II QUESTION AND ANSWER 
 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much. 
I'd like to ask my Co-Chair for his question.  Admiral McDevitt? 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thank you. 
I have a question for Dr. Saunders first.  Based upon your assessment of looking at the 

budget and speculating about how it might decline as China's overall economy declines, a 
question I have for you is one of the ones that we talked about in my opening statement, which 
was, what do you think a world-class military would look like, if you will, or what would it be 
composed of? 

Mr. Dean Cheng gave us one alternative, which is info dominance is equal to world-class.  
How do you see that? 

DR. SAUNDERS:  I think, to a considerable degree, they benchmarked this against the 
U.S. military.  And if we think broadly, if we look at China in the 1990s, they said:  what if we 
have to fight the U.S.?  We're way behind.  What can we do to give ourselves a chance?  And 
that was investments in asymmetrical capabilities to try to overcome that. 

If we look at the Chinese military today and where they're going, it is much more 
symmetrical with the U.S. military.  Part of that is, as Dean said, investment in information 
capabilities and the ability to conduct what they call systems attack, what we call network-
centric warfare.  So, leveraging information technology, ISR, precision strike to build real 
capabilities. 

But part of it, also, is platforms, and that's really kind of a surprising thing.  We see China 
building aircraft carriers, stealth fighters, stealth bombers, very significant platforms.  But that's 
not necessarily where the direction of modern warfare is going. 

And I think that's a question:  are they becoming more symmetrical with us because pilots 
run their air force and ship drivers run their navy?  And are they leaving opportunities behind in 
terms of unmanned systems and a more information resource -- 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  I hope so. 
(Laughter.) 
DR. SAUNDERS:  I hope so, too. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  I have one question for Dr. Fravel.  The last question I 

asked the last panel, from the representative from the Defense Department, was this notion that 
China aspires to be the dominant force in the Indo-Pacific as opposed to East Asia, and what 
have you.  Have you seen any evidence for that expansion of their ambitions in your research? 

DR. FRAVEL:  No.  Especially if one defines Indo-Pacific from the India-Pakistan 
border to the West Coast of the United States, which is right into INDO-PACOM's area of 
responsibility. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Right. 
DR. FRAVEL:  So, Chinese writings from a strategy and warfighting perspective are, I 

think, intensely focused on East Asia with the broader definition I mentioned, to include those 
western portions -- sorry -- the eastern portions of the Western Pacific.  But, to the degree that 
they talk about achieving that same level of presence and potential capability and dominance in 
the Indian Ocean and against India, and against all the other countries who have military assets 
in that area, I don't see much support in Chinese writings for that. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Mr. Cheng, I have a question for each of you, and I'd like to 
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ask each of you a question with a short answer, if you can do that. 
You mentioned Taiwan as one of the drivers of Chinese military ambitions.  Taiwan has 

never been part of the People's Republic of China.  They were never ruled by the People's -- that 
island was never ruled by the People's Republic.  Yet, they talk about rejuvenation or 
reunification.  They know that it was never part.  So, what is the driving force behind their desire 
to have Taiwan part of China? 

MR. CHENG:  So, the People's Republic of China views itself, the Chinese Communist 
Party views itself as the inheritor of China.  So, Taiwan has been part of China, the 
civilization/state entity that predates the 1949 creation of the People's Republic of China.  So, 
Taiwan was taken out of China for the first time, arguably, in 1894-95 after the first Sino-
Japanese War.  And that laid the foundation for a lot of the ongoing politics behind it. 

So, from the CCP's perspective, they are defending China as a state or as a physical 
entity, which includes Taiwan, which includes the South China Sea, which includes Tibet and 
Xinjiang.  So, that's the greater civilizational aspect. 

The other element to this, however, is that, from a Party legitimacy perspective, this has 
always been part of the argument of why the CCP is or should be in charge; that it has been able 
to allow China to stand up to reclaim its proper position in the world, but that is predicated on the 
ability, again, to unify China and to right the wrongs of the past.  Because Taiwan was torn away 
by the Japanese in the first Sino-Japanese War, because of the circumstances where it is 
governed by an illegitimate entity from Beijing's perspective today, that all has to be resolved in 
order for the CCP to retain its claim to legitimacy. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Is it your view that they will go to war over that issue? 
MR. CHENG:  It depends on the circumstances.  I don't think that, in my opinion, I don't 

think the Chinese are going to wake up tomorrow morning and start a war.  But if Taiwan were 
to declare independence, if there were some stimuli -- for example, a belief that the United States 
was going to recognize Taiwan as, you know, to break away from the American concept of the 
one China policy -- those are things that I think would open up very distinct possibilities of 
conflict. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you. 
Dr. Saunders, I have a question for you.  Do you think it's possible that the PLA itself 

doubts the veracity, the Chinese defense spending numbers? 
DR. SAUNDERS:  I don't think they doubt them.  I think they have real numbers that 

they use to manage their budgets and manage their procurement.  So, I think they feel relatively 
confident what resources they have. 

But, as I mentioned, there are recent interactions with the PLA, some of the stories they 
tell of trying to figure out how to balance/reconcile demands from the different services and the 
different theaters, and they tell us that the service commanders are constantly going back to the 
Central Military Commission and asking for more money for specific modernization priorities. 

So, I think they have real numbers.  I don't think all of that spending is in their official 
defense budget. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much. 
And, Dr. Fravel, I have a question for you.  Your comment mentioned world-class 

military as a dynamic concept rather than a thing.  It's almost like pornography:  you'll know it 
when you see it.  And I have a question about this. 

The 2001 Science of Military Strategy states that, "From the defensive side, the strategy 
to gain mastery by striking only after the enemy has struck does not mean waiting for the enemy 
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to strike passively," implying that the PLA may be more prone to use force when the national 
leadership has determined when a red line has been crossed.  Based on this, what would be a red 
line?  What would a red line consist of?  Would it have to be kinetic or could it be political? 

DR. FRAVEL:  Thank you very much for the question. 
I think, traditionally, when China thought in terms of active defense, which that quote 

from the Science of Military Strategy discusses, it was a kinetic attack.  But, in that version of 
the Science of Military Strategy, they did say, under certain conditions, political attacks could 
count as the first strike against China.  In particular, they were referring to Taiwan and were 
referring to a declaration of independence or other kinds of activities that Dean Cheng mentioned 
could spark a war. 

And so, it definitely could be political.  I think the number of issues over which it would 
be political would be pretty limited and primarily outside of the case of Taiwan.  It would still 
probably mostly be focused on kinetic actions. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  So, a red line would be as a result of a political action? 
DR. FRAVEL:  It could be as a result of a political action, yes. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much. 
I'd like to call on the Chair of our Commission.  Carolyn, you have a question? 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you very much. 
Yes, I guess, like everybody, have a question for each of you or one that spans it all, 

which is this issue of Chinese techno authoritarianism and the exporting of the surveillance state, 
most recently, of course, to Belgrade. 

A lot of the discussion about things like 5G, it's like there's a gap between talking about 
the military use of it and, then, the civilian thing, right?  So, you talk about smart cities and 
traffic control, and wouldn't this be great; we wouldn't have traffic jams and things like that.  But 
I'm wondering if there's anything in PLA doctrine about the disruption of the civilian sector and 
how access to this kind of information or these nodes might play into it. 

That's one.  All right, you think about that.  I'll say the other ones. 
Dr. Fravel, you mentioned increasing investment in open source analysis.  And we have 

recommended that in any number of years, but it's a huge topic.  Are there any particular 
priorities you think should be identified as what it should do? 

And then, Dr. Saunders, I was very interested where you said that the PLA competes with 
the civilian economy for high-tech talent.  How do you tie that into military-civilian fusion?  Is 
the talent that you're talking about operating or is it development of new technologies that keep 
things forward?  Because if it's operating, it's a whole new generation with a lot of gaming skills.  
I don't know how much more beyond that people do for, need for operational work. 

Okay, all three. 
MR. CHENG:  So, on the issue of Chinese techno authoritarianism, what I would suggest 

is, when the Chinese talk about information dominance, it is not simply about military 
information and military dominance.  It's not just whether or not you could hack into a Patriot 
system or a THAAD system. 

The reality is that all of our economies have civil-military fusion.  We just call it different 
things.  You could not imagine deploying units, equipment, et cetera, through TRANSCOM 
without relying on the internet, without relying on NIPRNet, in particular. 

So, if I can, in theory, crash the air traffic control system of the United States, those 
C-17s are not flying to wherever they need to be.  So, that's one aspect of it. 

Another aspect to this is that we are also looking at the ability, for example, to disrupt 
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domestic security situations, ties-down, forces.  You know, a lot of capability still resides in the 
National Guard.  Those elements would probably not be available if American cities are blacked-
out. 

And then, the last aspect here is that the Chinese do talk about the importance of 
psychological warfare, and it is interesting to note that PLA Strategic Support Force apparently 
includes a political warfare element.  So, therefore, one should assume that the effort to influence 
popular decision making, the population, military morale, is going to be part of any effort in a 
future conflict. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thanks. 
Dr. Fravel? 
DR. FRAVEL:  Thank you. 
So, regarding open sources, perhaps two ideas.  First would be to put in specific 

authorization for much greater funding for -- I think it's called OSE now, you know, what -- 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  It used to be FBIS. 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  It is shutting down. 
DR. FRAVEL:  Yes, I know, it's basically shutting down.  Congress can do something 

about that, right?  The specifics are beyond my area of expertise, but certainly Congress 
authorizes the spending of money, and that would be a great place, I think, to spend money. 

Congress could also consider, if that's too tall an order, then thinking about a China-
specific sort of open source center.  I mean, there's a tremendous amount of information on the 
internet about things that China is doing, what the PLA is doing, in particular.  It's just most of it 
happens to be in Chinese, and some of that Chinese is even technical.  And so, it's hard for lots of 
people interested in what the rise of China means to access. 

But if we really want to understand what the risk of China means, and how to sort of best 
respond to it, then we need to be able to have sort of a complete picture of what the Chinese 
themselves are saying. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Dr. Saunders, quickly. 
DR. SAUNDERS:  I totally would agree with that. 
I guess two points.  How does the PLA get the people it needs inside the force?  They've 

tried to upgrade their military academies to have more technical and technology content.  
They've tried to come up with mechanisms to recruit students from China's best universities.  
That hasn't worked out so well because there's a cultural clash.  You get students who have the 
technical skills, but they don't mesh well with the rest of the PLA.  And they recently ended the 
program, partly because of that; that the military guys didn't think these students with technical 
skills were military enough to work within the PLA.  So, I think that's an issue where they're 
competing with people who have much better job prospects elsewhere. 

Civil-military integration is a way of trying to outsource those skills to either have 
contract mechanisms or the ability to tap those technical skills inside the civilian economy.  
That's an effort to reconcile that and to find ways to work around it. 

But I guess I see obstacles to that.  We've got a couple of chapters in our book on PLA 
reforms that talk about that in some depth.  I think there's still significant challenges with getting 
the expertise that the PLA needs, even on a contract basis. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Mike Wessel? 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Very interesting, and I have a lot 

of questions which I'm going to try to shorten, both asking and having the answers shorter, but 
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would welcome follow up information from any of you. 
Dr. Saunders, for you first, you talk about the Chinese military budget, and we have, of 

course, examined both as a Commission as well as the government the question of Chinese cyber 
theft, et cetera.  Do you have any estimate of what the cost avoidance has been by Chinese cyber 
espionage in the U.S.?  As we all have seen major weapon systems with tens of billions of 
dollars of development cost for U.S. interests, you know, full-scale plans taken by the Chinese, 
do you have an estimate of what that might reduce the Chinese budgetary payments for? 

DR. SAUNDERS:  No. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Okay. 
DR. SAUNDERS:  I mean, no, it's a technical thing and you need to do a technical 

analysis to try to get to it.  It clearly does save them some money.  It clearly does point them in 
the right direction.  But even if you have the blueprint, that doesn't necessarily mean you can 
build the final product.  So, significant cost savings, but I can't give you a point estimate. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Yes, agree, although I would say that, for example, 
Boeing's joint venture with, I believe it was AVIC on composite fabrics gave them more than 
just the blueprints, but the capabilities. 

If you have any estimates afterwards or any thoughts you might have, that will be helpful. 
Dr. Fravel, I had the joy last Monday of spending the day at MIT on disruptive 

technology discussions, some of it with your colleague, Dr. Negro Ponte, who is, of course, an 
esteemed expert in the field and was in China last week, as you probably know. 

Your university has examined the relationship, especially in the military research field in 
the last couple of months, I think terminating some work with Huawei and ZTE; examining, as I 
understand it, the PLA researchers who have been doing work at the University. 

To what extent does your work, your policy work, intersect with administrative 
examination at the University?  How are they looking at what the research programs are?  MIT 
is, you know, our crown jewel in AI, A/V, machine learning, et cetera. 

Tell me about the intersection of what your policy initiatives or work is, if you can, with 
what's being done on the research side. 

DR. FRAVEL:  I think I'll let the administration at MIT answer that question for you. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Okay. 
DR. FRAVEL:  Simply because I'm a professor at MIT, but I'm not an administrator at 

MIT.  And largely, they have me around to do the kind of research that I talked about. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Understand.  I'm not trying to get you in hot water.  But 

are there discussions about the policy implications? 
DR. FRAVEL:  Yes. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  There are?  Okay. 
DR. FRAVEL:  Yes, and very serious ones.  I just don't want to characterize them 

inaccurately. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  I understand. 
And, Mr. Cheng, thank you for being here again, and always learn from you.  And while I 

don't speak Chinese and I usually make a mess of pronouncing anything, you said, (Chinese term 
used), correct? 

MR. CHENG:  Correct. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Help me on the difference between deterrence and 

compellence.  And I look at this as well, again, through some of the current conflicts we're 
having about the technology field cooperation, et cetera. 
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President Xi had a meeting, I think it was two or three weeks ago, with CEOs of a 
number of major U.S. companies, asking them not to participate in some of the initiatives that 
exist.  Is that part of compellence?  I mean, should we look at the power issue and, again, 
(Chinese term used), rather than just military deterrence as broader use and what it may mean, 
quite frankly, into our political sphere here? 

MR. CHENG:  Yes, sir.  So, the difference between deterrence and compellence, first, 
very quickly.  So, when we think about the Cold War and what the U.S. was doing, that was 
deterrence.  We were going to deter the Soviets from taking Berlin or Norway, or anyplace else.  
From the Chinese perspective, that was part of (Chinese term used), but it can also include 
making other people do what they don't want to do.  So, it is, basically, as one Chinese military 
writing put it basically, (Chinese term used) is making the other side bow to your will.  You don't 
want to; we'll make you.  You want to; we'll dissuade you. 

The tools available in Chinese writings go much beyond military.  So, for example, 
there's nuclear "weishe," conventional "weishe," informational "weishe," financial, mobilization 
"weishe". 

And then, just one very quick example.  What the Chinese did to the South Koreans with 
regard to the THAAD deployment is a great example.  The Chinese engaged in weaponized 
tourism.  Okay? 

I mean, the idea that you would impact another country's policies by saying to your own 
people, "Don't go to South Korea as tourists"; to say to your own tourist groups, "Do not book 
tourism," and then, to go to the South Korean population and say, "You know, you live in a 
democracy.  Isn't that wonderful?  Because you get to change your government's policies.  If you 
don't like what we're doing, tell your government not to deploy THAAD." 

They went after Lotte supermarkets and other retailers, for the same purpose. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Right. 
MR. CHENG:  So, yes, absolutely.  Talking to commercial, industrial companies is 

absolutely part of the "weishe" process. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Okay.  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Mr. Kamphausen? 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Well, thank you to our three panelists.  Hard to 

think of three people whose work I respect and who I admire more.  I only wish the panel could 
go on for a couple of hours because I have a lot of questions.  But let me focus on two, which are 
general. 

Your testimony is really helpful and focused.  Let me take a step back.  The first question 
is, in our first panel our Administration presenters talked about near-peer competitor status.  And 
so, this is a two-part first question. 

The first is, have we conflated the notion of a world-class (Chinese term used), Chinese 
military, by 2050 with near-peer or peer competitor status?  And that's maybe not so important as 
the second part of the first question, which is, what are the benchmarks that you would use?  
Based on your judgment and your research and your experience, what are the tests that you 
would use to answer the question, is China a near-peer competitor?  That's the first set of 
questions, and I ask that of each of you. 

The second is, Dr. Fravel, in your testimony you talked about Chinese military 
modernization goals; we ought to think of them in tandem with general economic development 
goals.  And I think that's a helpful frame.  I would ask you to do a different sort of exercise and 
do a China internal net assessment of, as the PLA attempts to modernize on this ambitious 
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timeframe that it has, how do they think about the tensions internally that will act as brakes on 
that effort?  You know, increasing debt, declining population, a workforce that peaked several 
years ago, and an overall population that will start declining in a couple of years, environmental 
issues, pressures from Hong Kong, and a whole variety of other things.  What's the China 
internal net assessment look like? 

One way I think of it is, it's a race, but it's a race with, the PLA is racing with itself.  And 
Phil noted that there's still lots of budget that they could put against this problem, but it's not just, 
in my mind, a financial question.  There's other factors.  I would love to hear your thoughts on 
that. 

MR. CHENG:  Sure.  So, great questions with plenty of time to answer, especially split 
among the three of us here. 

(Laughter.) 
I think that some useful benchmarks the Chinese themselves talk about, for example, they 

used to say that they are now a half-mechanized, half-informationized military, and that they are 
working overtime to try and solve the mechanized part. 

More recent writings no longer describe it as half-mechanized.  It's mostly mechanized 
and working on informationized.  So, I would suggest that they, themselves, do see themselves 
as improving.  I think that when the last of the purely leg infantry, tote artillery, most everybody 
walks, and not because they're like the 10th Mountain, but because they don't have the resources 
-- 

(Laughter.) 
That's not a slam on the 10th.  It's just -- yes. 
When the PLA has light forces because they want light forces, and otherwise are capable 

of fielding as many informationized forces, I think that will be a key benchmark.  That is going 
to face a lot of challenges.  My fellow panelists have obviously laid out a number. 

I would also just note that internal security spending seems to be greater than external 
security spending, which, if the truest sign of concern or love is how much you're willing to 
spend, clearly internal threats are what keeps Xi Jinping awake at night. 

DR. FRAVEL:  Very quickly, since you threw a second question in my direction, I would 
agree with Dean Cheng with respect to informatization.  I think being fully informationized 
would be the main benchmark, and you would tease out the subordinate indicators in terms of 
being near-peer. 

I think it is probably too easy to conflate near-peer and world-class military.  As I've tried 
to suggest, I don't think world-class military is a fully fleshed-out concept.  And so, it might not 
be that helpful to use. 

Regarding China's internal net assessment, the documents that I reviewed in the course of 
preparing my testimony, at least from Chinese military officers, seemed to think it was going to 
be really challenging to have become world-class by the two milestones that were set for them.  
And so, I did not have time to sort of do the full sort of net assessment that you described, but I 
think even without taking into account the broader social sort of environment in which the PLA 
is trying to modernize, they see just within the PLA itself this transformation is going to be 
really, really challenging for them, for reasons that I think we have discussed before. 

So, I don't know if they are that optimistic that they can be basically modernized by 2035, 
right, much less world-class by 2050, even though that is, you know, 30-some years into the 
future.  Nevertheless, it's a good goal to aspire towards and you want, if you are seeking to 
improve your warfighting capabilities, to give your armed forces a goal that they might not 
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necessarily be able to achieve, but that will motivate them to make significant progress. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Is it possible that part of the reason that the 

standards are not more clear is that a world-class military will be defined by what the PLA is 
currently at that point?  Yes. 

Dr. Saunders? 
DR. SAUNDERS:  Yes, I think there is something to that, to have a vague goal, and then, 

that makes it easy to declare success once you get there. 
I think the main point I would make, I don't disagree with anything that was said, but I 

think it's the people side that is the big constraint.  And we've just published a big book on PLA 
reform, which I have copies for you and others who have attended.  But I think that's one of my 
conclusions there; it's less the hardware; it's less the organization.  Do you have qualified people 
who are your staff officers?  Do you have qualified joint commanders?  And I think that's the 
area where the PLA sees real, real deficiencies in its force today. 

That's a hard thing to benchmark, but, right now, an army officer will spend most of his 
career in one theater until he is a deputy corps commander.  And that's a very limited window.  
It's good for conducting army operations, but you don't know how the other services work.  You 
don't have a broader perspective.  You don't know how a joint force operates.  And I think those 
are real constraints. 

And we talked in a chapter in the book about building joint commanders, all the things 
they have to do fix that.  They have to change their personnel system.  They have to change their 
promotion system.  They have to have rotational assignments.  They may have to have joint 
billets.  And that's a huge, disruptive change throughout the PLA, and that's only to be pointed in 
the right direction. 

The bigger question is, can you fix the organizational culture?  Can you have a Leninist 
military that listens to orders from the top?  When you want a military that takes advantage of 
information, that pushes initiative down, and that empowers its troops, is that compatible with 
the PLA organizational culture?  Is it compatible with a Leninist system?  I think that's a big 
question and a big obstacle. 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Thank you all very much.  If other thoughts on 
how to benchmark this occur to you, we would certainly welcome any additional ideas you had. 

Thank you, Mr. Chair. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Commissioner Wortzel? 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  I appreciate you all being here. 
I have two questions for Dr. Fravel.  Well, I guess once he's done, I would be very happy 

to hear from either you, Mr. Cheng, or Dr. Saunders on the others. 
Both come out of your testimony in different parts.  On page 7 of your testimony, you 

sort of reprise what you said in your 2015 China brief article on the basis for the strategic 
guidelines.  And the first one you list is with whom China will fight.  So, who do you think they 
identify as the main enemy? 

Second is from page 9 in your testimony, but it's really the whole last fourth part of your 
book Active Defense.  And you briefly mention on page 9 maintain strategic deterrence. 

But when I go through some Chinese documents, I find what I would call an entire ladder 
of deterrence mechanisms.  And they range from public opinion operations through 
demonstrations of force, to actually conducting a missile-firing test near an adversary.  And quite 
frankly, they don't seem to be in order.  You know, it's like here's a menu; pick what you think 
works.  And I've watched them do some of these things in 1995 and '96 during the Taiwan 
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elections and inauguration. 
So, first of all, do you think there's any prioritization in their head about this?  And 

second, some of them, like conducting -- let's say we're in some sort of a crisis and we have 
deployed U.S. forces in the Western Pacific -- conducting a firing exercise near those forces is 
pretty escalatory.  So, I would like your thoughts on that. 

DR. FRAVEL:  Thank you. 
So, yes, the first, and probably central, component of a strategic guideline is with whom 

will China fight.  And that's usually divided between sort of who the primary adversary or 
adversaries is and, then, who the secondary adversary is. 

And so, in the current strategy, I think it's Taiwan and the United States.  With regard to a 
Taiwan scenario, I don't think the United States is an enemy separate from Taiwan, and that's an 
important distinction to make.  I think secondary opponents would be India, Japan to some 
degree, although probably tertiary.  I don't think there's great plans to launch a major war against 
Japan in China, but because of the dispute over the Senkaku Islands. 

So, that's how I would characterize it today.  It could change, right?  And so, I think 
China has had nine strategic guidelines or nine strategies, one every eight years, more or less.  
And I think we're due to a change, probably when the reforms are completed.  So, we'll have to 
see how that plays out.  The role of the United States could become more prominent in China's 
military strategy because of the way in which the relationship has unfolded in the last few years. 

Turning to your second question, ladder of deterrence and escalation, there's a lot of 
writing on this in what I would call authoritative, but not definitive sources, right?  And so, this 
would be the Science of Military Strategy 2013 from the Academy of Military Science, and it 
would be the Science of Military Strategy 2015, revised in 2017, from the National Defense 
University.  They both talk about escalation, but in quite exactly the same way. 

And so, what I draw from that is that China has not yet necessarily perfected a systematic 
approach it's going to apply in all situations and scenarios.  Instead, what I think happens, it's 
highly based on the contingency and on what the Chinese refer to as (Chinese term used), their 
sort of official assessment as to what the nature of the problem is, and that will, then, help them 
decide what kind of escalatory actions to take. 

I would agree, certainly engaging in a live fire exercise in the way in which you describe 
would be highly escalatory.  And if one reads certain elements of the Science of Second Artillery 
Campaigns from 2004, there's some very disturbing and worrying aspects in that book, too, and 
no awareness, at least, in the context of that text about how such actions could increase crisis 
instability. 

And I'd take that to be those from the military or the PLA perspective, writing on the 
kinds of steps that their national leaders could take, are simply outlining the steps that they could 
take and not actually subjecting them to any analysis of whether or not it would be advisable to 
do in particular circumstances. 

Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  Thank you. 
DR. SAUNDERS:  If I could add one kind of specific point, one thing that happened in 

the reforms is they downgraded the services and they reorganized the theater commands.  So, 
each theater has responsibility for a specific set of contingencies.  And so, they're planning for 
them.  They're training for them.  They're preparing for them. 

And one consequence of that is you now have a functional differentiation where, if you're 
the northern theater command, you're very worried about Korea and a little bit worried about 
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Russia, and that's what you're arguing those ought to be priorities.  And so, you now have 
different parts of the PLA with different responsibilities, the services arguing for different 
capabilities that they think are relevant for things.  And this does seem to have produced a little 
bit of muddle as to how do you adjudicate that. 

So, when we had a PLA delegation come to National Defense University, that was the 
question they asked us:  how do you adjudicate the competing responses from your services and 
your combatant commands?  And that indicates this is a problem that they are wrestling with, 
and it indicates a degree of a lack of focus. 

I agree that Taiwan and the U.S. are still No. 1, but in different parts of their system 
they're worried about different things and they're arguing for different capabilities.  And they 
haven't quite figured out how you reconcile that. 

MR. CHENG:  Just very quickly on the issue of deterrence, I think what is noteworthy 
here is that among the authoritative, but not definitive documents, aside from the nuclear issue, 
on space we see the same thing at the top of their deterrence ladder, if you will, which is use of 
weapons in actual live fire as a demonstration shot to destroy an adversary satellite.  And we see 
this on the information side, the actual use of information weapons, presumably here meaning 
something like malware or viruses or ransomware, again, to demonstrate to an adversary this is 
your last chance.  Yes, I have this capability. 

So, there is a common theme here.  Now, again, I agree with Dr. Fravel that this does not 
mean that this is exactly what they are going to do, but, rather, if the leadership were to say to the 
military, "Tell me what it is that is available as part of the menu," that this would be included as 
one of those. 

COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  And following up, Taylor, your Active Defense, I 
mean, there's a certain amount of the concept of preemption in there.  How does that affect their 
military thinking and planning? 

DR. FRAVEL:  I think one way to distinguish, I think, or they would distinguish between 
strategic preemption and tactical or operational preemption -- and I think they're much more 
focused on the latter, once they've decided strategically they're going to be in a war.  I think, to 
paraphrase Mao, fight no battle; you're not prepared to fight.  That's not exactly what he said, but 
something to that effect. 

And so, I think the PLA is not positioning, I think, itself to be strategically preemptive, 
but it may conclude in certain situations, if a political action has been taken that they believe 
violates their core interest, it might make sense to go first, once they have -- again, with this idea 
of (Chinese term used) and the assessment, that they are now in a situation in which force will be 
used. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  As with your presentations, you were very concise in your 
answers.  So, we have some extra.  So, we can go for a second round. 

Mike McDevitt? 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Yes, I was negligent in not complimenting the three of 

you on your papers.  I thought they were terrific. 
The first question I have is, some of you were here for the first panel.  And I asked about, 

when you talk about a world-class military, how does the nuclear dimension fit into that?  So, I'd 
like to hear your views on that. 

But the other thing that's troubling me is we don't know what Xi means by world-class.  
We are all speculating on it, but we're looking for what the Chinese may have said about it, and 
what have you.  That strikes me as, because we're dependent upon what we can glean from what 
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China says about that, we're always in the position of shooting behind the rabbit. 
And so, how should we get our arms around it ourselves in the United States?  How 

should the U.S. Government get its arms around the notion of a world-class military, so that we 
can be anticipatory, so that we can program resources, so we can do these sorts of things? 

And it's not just writing a bigger check and build more, you know, give me more stuff.  
And so, the question, we would rely on experts such as yourselves to help inform that, based 
upon certainly your research, but also your instincts and your intuition, and what you think they 
are going to do.  And I'd like to hear off the top of your head some thoughts on that point. 

DR. FRAVEL:  I'll go first.  At least on the nuclear dimension, I think China is still 
focused on maintaining assured retaliatory capability, but having sort of more options to do that.  
And secondarily, a lot of their systems, especially the missile systems, some of them are quite 
old and not that survivable, including the silo-based DF-5 and the DF-4 that has to be rolled out 
on a track, and so forth, right? 

And so, China has, from its point of view, I think, real strong imperatives to modernize 
its system to include the DF-41, which will be MIRVed, as was mentioned earlier.  And so, I 
think they would say that being world-class in the Chinese context means having a much more 
sophisticated force to achieve that goal of survivability.  I don't think it means they're going to 
have a new strategy for the use of their nuclear weapons. 

Second, with respect to your second question, one idea that just comes to mind is not to 
get too wrapped up around what these terms mean, right, and, instead, just focus at a lower level, 
what is the PLA actually doing and what is it writing about what it is actually doing? 

And so, in the course of my research for this testimony, I just went through the Liberation 
Army database and looked at every article that had "world-class" in the title.  Most of them had 
nothing to do with what a world-class military was.  It was like political work in a world-class 
military, logistics in a world-class military, because it was just a slogan to which they had to 
attach what it is that they really wanted to do. 

And so, I think, of course, PLA modernization is of essential importance to the United 
States, but we don't have to be too focused on whether or not it's world-class and what that 
means, but simply what are they doing, why are they doing it, and how much progress are they 
making towards achieving it?  And I think that will still tell us almost as much as we need to 
know, as if we had a much finer understanding of what the subcomponents of being a world-
class military is. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Dean? 
MR. CHENG:  So, two quick points.  On the nuclear capability aspect -- and this actually 

ties directly also to your second question -- I think that, again, as Taylor said, I don't think we 
should be expecting a 10,000-warhead PLA rocket force that looks complete with SS-18s, and 
the like.  But I think it should be striking and notable that, as far as I understand, there are 
nuclear and conventional DF-21s, nuclear and conventional DF-26s, and that they appear to be 
mixed together.  That's a fundamentally different approach towards crisis stability, nuclear 
signaling, and everything else, than we had with the Soviets.  Those 10,000 warheads, SS-20s 
didn't run around with a conventional version, making our targeting more difficult, and vice 
versa.  Pershing IIs, as far as I know, never went around with a conventional warhead. 

And so, I would suggest that alongside the need for more open source analysis is the lack 
of that has led to a certain degree of not just mirror-imaging, they are going to be like us, but 
funhouse mirror-imaging.  They're going to be like the Soviets. 

And so, if we are going to try and get ahead of them, we have to know who they are.  
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And that means not, basically, saying, well, we knew how to deter the Soviets; we'll know how 
to deter the Chinese.  Because the Chinese, if they are so different on as fundamental a thing as 
nuclear stability and intermixing conventional and nuclear, what other aspects are they going to 
be just so totally different that, when we think we're being clear and signaling, because, hey, this 
worked against Cuba in '62 or in the Middle East in '73, the Chinese are going to say, "I have no 
idea what you're talking about." 

DR. SAUNDERS:  Just a couple really quick points.  I agree that that intermingling issue 
is an important one. 

The second point is, if you look at their nuclear force, it's sort of coming to 1980s 
standards of technology in terms of mobile missiles and MIRV.  So, it isn't on the cutting edge. 

But one of the things that's really different is we're starting to see the command-and-
control and the ISR infrastructure which could support a shift to nuclear doctrine.  I don't 
necessarily see that coming, and Taylor's done great work on this.  But the technical constraints 
on a shift in nuclear strategy are eroding because they're building out DSP so you can have 
launch detection, long-range radars so you can see the missiles coming, a more accurate missile 
force, better command and control, more survivable systems, which bring a shift in nuclear 
strategy into sight. 

The question about what do they mean by world-class military, I'll just add a piece, which 
is a lot of what they're doing is catching up and looking at Russia as a model, looking at the U.S. 
as a model.  And that, I think, has been a big focus. 

But we're starting to see areas where there is innovation, where they're getting to the 
technology frontier, where they're doing some things differently.  And I think the innovation 
piece is part of that.  If you look at Chinese military writings, every time they do something that 
hasn't been done before, they make a really big deal out of it.  This is the first time this has been 
done.  This is the first time the PLA has done that. 

So, I think there is a piece that is catching up, but also a piece looking how do you move 
ahead in specific fields.  And the Commission has done some great work in illuminating some of 
them, like hypersonics and artificial intelligence.  Those are areas where the PLA is getting to the 
technology frontier and starting to innovate. 

So, I think that innovation piece and new technologies and new domains is one 
dimension of what a world-class military means.  It's a military that's innovative and is on the 
cutting edge, at least in some areas. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Chairman Bartholomew? 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you. 
Dr. Saunders, I'm going to go back to this issue of talent development or access to talent.  

I'm thinking, first, specifically about the PLA unit that has hackers.  Are they having trouble 
recruiting people who come to do the hacking or do they have a system, acknowledged or 
unacknowledged, where people are doing what they do during part of their day and, then, making 
money separately from things that they might be hacking? 

DR. SAUNDERS:  I want to defer that to Dean, who wrote a book about Chinese 
thinking on informationized warfare.  I don't have great insight into that piece of it, but I think 
there's a generic piece of that, that your best technology sophisticated computer people have 
huge opportunities in the private sector.  And the PLA is competing for that talent. 

In the U.S. military, in NSA, you know we've worked out ways.  We don't care if you 
have an earring or funny-looking hair; if you're a great hacker, we want to find a way to work 
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with you. 
My sense is the PLA culture is different from that, and that's much more of an obstacle.  

So, it's both there's better opportunities available for the best talent, and the PLA is resistant to 
adapting itself to make use of unorthodox people. 

But Dean's written a book on that. 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Yes, Dean, let me just broaden it a little, which is, 

also, because of all of this focus on informationized, which I think at one point was 
informationized -- it keeps changing -- but also a focus on cyberspace.  If they can't recruit the 
talent, then they're not going to succeed at these things that we all seem to be so concerned 
about. 

MR. CHENG:  So, first off, on the terminology, let me just note, yes, it's gone through 
multiple gyrations in the translation.  It is always (Chinese term used) in Chinese.  So, it hasn't 
changed from the Chinese side, just to clarify that. 

With regards to personnel and recruiting, one, unlike us, we don't have access to a nice 
white paper or annual report to the National People's Congress from the Recruiting Command. 

I would also suggest that one of the interesting issues here is the different nature of the 
challenge.  Saying that I broke into the Bayi Building cyber wise does not carry anywhere near 
the cache of I broke into the Pentagon.  And that's going to be true whether you are a Chinese 
hacker, a Venezuelan hacker, or a member of Antifa, or anything else.  So, that is part of it. 

Phil raised a very good point about a different culture, what the PLA is like with regards 
to that.  But we also have seen in other Chinese writings that they do view the hacking 
community as drawn from military, nonmilitary government, and then, the broader population.  
And we have seen some evidence, certainly, of patriotic hackers.  Now the extent to which they 
are centrally directed is unclear. 

But I will note that the Chinese have spent an enormous amount of time, energy, and 
effort to do internal monitoring of their Chinese intranet.  So, I find it fascinating that the 
Chinese simultaneously claim that we have this massive intranet surveillance of who's doing bad 
things on the internet, but when somebody hacks the Pentagon from China, "Well, we just have 
no idea who those people are."  So, I personally find that somewhat odd, but I'm a cynic. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Commissioner Kamphausen, you have another question? 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Thank you.  It's great that we have some more 

time with you all. 
So, I think, Dr. Fravel, based on your response to the first question, I might conclude that 

you think the use of the term "near-peer competitor" is not a particularly useful description by 
which to make a judgment.  Is that a fair judgment?  I'll give you a minute to think about that. 

That is, though, a policy term, and even as a Commission, we have over time debated if 
there's a contribution we can make on clarifying this issue.  It strikes me that, at least based on 
the testimony we heard this morning, that there is a proclivity, if not actual intent, on the part of 
the Pentagon to think in terms of conflating the terms for purposes of, then, providing both 
policy direction to the forces and, then, development of our own capabilities. 

So, we're sort of in the place where we want to make a contribution, and simply 
dismissing the characterization doesn't get us anywhere.  So, I'm pressing a little bit to see if you 
can be helpful. 

You also spent, I guess -- so, part two -- you also spent a fair amount of time on the 
commentaries after having said it's not clear what Xi meant, but this is what it could mean.  And 
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that's very helpful, but maybe add some more context to that.  Isn't it sometimes the case that the 
commentaries are an invitation to speculate and we have to be careful how authoritative we 
might find them to be? 

My own experience suggests that sometimes American observers can latch onto a 
particular point of commentary as authoritative because of both the rank and the position of the 
person who writes it.  And the intent may well have been to participate in a Chinese-style debate 
to inform.  It's maybe not necessarily written for a Western audience. 

So, two sort of follow up questions that invite any thoughts you have.  Thank you. 
DR. FRAVEL:  Thanks, Commissioner Kamphausen. 
I guess, to my mind -- and this may reflect my professorial hat -- near-peer competitor is 

not that useful in the sense that if it means being able to do what the U.S. can do wherever the 
U.S. can do it, and the way in which the U.S. can do it. 

China I think is very much focused on the region, at least from a warfighting perspective.  
The protection of overseas interests are generally not, I think, warfighting scenarios for them, but 
other uses of military power. 

And so, the question would be, is China a global near-peer competitor because the U.S. is 
a global military force?  And the answer would be no, right?  Is China a serious competitor in 
East Asia?  In other words, could it really stand up to the United States?  And I think the answer 
is yes. 

And so, I think it depends upon the context in which you are applying the term and what 
the scenario is.  And so, I would say you could maybe parse it as a regional near-peer competitor, 
but I think the idea of a peer competitor in the way it's typically used is from the Cold War and a 
global military, not a world-class military.  There's a difference between world-class and being 
global.  And so, I think in that sense it's maybe not particularly helpful. 

So, I included the commentaries because I was trying to find something to hang onto and 
provide some insight to the Commission.  And I agree, one, they are invitations to speculate.  
And so, I tried to look at as many as I could find.  And I think there were some threads. 

But let me provide context to one set of the commentaries.  So, they came out of an issue 
of China Military Science, which, as you know, is published by the Academy of Military 
Sciences.  And they were presentations from a symposium held in 2016 after Xi first just kind of 
threw out the phrase in an offhanded way to try to figure out what it meant, right? 

And this, I think, is a very classic way in which Chinese policymaking done.  The leader 
has a slogan.  It's usually not defined.  This would include some other slogans that we talk a lot 
about today, which when they first came out, like One Belt One Road, were not very well-
defined.  And then, you have a series of, even an effort to sort of try to define what it means.  
And also, if you have a Chairman responsibility system, perhaps the military thought they had an 
extra responsibility to figure out what Chairman Xi had meant in this context. 

And so, I would say they're certainly not authoritative because they are the views of the 
individual officers who are writing them, and that's how they should be treated, simple as part of 
the discourse as to what this means. 

The other thing I would note is, in the course of the research I did, the use of the term 
"world-class military" is declining, right?  So, it peaks in 2017, when the Party Congress Report 
comes out.  That generates a bunch of fairly superficial commentaries.  And if we just double the 
number of hits that have appeared in 2019, it's going to be maybe half the 2017 amount.  This 
doesn't seem to be a phrase that the PLA itself is attaching as much importance to, which I think 
goes back to part of your question, which is that the earlier commentary may not have 
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necessarily been authoritative or definitive statements.  And perhaps the PLA is moving on from 
figuring out what that term may or may not, because they're actually focused on kind of the 
modernization benchmarks. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Dr. Fravel, before I had asked you when do you think a red 
line was crossed, and you said political.  Dean Cheng before mentioned that, if Taiwan were to 
declare independence, that might be a red line.  Are there other red lines that can envision 
besides that one? 

DR. FRAVEL:  I think that's the most important one.  I think China, actually, for most 
issues does not try to create clear red lines.  It tries to leave a lot of ambiguity or flexibility.  The 
Chinese have a term for this, (Chinese term used).  It's another reason perhaps why some of these 
slogans we've been talking about are also vague, because, then, you don't necessarily fail in your 
task, if you can sort of redefine what the meaning is. 

And so, I think the one area where I think China has issued clear red lines in a political 
context is Taiwan.  I think in other areas, even where sovereignty is disputed, they've been much 
more flexible because they know that there is a cost, both internationally and domestically, to 
issuing these red lines, right?  So, they could be punished or criticized domestically if they 
declare a red line and don't back it up.  And internationally, of course, I think it would attract 
even more attention to China's military and China's rise.  And so, they do want to preserve as 
much flexibility as they can, even as they're also trying to advance their interests in these 
disputes. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  You don't see, then, the U.S. attempt to have freedom of 
navigation being one of the red lines? 

DR. FRAVEL:  No, I do not, certainly not a red line to go to war.  It is something they 
dislike.  They view it as a challenge to their sovereignty broadly-defined.  I think the U.S. and 
China talk past each other in freedom-of-navigation operations typically, because the PLA and 
Chinese sources are quite fond of freedom of navigation in just about every other body in the 
world. 

So, if you read China's white paper on Arctic policy, it's all about China's rights to enjoy 
freedom of navigation in the Arctic, in the areas where the U.N. Convention on the Law permits 
freedom of navigation.  So, China has no principled opposition to freedom of navigation.  They 
are opposed to certain kinds of navigation in their region, which they, I think from their point of 
view, believe poses a challenge to their security interests.  And that's why they oppose it. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Dean, did you want to say something? 
MR. CHENG:  Yes, sir.  So, I think one other red line would be the issue of regime 

survival. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Of what? 
MR. CHENG:  Regime survival.  Now that sort of goes without saying.  But I bring this 

up in this specific context.  The Chinese have not produced a PLA white paper since 2015.  They 
seem to have stopped producing those. 

But what is striking is that, in that last defense white paper, they made the very specific 
observation that China is now confronted by external states that are attempting to effect "color 
revolutions" in China.  That is basically a statement that China is already on the strategic 
defensive facing adversaries who are trying to create regime change. 

And I would suggest, whether or not that has actually crossed a red line is one thing, but 
that it puts them in the interesting position that they could, in theory, invoke a strategy of active 
defense because they are already under assault in terms of regime survival and regime security. 
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COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Would you feel comfortable being more specific as to what 
you're talking about on the regime change? 

MR. CHENG:  The ability of the Chinese Communist Party to retain power.  So, from 
their perspective, it would seem that, you know -- 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  No, but you said they're under assault. 
MR. CHENG:  Their description in the defense white paper is that China is already 

having other states trying to create a "color revolution" in China. 
Larry, did you have another question you wanted to ask?  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  I did, and it sort of bridges this panel and the one that 

will happen this afternoon, because this one has the ambitions.  And we talked a lot about the 
Strategic Support Force.  Nobody has mentioned the Strategic Logistics Force.  And I'm still 
trying to figure out what it is myself.  But if you talk about ambitions, and whether they're 
expeditionary or along the OBOR or force projection, that Strategic Logistics Force is nascent, 
but I wonder if any of the three of you have any thoughts on it. 

MR. CHENG:  Yes, sir, a couple of quick thoughts. 
First is, when we look at PLA history, we see a military that traditionally has been very 

bad at logistics.  The Korean War really was a stop/start kind of thing, massive stockpiling, 
massive offensive, runs out of gas literally or food, and then, sort of builds up. 

They look at how other people -- namely, the United States -- has been engaging in 
combat and see the important of logistics.  Going to the civil-military integration aspect, 
however, that Dr. Bartholomew noted, I would just make the following very quick observation:  
China has something called "Single's Day," November 1st, one of the biggest retail events 
annually, billions, literally billions of dollars worth of stuff is bought in one day.  And it is, for 
the most part, delivered within two weeks.  That is an enormous logistical undertaking of pulsing 
something through and delivered with tracking of packages, and everything else, that, arguably, 
dwarfs Amazon on a good day. 

(Laughter.) 
But that's logistics.  That is, I mean, if you talk to UPS and FedEx, what do they do?  

They do logistics.  So, the fact of the matter is that China, in a sense, goes through an annual, 
massive, nationwide logistics exercise that is unpredictable, that is tying together multiple 
different sources and end-points, and doing so smoothly with a human talent pool as well as 
software and others that, arguably, could be ported. 

COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  And it could be mobilized under the national 
mobilization. 

MR. CHENG:  Yes. 
DR. SAUNDERS:  If I could add to that, so in our big book on PLA reform, there is a 

chapter on logistics. 
(Laughter.) 
You'll learn.  You'll learn. 
(Laughter.) 
And it does examine that.  And I think part of the conclusion is, it's been, they call it a 

long march toward joint logistics, because it fits and starts.  It's trying to figure out this and go 
with the different services going, then thinking how do you have interoperable systems, how do 
you track things.  The military is an early mover in that, but that, then, means you have legacy 
systems and interoperability problems. 

So, where the civilian sector, as Dean says, is good at this, they've built it from scratch, 
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and the PLA has to keep operating even as they do this.  And it's been a real challenge. 
I think the conclusion of the authors is that there's still a long way to go.  And the focus 

right now is domestically, figuring out how to make this work with the theater commands and 
the different services.  There is an ambition to apply that overseas, but that seems to have been 
put aside a little bit, except for the Djibouti base, because the challenge of figuring out how to 
make it work internally and with the theaters is such a big one. 

So, I think, ultimately, they will turn to more expeditionary logistics, and there's writing 
about it and thinking about.  But, right now, just making it work within China in the context of 
the reforms in the new theaters is a really big challenge. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you. 
We're going to adjourn at 12:50 and reconvene at 1:40. 
But, since you're here, we want to take advantage of all your possible time.  And Mike 

Wessel has another question for you. 
(Laughter.) 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Which you have two minutes to answer. 
Dean, and for others as well, we have wrestled here with the inners; it's mil-civ fusion, it's 

all the things we've wrestled with here as well.  It seems to me, based on the discussions, 
including about personnel, et cetera, that the Chinese, as part of their strategies, could weaponize 
the private sector.  Can you give me a little more thought about that?  And I know the 
intelligence law, and we're having all these discussions about to what extent might Huawei 
participate or not.  What are your views on the weaponization of the private sector? 

MR. CHENG:  Weaponization of the private sector is simply another phrase for 
mobilization.  And what we have seen is a consistent Chinese effort to upgrade and modernize 
their mobilization structure to the point of the National Defense Mobilization Commission, 
which runs from the very top all the way down to the township level, which ties things together.  
We see exercises of the operations off the Chinese littoral involving the naval militia is a de facto 
mobilization of elements of things.  We see transportation mobilization. 

So, what I would suggest is that this is a fundamental piece of civil-military fusion, civil-
military integration.  It's not simply, hey, you know, when you're building a railway station, have 
it be able to handle military loads.  It requires practice.  It requires thinking things through. 

I think it is a scary statement that we no longer have an Industrial College of the Armed 
Forces.  We renamed it to get rid of that whole "industrial college" thing.  Whereas, I would 
suggest that the Chinese are very happy to think of it as mobilization, (Chinese term used), which 
is exactly, sir, what you're talking about. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Okay.  Thank you. 
DR. SAUNDERS:  Can I? 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Please. 
DR. SAUNDERS:  Can I defend National Defense University? 
(Laughter.) 
They changed the name, but the Eisenhower School is very much focused on 

mobilization and on figuring out how to kind of recapture and refocus on this and its relations 
with the defense industry and training students who really understand this. 

And maybe it's slipped a little bit, but that is where the leadership is focused right now, 
on something that's got to be a core mission of the Eisenhower School. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  And I attended Commandant Jansen's two-day or three-
day mobilization surge capability session last year.  So, I agree with you, it is still part of the 
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effort. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  I guess our time is up. 
Thank you very much for helping educate our office. 
We'll reconvene at 1:40. 
(Whereupon, the above-entitled matter went off the record at 12:51 p.m. and resumed at 

1:41 p.m.)
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PANEL III INTRODUCTION BY COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT 
 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  We're going to get started here, so we stay on time and 
that I at least get a B+ for my management here. 

Panel is entitled, "Building a World-Class Military:  Missions, Modernization, and 
Bases".  And we're fortunate to have three particularly talented analysts that I've had the pleasure 
of getting to know over many years to talk today. 

We're going to start with Dr. Isaac Kardon, who's an Assistant Professor at the China 
Maritime Studies Institute at the U.S. Naval War College.  Dr. Kardon is also accredited to the 
Department of Strategy and Operational Research at Navy War College.  He's a core member of 
the China's Maritime Studies Institute, where he researches and writes on maritime disputes, 
Indo-Pacific maritime security and commerce, and China-Pakistan relations and the Law of the 
Sea. 

And I can also attest from my personal experience that, if you want a good description of 
what does China's maritime rights and interests mean, he's the guy to turn to. 

He's also served as a Managing Editor for their Red Book series of monographs on 
China's Maritime Power.  And he teaches classes on Chinese politics and foreign policy at the 
Naval War College. 

He was formerly a Research Analyst at National Defense University, Study for Chinese 
Military Affairs, for two years.  He was Visiting Scholar at NYU Law School for two years.  He 
was at the Chinese National Institute for South China Sea Studies for 2014 and got to know Wu 
Shicun, among others, well.  And he's also done work at Academia Sinica.  I don't know I can 
never say that. 

And he's earned his PhD in government from Cornell University, and a master's of 
philosophy in modern Chinese studies from Oxford, and a BA in history from Dartmouth 
College. 

So, Isaac, over to you. 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF ISAAC B. KARDON, PH.D., ASSISTANT PROFESSOR, 
STRATEGIC AND OPERATIONAL RESEARCH DEPARTMENT, U.S. NAVAL WAR 

COLLEGE 
 

DR. KARDON:  Thank you, Admiral McDevitt, Commissioners.  It's a pleasure to be 
here. 

Time is short.  It's a tough act to follow, but I will try and hit the wave tops -- 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Well, you have seven minutes to do it in. 
DR. KARDON:  -- of my presentation. 
So, we've been discussing the People's Republic of China's program to develop a world-

class military.  And among the critical challenges facing the PLA in fulfilling this lofty, but ill-
defined goal is an obvious deficit in its capacity to safeguard overseas interests, as they call it. 

The demand generated by China's rapidly-growing portfolio of personnel, capital, and 
resources abroad outstrips the supply of Chinese security.  Certain security tasks may be 
outsourced to private or local forces, but it is the PLA, and principally the PLA navy, that must 
deliver military capability to distant theaters and secure the sea lines of communications between 
those far-flung locales and the Chinese mainland. 

I want to stress upfront a couple of things that will help frame our understanding of how 
the PLA is tasked to do this.  Becoming a world-class military does not mean becoming the U.S. 
military.  There is no evidence, nor particularly sound logic, to support the expectation that the 
PLA needs to establish a large number of permanent military bases that support major combat 
operations abroad.  This is hardly the same thing as saying that China's growing overseas 
military capabilities are unworthy of our concern, but it is a distinction with a difference that I'm 
going to try and lay out. 

Among those differences, China does not have any military alliances, nor will it in the 
foreseeable future, North Korea notwithstanding.  America, by contrast, has on paper 66 treaty 
allies, some 514 bases, 24 of which are characterized as large by the DoD. 

There is no prospect that the largely commercial sites of most interest to the PLA at 
present could support such presence, nor any real prospect that they would be reliable, defensible 
sites in the event of a major conflict. 

The second contextual point concerns the predominantly commercial character of China's 
overseas facilities.  This hardly precludes dual-use functions, but I'd like to argue that it's not 
particularly illuminating to ask whether these facilities are commercial or strategic because the 
answer is, yes, commerce is the strategy.  This is, of course, an oversimplified way of putting it, 
but it will not strain imagination to recognize that there are strategic effects that may flow from 
the commanding commercial position in global trade and logistics that a few Chinese state-
owned enterprises have staked out. 

If these facilities were to be overtly militarized, the commercial viability of many of these 
highly capital-intensive projects could be severely jeopardized, as would China's overall 
diplomatic position.  There are, thus, clear, and possibly overwhelming, opportunity costs facing 
China as its leaders consider the choice of an overseas basing scheme to project power compared 
to a program of overseas commercial expansion, albeit one that unavoidably generates demands 
for military security. 

Another way of putting this, you know, Xi Jinping wants a world-class military, but he 
does not want a black eye for the BRI.  Managing that tension is what we're observing now in the 
Chinese discourse. 
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Finally, by way of framing, China's continental geography changes the geostrategic logic 
of overseas bases, another reason not to think of China like the United States, a maritime power 
by any estimation. 

Overland routes from overseas ports to China are strategically meaningful, different than 
the United States.  Chinese military power will continue to be projected largely from the land 
outward to sea and air.  The vital SLOCs connecting China's coastal economic centers to 
resources and markets abroad will continue to traverse a series of vulnerable maritime 
chokepoints. 

From the U.S. standpoint, these look like grave liabilities.  From a Chinese perspective, 
they are mutable realities that require the development of a hybrid continental maritime state 
concept or approach to national security.  So, if the United States is blessed by its splendid 
isolation, we can say the Chinese are cursed by difficult neighbors. 

So, maybe foolishly, I responded more or less directly to the questions posed to me by the 
Commissioners.  I hope that is acceptable, and I will quickly hit the answers that I offered, and 
then, if I have time, make a couple of recommendations. 

So, we spoke about the establishment of the PLA, quote, "logistical support facility" in 
Djibouti in 2017.  And this definitely marks a significant step towards the PLA achieving 
capacity to conduct out-of-area ground maritime and air operations.  However, because this 
single outpost is not mutually supported or supplied by other sites, the PLA's ability to sustain 
large-scale operations beyond China's immediate periphery will remain limited for the 
foreseeable future.  Again, the main developments to date have concerned a narrower PLA 
tasking to safeguard overseas interests. 

I've been tracking a concept that's evolving in the Chinese literature and in some 
authoritative documents, including their economic planning documents, like their 13th Five-Year 
plan called strategic strongpoints.  Conor Kennedy at CMSI also has led the way with this 
research. 

You ask about the nature of these agreements.  We know very little in open sources about 
the nature of China's lease on its facility in Djibouti other than that analysts suggest that it 
resembles very closely the American agreement as well as the Japanese agreement.  I'd like to 
lay emphasis on that Japanese agreement. 

Commissioner Kamphausen pointed out earlier that the presence of the Gulf of Aden 
anti-piracy mission and PKOs in Africa is an important consideration that makes Djibouti 
somewhat unlikely to be a model for future bases.  I concur and would also add the fact that 
that's the site of Japan's overseas base was something that was first quite prominent in the minds 
of Chinese planners, and they expressly asked the Americans, how did you set it up for the 
Japanese?  I think this, from a domestic Chinese standpoint, was instrumental to making the 
decision to actually have a base at Djibouti. 

So, more probably than developing a vast network of overseas bases, the PLA will avail 
itself of a network of commercial facilities without any formal or overt agreements for military 
use.  Such arrangements can likely be secured with increasing scale and efficiency because 
Chinese state-owned enterprises are now among the world's leading commercial port operators, 
as well as shipping line operators.  And less than 13 of the 20 largest ports in the world are 
actually in mainland China, and some 70 in a database that we are working on now of the world's 
major ports now have a Chinese presence of some kind.  And we're talking not about exclusive 
ownership of the port authority, but, rather, some degree of equity state operation of a terminal, 
things of that nature. 
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So, I will move quickly because I am short on time, and just emphasize that the key point 
that I want to make here is that the opportunity costs of pursuing a very large overseas military 
basing concept to support expeditionary offensive operations -- and this is the sort of extreme 
case of being modeled after the post-war United States military, and particularly the navy -- loom 
quite large. 

This does not mean that China will not pursue all manner of dual-use, and maybe dual-
use is actually sort of understating the variety and range of uses that commercial facilities can be 
put to.  But the thing that is most important for us to understand is that looking for each of these 
facilities to become a military base at some point in the future is going to distract us from the 
very real and concrete functions which they serve at present.  I do not expect them all to become 
bases, and if that's our analytical lens, we're going to be confusing ourselves when we look at 
incremental developments in their use. 

So, I realize I'm over time.  I think some of your other questions will come through later, 
and I turn it over to my colleague Chris Yung, who will speak much more authoritatively about 
expeditionary operations at any rate. 

Thank you. 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF CHRISTOPHER D. YUNG, PH.D., DONALD BREN 
CHAIR OF NON-WESTERN STRATEGIC THOUGHT AND DIRECTOR OF EAST 

ASIAN STUDIES, MARINE CORPS UNIVERSITY 
 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thanks, Isaac.  We definitely will quiz you.  My Co-
Chair is very interested in base issues, and what have you, in foreign ports, and what have you.  
And so, I'm sure he'll have some questions for you. 

Dr. Christopher Yung is the Donald Bren Chair of Non-Western Strategic Thought and 
the Director of East Asian Studies at Marine Corps University.  In this capacity, he teaches all of 
the associated schools within the Marine Corps University umbrella.  He specializes in Chinese 
strategy, foreign policy, the PLA, and China's naval and expeditionary capabilities.  He's 
published articles and books and reports and has served as an editor for numerous publications 
on China's strategy and policy. 

Previously, he was a Senior Research Fellow at the Center for the Study of Chinese 
Military Affairs at the National Defense University, and he provided research and policy 
recommendations for the Office of the Secretary of Defense, the Joint Staff, the intelligence 
community.  And he also previously served as a Senior Research Analyst at the Center for Naval 
Analysis. 

And by the way, during that period of time that he was at CNA, he had many 
opportunities to actually have field assignments where he was working with the operational 
Marine Corps observing amphibious ops, and what have you. 

He's received both his doctorate and master's degree in international relations from Johns 
Hopkins University, SAIS. 

And I would just add, Chris also has written a really remarkable book on the amphibious 
planning for the Normandy invasion.  And I would commend it to you.  Go to Amazon, right? 

(Laughter.) 
DR. YUNG:  Yes. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  So, with that, Chris, over to you. 
DR. YUNG:  Thank you, Admiral McDevitt, Commissioner McDevitt, Commissioner 

Lewis, and all the Commissioners.  I appreciate the opportunity to testify to the Commission on a 
subject which will be of increasing importance as China's global interests and reach start to 
significantly expand outside of Asia-Pacific. 

The topic that I was asked specifically to look at is China as a world-class expeditionary 
power, which I will go into great detail, to the best I can within six minutes and 41 seconds. 

(Laughter.) 
But, before doing that, let's talk definitions.  What's the definition of "expeditionary"?  

There are a number out there, but since I'm the Director of East Asian Studies at Marine Corps 
University, I'm going to use the Marine Corps definition. 

(Laughter.) 
The United States Marine Corps offers the following:  "An expedition is a military 

operation conducted by an armed force to accomplish a specific objective in a foreign country.  
The missions of the military expeditions may vary widely.  Examples include humanitarian 
assistance and disaster relief, establishing and keeping peace in a foreign country, protecting 
U.S. citizens and commerce abroad, retaliating for an act of aggression, and destroying an enemy 
government by defeating its armed forces in combat." 

You'll notice that, before you even get to major combat operations and conventional war, 
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there's several types of operations that can be conducted.  I would argue that that's what the PLA 
probably has in mind when they think about expeditionary operations. 

All right.  I've provided a lengthy description of what I believe to be China's strategic 
objectives.  So, I won't take up your time talking about those. 

In addition, we've already had a panel discuss ambitious, perspectives, and strategy.  I 
can illuminate, if you have questions on that, but I'm not going to belabor my views on that. 

But these strategic objectives inform the missions that I'm about to talk about.  What are 
these larger expeditionary missions? 

No. 1 -- and these are informed by some of what you heard in the earlier panel -- Taiwan 
contingency, No. 1. 

No. 2, a South or East China Sea contingency and out-of-area operations supporting Belt 
and Road initiatives or in support of a Shanghai Cooperation Organization coalition member 
who is under distress.  Terrorist attack, insurgency, coup d’état, civil war, some sort of a major 
conflict, and in the long-term a SLOC protection mission in the Indian Ocean, some sort of out-
of-area mission to protect their sea lines of communication.  And, then, of course, their 
corresponding land components operations that might need to be responded to. 

I did not spend much time in my written testimony discussing the expeditionary 
requirements for the East China Sea and South China Sea contingencies because, in my opinion, 
I consider these to be lesser contingencies to the Taiwan contingency.  You can do Taiwan.  You 
could probably do an East and South China Sea mission. 

Furthermore, I didn't spend a lot of time talking about the SLOC mission because, from 
my perspective, this is a long-term planning problem for the PLA and likely to take a back seat 
for now to more immediate force-building efforts. 

And so, I argue, from the perspective of building a world-class expeditionary military, we 
should focus attention on what it would take for a Taiwan and an out-of-area support for a Belt 
and Road Initiative type of contingency. 

There is ample evidence that the PLA is building an expeditionary force.  Although the 
Liaoning operational carrier received most of the international attention in 2010 and '11, it's the 
procurement of the L Class ships, particularly the Yuzhao class, landing platform docks that have 
made the PLA an out-of-area expeditionary force. 

This, combined with the possible acquiring of a landing helicopter dock ship, an LHD, 
changes, dramatically changes, the PLA's expeditionary capabilities, along, also, with the 
acquisition of hovercraft-like landing craft which have great carrying capacity, 150 tons, 60-knot 
speed, 300-nautical-mile range.  That's a game changer. 

The PLA navy is not the only service that is exhibiting signs of expeditionary 
capabilities.  Both the PLA air force and ground forces have also become more expeditionary, 
the former expanding its strategic airlift capabilities and participating in out-of-area exercises; 
the latter dedicating divisions solely for the Taiwan mission and transforming ground forces into 
a much more rapidly-deployable force. 

The service which demonstrates most visibly the PLA intent on becoming a more potent 
expeditionary force is the PLA marine corps.  This includes the expansion of the marine corps 
from three to nine brigades and a projected end-strength increase from 10,000 to 30,000, tripling 
in size. 

PLA training has also become more expeditionary, as illustrated by a decade-plus of 
trans-military region mobility exercises; PLA navy task force exercises of increasing size, 
complexity, and distance from China; evidence of lessons from counterpiracy task force 
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operations being applied to subsequent operations; marine corps training under different 
climates, terrains, and weather conditions; international exercises under the umbrella of the 
Shanghai Cooperation Organization; the annual Dongshan exercise near Taiwan; an impressive 
list of PLA air force out-of-area deployment exercises, and exercises out of area during 
counterpiracy operations.  So, the training, platform development. 

In researching what I needed to talk about, your staff has asked me to address observable 
gaps in expeditionary capabilities.  As I said in my written testimony, it would be folly to assert 
that, after decades of thinking about the Taiwan problem, that the PLA lacks the basic 
fundamentals to conduct this kind of operation.  I'm not going to make that argument. 

The PLA has both the technological skill, the platforms and associated military weapon 
systems, to be able to launch successful assault on Taiwan.  However, as I also said in my 
written testimony, this does not mean a successful invasion of Taiwan is a fait accompli. 

I give the example of, on the verge of Normandy, we had all of that, still not certain that 
we were going to be successful.  And we can talk about that at length since I wrote the darn book 
on it. 

(Laughter.) 
So, if I were to identify areas where there are gaps in the Taiwan mission, it would be in 

area where domains cross over into each other, and which require sophisticated command and 
control, and very practiced cross-service coordination.  I would also venture a guess that a PLA 
assault would be stopped dead in its tracks by an effective mine defense of the island. 

Moving beyond Taiwan, the PLA also suffers from a number of maritime capability 
shortfalls, which often go unnoticed by the untrained eye.  The PLA plan has not had time to 
develop force protection assets to make forward-deployed forces secure in foreign ports.  I can 
go into detail as to what those are, but I don't think they've thought through that problem yet. 

Lastly, if China dispatches forces to respond to a Shanghai Cooperation Organization 
coalition response to terrorist, insurgent, or a large-scale civil unrest problem, the PLA still 
suffers from a less-than-robust command-and-control structure.  Its logistical support is not 
robust enough to continuously supply sizable force abroad, and it still does not have a robust 
maintenance and repair capability abroad, nor a forward-deployed medical care capability. 

All right.  In short, technology to fill those gaps.  First, I don't think it's a technology 
shortfall.  It's a knowledge shortfall.  As Dr. Saunders pointed out, the personnel, commanders, 
planners, and to some degree the Chinese military, doesn't know what they don't know.  They're 
inexperienced.  So, they don't know where all the gaps are. 

So, first, I would argue it's less of a technology gap, more of an inexperience doctrinal 
gap.  But, if I were to identify some technology gaps, those would be a landing craft that can 
operate in more survivable conditions.  Don't have to worry about sea state, temperature, et 
cetera. 

They have very little experience marrying expeditionary forces with maritime 
prepositioned forces.  That's the second area.  So, they would probably want some sort of 
maritime prepositioned ship that they can move around cargo internally. 

Finally, the well decks of amphibious ships, very vulnerable to chem-bio attacks.  We 
worry about that.  The Chinese haven't even started thinking about that problem. 

And then, finally, since the focus I think is going to be on non-contested, relatively low-
intensity expeditionary operations, the PLA, China -- you mentioned civ-mil fusion -- that's 
going to be their focus.  Logistics and communications.  How do you do just-in-time logistics in 
this network of facilities that the PLA is trying to develop? 
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Secondly, how do you communicate when you're on the backbone of very 
underdeveloped countries that are going to be your host nation partners?  That would be the 
technological areas that the PLA are going to have shortfalls in. 

I will reserve a discussion on congressional action for the Q&A, which I know you all 
want to hear about.  But, since my time is up, I will now pass the baton. 

Thank you very much. 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF DAVID SANTORO, PH.D., DIRECTOR AND SENIOR 
FELLOW FOR NUCLEAR POLICY, PACIFIC FORUM 

 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thank you very much, Dr. Yung. 
We turn now to Dr. David Santoro.  He's the Director and Senior Fellow for Nuclear 

Policy at Pacific Forum out in Honolulu. 
I want all of you to realize that he's made a sacrifice to fly in from Hawaii to Washington. 
(Laughter.) 
Dr. Santoro is Director and Senior Fellow in Nuclear Policy at the Pacific Forum.  He 

specializes in strategic and deterrence issues, as well as nonproliferation, nuclear security, with a 
regional focus in the Asia-Pacific and Europe. 

His current interests focus on cross-regional deterrence and assurance, especially between 
Northeast Asia and Europe, and in nonproliferation and nuclear security in Southeast Asia.  He 
also manages Pacific Forum's Track 1.5/2, nuclear policy dialogs that have been going on for a 
number of years.  They include the U.S.-China strategic nuclear dialog, the U.S.-Japan and the 
U.S.-South Korea extended deterrence dialogs, and the U.S.-Myanmar nonproliferation and 
nuclear security dialogs. 

Before joining Pacific Forum, Dr. Santoro worked on nuclear policy issues in France, 
Australia, Canada, and the United Kingdom.  And in the spring of 2010, he was a Visiting 
Research Fellow at NYU, their Center on International Cooperation.  And he was also a Stanton 
Nuclear Security Fellow at the International Institute for Strategic Studies in London. 

He holds his doctorate from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. 
David, over to you. 
DR. SANTORO:  Thank you very much, Admiral, and thank you to all the 

Commissioners for inviting me to testify on the implication of China's reform for Chinese 
nuclear strategy and weapon program. 

To do this, we first need to understand that China's nuclear strategy has been consistent 
since Beijing first developed nuclear weapons in 1964.  And there are three important, 
longstanding features. 

No. 1, the top political leadership never delegated authority of a nuclear strategy to senior 
officers of the People's Liberation Army, the PLA, because it was considered a matter of 
supreme national policy, and this is still the case today. 

No. 2, and as a result, the views of the top political leadership, especially at the time 
China built its arsenal, had a powerful influence on Chinese nuclear strategy.  These views are 
based on the limited utility of nuclear weapons and they support maintaining a strategy of 
assured retaliation and not pursuing any form of nuclear warfighting.  And that, too, is still the 
case today. 

No. 3, that's why Beijing has always claimed to have a self-defense nuclear strategy.  
That's why the Second Artillery Force, which is the component of the PLA in charge of Chinese 
nuclear weapons, has had the sole mission of conducting a nuclear counterstrike.  And that's why 
Beijing has developed a small nuclear force.  That's why it's refused to join any arms races and, 
also, why it's adopted a no-first-use policy. 

So, as a result, for a very long time, China did not rank high in U.S. strategic thinking.  
China's nuclear program, nuclear weapons program, was simply not considered a threat to the 
United States. 

Now things began to change, especially over the past decade and a half, because Beijing 
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began to modernize its strategic force, diversify its delivery systems, and increase the number of 
nuclear weapons in its arsenal. 

Now, in response to growing U.S. concerns, Beijing has argued that these developments 
are purely defensive; that there is no change to its policy and strategy, and that it's only building 
a so-called lean-and-effective force that is justified in the context of improved U.S. missile 
defenses and conventional capabilities; and also, a refocus on the Indo-Pacific. 

Now, of course, the problem is that the United States doubts the veracity of China's no-
first-use policy and has been concerned that Beijing may actually decide to abandon its practice 
of minimum deterrence and decide to sprint to nuclear parity with Washington and Moscow. 

These worries have been amplified by China's lack of transparency about the current and 
future size and shape of its nuclear forces and activities.  Worries have also increased in recent 
years as a result of China's growing assertiveness in the Indo-Pacific, particularly since President 
Xi took office in 2012.  And, of course, Beijing's refusal to engage in strategic nuclear dialog 
with Washington has not helped. 

So, this is the context in which the Chinese military reforms have been rolled out.  And 
so far, the most significant change that is relevant to the nuclear weapon program has been 
renaming the Second Artillery "the rocket force" and upgrading it to a full service status. 

Now there's a lot of uncertainty about what that change actually means or will mean, but 
it seems to me that there are two options.  On the one hand, the new rocket force and its upgrade 
to a full service might just codify its de facto status, which has increased in recent years.  And if 
that's the case, well, maybe we are likely to see the continuation of steady, yet relatively modest, 
growth of the nuclear arsenal, and China's longstanding nuclear policy and strategy would be 
maintained.  And according to Beijing and most Chinese strategists, this is what to expect; the 
reforms will not lead to nuclear change. 

Also, significantly for now, nuclear command and control do not appear to have changed.  
They seem to continue to be centralized at the highest level, and some Chinese have even argued 
that centralization could be reinforced as a result of the reforms.  So, if all that is confirmed, the 
rocket force could be expected to continue to focus on expanding and improving its conventional 
assets while keeping, and maybe even pushing, nuclear forces into the background. 

Now, alternatively, the reforms might lead to greater autonomy or even independence of 
the force, which could open the door to radical changes in China's nuclear force structure and 
posture, and even driving changes in policy and strategy.  And some analysts have stressed that 
official characterizations of the new rocket force could suggest much greater expectations for the 
force, including in the nuclear domain. 

And so, if this is correct, then faster growth of the Chinese nuclear arsenal could be in the 
works.  China could also decide to adopt a much more aggressive nuclear posture, including in a 
warfighting role, as some PLA officers have occasionally recommended.  And Beijing and the 
PLA could also give authority over nuclear forces to the theater commands, making it easier to 
actually use nuclear weapons in a crisis or in a war. 

Now I think it's too early to tell whether the reforms will lead to continuity or to change.  
But it seems to me that at least we will see some degree of change over the coming years, and for 
three reasons mainly. 

One, because we know that the Chinese nuclear arsenal is likely to continue to grow.  The 
question actually is not whether it will grow, but how fast and how big it will become.  Now 
there's a lot of disagreement about this, but there is broad consensus that the Chinese arsenal is 
already today pushing the boundaries of a minimum deterrence, which means that it will be 
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difficult for China to continue to remain opaque about its forces and its activities. 
No. 2, I think it will become increasingly difficult for Beijing to maintain its longstanding 

nuclear policy and strategy because of its modernization efforts, especially because of the 
emergence of a nuclear triad.  And even if the Chinese want continuity, they most likely will 
have to adjust their country's policy and strategy. 

Finally, No. 3, I think it's highly likely that the modernization of Chinese nuclear forces 
will create at least some complications for command and control, just simply given the number 
of platforms that Beijing is bringing online. 

So, in conclusion, I think the jury is pretty much still out about the implications of the 
reform, but Beijing is for sure reaching a crossroads with its program.  And the question is really 
whether the reform will lead to radical change or to slower, more managed change. 

I see I'm out of time.  So, I will skip the recommendations, and I'm happy to talk about it 
in the Q&A.  Thank you. 
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PANEL III QUESTION AND ANSWER 
 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Thank you very much.  That was very helpful and, yes, 
indeed, we're interested in the recommendations.  I'm going to have a couple of questions and, 
then, turn to Chairman Lewis and other members who have already indicated they want to ask 
some questions. 

For Dr. Kardon, I'd be very interested, without asking you to reveal if it turns into a 
forthcoming book or not, some more details on the strategic strongpoints.  It seems to me, 
looking at the first eight years of anti-piracy patrols, the PLA has been using the strategic 
strongpoints, i.e., the marriage of a port that will grant diplomatic clearance.  It's safe.  They can 
get food and vegetables and fuel.  And the sailors can go on liberty.  And they have a state-
owned enterprise there to act as the husbanding agent.  So, they've been doing that. 

And as a point of information, I mentioned earlier that I had met with somebody at a 
conference from Djibouti.  He claims that the United States pays an annual rent to the 
government of Djibouti of $630 million; the Chinese pay only $300 million.  So, the Chinese got 
friendship prices from the government of Djibouti.  Given the amount of money they've poured 
into the country, it's probably understandable. 

For Dr. Yung, is there anything that you've seen in your research to suggest that, 
particularly as the L Class ships -- if the expectations for the growth in L Class ships continues to 
grow, that China is thinking about the Chinese equivalent of an amphibious-ready group on 
rotational deployments, where you would have 1500-2,000 Chinese marines who would go off 
on a six-month cruise around the Indian Ocean, and that sort of a thing? 

And for Dr. Santoro, I can't let you off the hook after I've asked everybody else during 
the hearings.  If I could draw you out on your thoughts on China's sprint to parity or at least 
coming close to the U.S. inventory, so that their nuclear force structure would also be judged as 
world-class? 

DR. KARDON:  So, on the strategic strongpoint concept, I've got to finish my book on 
the Law of the Sea before I move on to the book on strategic strongpoints, but it is going to be 
featured prominently in a China Maritime Studies Institute Red Book that we're working on as a 
group project, and a number of other publications focusing on the PLA component less so than 
on the broader sort of political economic strategy. 

But a few things just to highlight about the concepts, and I do think that it is not the same 
as a base, even if Djibouti can be certainly considered a strategic strongpoint, which it is 
explicitly in the Chinese literature.  It is important to stress that this is not a term of art.  It doesn't 
show up in PLA doctrine as something that's fully defined and fleshed-out.  What we're seeing is, 
as Dr. Fravel described, one of these high-level concepts that's floated down, and now it's being 
iterated out.  And I actually kind of like to think that I'm feeding into this process now and 
maybe helping shape it in a way we can live with, which is something I'd like to get to. 

But the geographic distribution of them I think is quite important.  It's important to think 
of them as networked and important to think of them as functionally differentiated.  It depends 
on the location; it depends on the host partner what you're going to get out of it. 

Some states really care about the legal contractual issues.  Some states don't.  China is 
agnostic.  I think they show up and, you know, they have firms that show up with a very 
impressive package of not just a port.  They tend to come in and they say, we're going to build a 
port, a park, and a city, an industrial-free trade zone, as well as it will spawn residential and 
commercial stuff around it, and it will be linked up to intermodal infrastructure. 
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And so, it's important to understand what's the interface and what is the principal purpose 
as far as the SOEs are concerned.  They are there to -- making profits and having good politics 
are sort of mixed up with them.  And I think there's a spectrum of port projects all the way from 
having nothing to do with any Chinese foreign policy and are about commercial operations.  And 
you see a lot of these in the acquisitions, I think, of the SOEs, of existing projects.  And it's very 
difficult to conceive them being able to use them for anything other than commercial operations, 
all the way to a full-up base like you have at Djibouti.  But, then, I think there's every single 
shade in between. 

And I guess the other thing to add is, and to continue on Admiral McDevitt's point, we 
have not seen the contract that the PLA signed.  I have also heard that it's cheaper.  I do know 
that when Chinese analysts write about it, they are emphatic about it being sort of modeled on 
the U.S. and on the Japanese. 

And now, there are people more from the commercial side.  The guy who is the Secretary 
General of the China Port Association is talking about trying to come up with what he called a 
Belt and Road national port liaison mechanism that's supposed to fuse the commercial and the 
state, and possibly the military side, in some of -- you know, this is another one of these not-
fully-fleshed-out ideas, but it's published.  And they are trying to think it through. 

The SOEs want to do business, but they also want to make sure that they're not offending 
Beijing, and they try to keep them at arm's length.  And so, they want to invite them in, but 
certainly this is an important point to stress:  they don't want the PLA using all their pier space.  
The way they make money is by being as efficient as they possibly can, and if you look at all 
their corporate strategy -- and it's out there and they hype it a lot -- they're out there trying to -- 
they are not just competitive.  A couple of these firms are really quite commanding in the field, 
and it's because they are fast. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Dr. Yung? 
DR. YUNG:  There's nothing in the literature that suggests the Chinese are going to be 

putting together an amphibious-ready group/marine expeditionary unit, or ARG/MEU.  
However, I think it's inevitable.  I think it's just too tempting a capability and it just makes too 
much sense.  There's plenty of speculation amongst us American China-watchers that have 
argued that.  I have gone on the record saying I think it's within 10 years. 

Why do I think it's inevitable?  So, you have an amphibious force with ground forces on 
it capable of responding quickly to potential crises in Belt and Road Initiative countries and out-
of-area contingencies that are of interest to China. 

So, one, you deal with the time-distance problem by having your forces forward-
deployed.  Secondly, they've had over a decade to work out, and they know they need to be able 
to be in area to respond quickly to these issues, these contingencies.  It addresses a lot of their 
logistical problems. 

And then, in addition, it's just that right balance of non-threatening to the countries of the 
world, and from the United States, I don't see why we would necessarily be threatened by an 
ARG/MEU ourselves.  So, to me, it has all of the formulas of the right mix that spells China 
strategy all over it. 

It's tempting.  It responds to a bunch of different missions the Chinese know they need to 
address.  It's politically palatable.  And the Chinese get to wave the flag around in the Indian 
Ocean and other areas to satisfy their foreign policy interests. 

Now, before I think you would see it, a couple of things would have to happen.  One, 
they would have to have their large desk amphibious ship online.  They would have to have that 
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big of a capability in order to have that force to go out into the Indian Ocean. 
And then, they would have to have a lot of moving parts associated that I don't see yet.  I 

don't see them able to operate a flight deck off of a -- they don't even have the LHD yet.  But 
they haven't even worked out entirely flight deck operations on carriers yet.  So, there would 
have to be a lot of moving parts that they would have to put together before we could say 
definitively it's coming.  But, in my opinion, it's probably 10 to 15 years away.  But I've not seen 
any definitive evidence that that's the case. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Dr. Santoro? 
DR. SANTORO:  Thank you for the question. 
I think it's inevitable that we'll see an increase in the arsenal, like I mentioned.  Right 

now, they're at about 290, according to various estimates, weapons.  We are likely to see an 
increase for sure.  The Chinese do not describe it as a world-class nuclear force.  They don't use 
those terms, at least for the nuclear component. 

Now you see various estimates as to how much is enough and what ceiling they're 
looking to get to.  They won't talk about it.  But, based on their stockpile, it looks to me that it's 
possible to reach 600.  Now what's unclear is whether it will get to 600 within the next decade, 
like we have heard recently, or whether it will take more time. 

Now the Chinese keep talking about, we want to lead an effective force.  My sense is 
they are right now focusing more on the effective side than on the lean side.  And they're 
thinking about deterrence in an integrated way.  So, it's really not just about the nuclear 
component, but it's about how to use multiple systems together, including with the newly-created 
Strategic Support Force, to create a more integrated deterrence posture. 

But, again, the Chinese say, "No, we're not looking for parity with the United States or 
with any other power, for that matter.  We're only focusing on developing a force that will give 
us enough for an effective nuclear counterstrike." 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Do they write about escalation dominance? 
DR. SANTORO:  No.  Well, there are some writings that talk about escalation and 

escalation problems.  Unfortunately, at least the Chinese that I have engaged on those issues 
completely dismiss the possibility of whether, even inadvertent escalation, they tend to disregard 
that as a problem that we need to contend with, which is very distressing. 

COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Great.  Thank you. 
Commissioner Lewis? 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Dr. Kardon, I'm not sure I heard you correctly.  But did you 

say that focusing on the military aspects of the ports that China controls throughout the world is 
focusing on the wrong thing and we should look at their function instead of their military 
applications?  Did you say that? 

DR. KARDON:  Not exactly.  What I said is that, analytically, if what you're doing when 
you look at what we're calling strategic strongpoints is what are the steps towards which -- what 
are the steps they're taking towards becoming a military base, then you're going to miss the fact 
that they already have some discrete military functions, just lower-end for lower-intensity types 
of operations. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  What do you think the Chinese purpose of getting these 
ports around the world is? 

DR. KARDON:  I think the principal purpose is economic development.  Like I said, I 
think commerce is the strategy.  As was pointed out earlier today, military power is built on 
economic strength.  I think that's intrinsic to China's theory. 
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But it's important to note that, as opposed to the age of European exploration, where they 
used to say that trade follows the flag, the flag is following trade now.  The people in the driver's 
seat are the people with the money in China, and port developers want to make money building 
ports.  And they also want to do well by the Chinese Communist Party at home. 

The PLA, similarly, has taskings that are thrown off of this broader foreign policy which 
is now being described as the Belt and Road, which is to say to secure these assets and resources 
and personnel.  And so, there are military missions associated with it, but I think that's not the 
principal determinant of where Chinese commercial ports are going. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  It's my understanding that the Chinese control all the ports 
at both ends of the Panama Canal. 

DR. KARDON:  It's not correct to say that they control all of the ports at both sides.  
They have -- I'll need to look specifically at my database, at what the stake is in which parts of 
these ports.  But, yes, it is the case that there is a Chinese commercial operator on Atlantic and 
Pacific sides.  Again, I'll need to double-check it, but I don't believe that there is a majority stake 
in any of them or that they control all the terminals. 

So, this is not to say that it's trivial, but it's also to say it's very difficult to imagine a 
scenario in which they could fully seize operational control of the port for military operations, 
unless in the midst of a full-scale conflict and that was part of their campaign, in which case I 
think the U.S. Navy would be there contesting it.  And I don't think they would be able to do that 
very effectively. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  So, you don't think there's really military implications for 
these port controls now? 

DR. KARDON:  No, so to clarify, I think not only are there military implications, there 
are empirical military realities that you can observe.  The military goes and refuels.  They take 
liberty calls.  You know, it's friendly port visits.  They're contracting for commercial husbanding 
arrangements with commercial ports in which there's no Chinese operator or stake.  Salalah in 
Oman was where they used to go all the time for the Djibouti mission before they started using 
their own facility. 

Again, it's a question of the priority and emphasis and how we ought to interpret China's 
overseas ports.  And again, if we are looking at it as a strategy to build a forward-deployed 
expeditionary navy, I think we're making an analytical mistake.  I don't think that's the intent. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Dr. Yung, I have one question for you.  You mentioned the 
Shanghai Cooperation Organization and that the Chinese maritime navy might get involved if 
there were an attack on one of the members of the Shanghai.  Could you elaborate on that, 
please? 

DR. YUNG:  I would expand that to the PLA.  The PLA could respond to some sort of 
attack or security problem with one of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization members. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  That hasn't happened yet? 
DR. YUNG:  No, there's not been a PLA response to some sort of internal major security 

threat to any of the countries.  However, I think what you can do is you can look at the exercises 
China has undertaken as part of the SCO umbrella, in cooperation with a coalition of states in 
Central Asia and in Russia.  And I believe Iran has just been invited or -- 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Observer. 
DR. YUNG:  -- it's now an observer.  And India I believe has also been invited. 
And so, what I can imagine happening -- now this, again, to contrast with what the 

Chinese have written, right, and you had a whole discussion about what they write and authorize 
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and say under authoritative sources.  This is all analysts looking out and saying this is a 
possibility, although not backed by anything authoritative that the Chinese say. 

Now, at the same time, I can evaluate as a military planner the possibilities.  And one of 
the possibilities, in my mind, is they exercised this contingency over and over and over again for 
over a decade.  And so, to me, that to me is going to be, if China reacts to an out-of-area 
operation, that is going to be probably the first one you will see that's some sort of major 
contingency within one of these SCO-related countries -- and it may overlap with the Belt and 
Road Initiative -- having some sort of problem.  And China, then, along with Central Asian 
countries, Russia, responding as a coalition to help bolster that country in peril. 

And so, it backs all of China's foreign policy principles.  They'll say, "We were invited in 
by the host nation country."  There might even be U.N. authorization.  It's, "We're not interfering 
in the internal affairs of another country and, oh, by the way, it's a threat to the sovereignty of 
that specific country.  We have all the authorization we need to go in and help that country out."  
That would be an expedition that the Chinese could undertake out of area. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you. 
Dr. Santoro, the last question is for you.  In your testimony, you state that, "Unlike 

conventional military strategy, the top leadership of the Chinese Communist Party never 
delegated authority over nuclear strategy to senior officers of the PLA, and that nuclear strategy 
is controlled directly by the Central Military Commission."  Why do you think this decision was 
made?  And does this mean nuclear strategy is, therefore, divorced from overall  military 
strategy? 

DR. SANTORO:  I think the decision at the time was that nuclear weapons is a special 
category of weapons and it had to be excluded from all other military operations.  It was 
considered to be, like I mentioned, a matter of supreme national policy.  And so, they wanted to, 
the Party basically wanted to retain control of -- 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Tightly controlled? 
DR. SANTORO:  Very tight control.  And to my knowledge, that hasn't changed.  

Nuclear command and control is still managed by the Central Military Commission at the very 
top. 

And as a matter of fact, one of the issues that we have today is, because China developing 
so many platforms, is that going to be maintained?  All the Chinese I've talked to say, yes, it will 
continue to be managed by the Central Military Commission.  It's not going to change.  In fact, it 
might even be reinforced.  And they mention that new technologies might actually help tighten 
control over nuclear weapons.  So, I have my doubts, personally, that this will happen. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  So, nuclear strategy and the military strategy are kind of 
divorced? 

DR. SANTORO:  Right. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much. 
DR. SANTORO:  Sure. 
DR. KARDON:  I just wanted to add to Chris' remarks, to concur that that type of 

counterterrorism operation in SCO countries seems like there would be the least friction for a 
combat out-of-area operation.  And some Chinese legal scholars have been looking around at 
what are the existing authorizations for it, just to add a little bit more color to this. 

And the SCO agreement as well as China's agreement with Russia for temporary status, 
the forces already exist.  And so, you could ask the question of whether it matters, what the 
lawyers think.  We could have a long conversation about that.  But I do think that China is very 
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sensitive to perceptions of it militarizing its foreign policy.  And so, you would look to those 
countries, places, and, frankly, issue areas, particularly counterterrorism in Central Asia, where 
it's not as heavy a lift for them to get there, both in terms of actual lift as well as in domestic 
political terms and international image terms. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Are you saying that the status-of-forces agreements are 
made by China when they are in these ports around the world? 

DR. KARDON:  There are not.  There is one status-of force agreement with Djibouti 
which we have not seen, but which is, reportedly, modeled explicitly on all the others in the area.  
And they even asked the Americans for help with it. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER McDEVITT:  Commissioner Wortzel? 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  Thank you.  I appreciate all of being here and your 

testimony. 
For Dr. Yung, Chris, let me characterize four kinds of expeditionary capabilities.  The 

United States, global, and the full range from humanitarian to warfighting; Soviet, in the '70s and 
maybe into the '80s, which is a little more limited but global, with a robust force backed up 
probably by air and naval power. 

I'd go next to the Brits, capable of something like the Falklands if they needed to, but 
really very limited and very targeted.  And then finally the French, a Mali type thing where if 
they needed to, they could do it and they could go into a contested or medium intensity area. 

So if you look to 2035, what is China going to look like?  And then if I could for Dr. 
Santoro, I think one could argue that this buildup -- and I think 600 is very realistic when you 
look at DF-41s and coming online with ten warheads, some of them with penetration aids -- it's 
still at least limited and, if not, a minimal force because the objective remains not parity, but 
effective deterrence.  And with the amount of defenses that not only the United States but Japan 
are putting in, they need that buildup. 

So I'd invite your comment on that.  And then if you have any thoughts on the same 
question I asked of Dr. Fravel about whether they really understand that some of their deterrence 
mechanisms could be highly escalatory, Chris? 

DR. YUNG:  Okay, so you're asking -- 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  I want you to put on your futures hat. 
DR. YUNG:  You want me to put out my crystal ball.  The problem with the four that 

you gave me is that there's no exact fit.  So instead of saying, oh, it's just going to be just -- first 
of all, I can say right off the bat it's not going to be like a U.S. global, global network of bases, 
alliances, et cetera. 

What you've already heard today is that's a pretty steep hill for them to climb, so I don't 
see that.  Secondly, I think it will be definitely more, there will be more power projection than a 
France type, probably more than an England beyond what the English could put together in a 
Falklands campaign.  In fact, the Chinese have studied very carefully that campaign. 

So what this leaves you with is sort of a Soviet-style model, all right.  Although I'm 
uncomfortable -- so what do we see with the Soviets, right?  They had these sort of loose basing 
arrangements. 

In fact, some really interesting -- actually, one of the first studies we did for NDU were 
like how did the Soviets operate out of area?  And they had these really strange agreements or 
they would have these operations or they'd send some of their logistic forces just outside of the 
territorial waters of some of these countries, et cetera. 
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I would say that it's probably somewhere between a Soviet style expeditionary force and 
the U.S.  That's a pretty wide range.  Let me inset -- it's still a pretty dangerous range. 

But let me describe more about what I would envisage is probably going on in 2035 and 
sort of build the expeditionary force around that versus let's try and jam other countries' models 
into this. 

So, first of all, let's assume that the Taiwan problem is already resolved; that they folded 
Taiwan in and they no longer need to worry about -- and it is a separate problem. 

Now let's assume that they need to continue supporting their out-of-area interests and that 
includes their Belt and Road Initiative countries, their Shanghai Cooperation Organization 
coalition countries, and that they've got interests expanding throughout South Asia, Central Asia 
and into the Middle East. 

So we're talking about a pretty extensive global -- now we're not talking about operations 
in the Mediterranean.  We're not talking about operations in the Atlantic.  But we are talking 
about operations in which they've got an interest in the Indian Ocean. 

They've got interests in South Asia, Central Asia and the Middle East.  And okay, well, 
we can talk about that as well, what the implications are for their moving in the other direction. 

But what that suggests to me is the comment that Isaac made about the land component 
of this, which is it's not entirely going to be a maritime force.  There's going to be the land 
communications part of it and the ground forces, air forces, response, the contingencies along 
their land routes is going to be something that's interesting to watch as well. 

But I would still argue that it's still going to be a commercially-driven network of 
facilities with some limited degree of PLA presence.  Because one thing that we haven't talked 
about already is that there's going to be a demand for PLA or security services to protect Chinese 
interests abroad, and then also to support the countries who are hosting huge amounts of Chinese 
investments in Belt and Road Initiative countries. 

And so, first, you're going to see private contractors coming in providing that, that initial 
security support, and then what -- it's going to be inevitable, in my opinion, that there's going to 
be some limited PLA presence.    And then the need to respond to whatever contingency--
terrorist attack, insurgency--and therefore, you're going to have enough of a PLA capability to 
respond to those types of capabilities. 

So to answer your question, it's not quite the U.S., probably something a little bit more 
than what the Russians have, but something in between.  I don't know exactly, but that's sort of 
the world I envisage in 2035, 2045. 

COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  I would only point out that every train station and 
airport in China has a PLA presence. 

DR. SANTORO:  Thank you for your question. 
    So is 600 still a minimum deterrent?  In theory, yes, because, you know, the 

American and Russian arsenals are considerably bigger.  The problem though is that Americans 
and Russians are going down, Chinese are going up, and 600 is still speculative. 

We don't really know where they're going.  They won't even say how much is enough.  
They just say we want a lean and effective force, and therefore it's troubling.  They're reluctant to 
be transparent.  They're reluctant to even engage in dialogue. 

And my sense -- and that's why in my recent testimony I actually encourage opening 
dialogue with them to at least work out what, you know, how they are, should be thinking about 
the arsenal where they want to go. 

So, in theory, yes, I agree.  But it would be good for them to be more transparent.  And 
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until they are it's going to be very difficult to continue the downward spiral on U.S.-Russian 
arms control. 

So that's -- 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  What is their deterrence? 
DR. SANTORO:  I'm sorry? 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  The deterrence measures, the escalatory nature of their 

deterrence measure. 
DR. SANTORO:  Right, so for your second question, unfortunately they don't seem to be 

worried.  Not only about some steps that they take that would cause escalation, and they're not 
worried about inadvertent escalation that has to do, for instance, with command and control. 

Some of their writing talk about it.  All the Chinese strategists that have I've talked to, 
they tend to refuse to engage on those questions.  And that includes, you know, things like 
commingling and colocation as well as, you know, the emerging sea and air nuclear platforms 
that they're bringing on line. 

Some of them won't even recognize that these platforms are coming on line, so they 
completely dismiss the potential for escalation that this brings and it is troubling. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Thank you. 
Commissioner Kamphausen? 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Thank you all very much.  It's a pleasure to have 

you here.    Quickly, Dr. Kardon, I think we're largely in sync in terms of 
how we see this, but just a couple of factual points.  Was Japan's base in Djibouti, did it precede 
the PLA base?    And then, secondly, you made the point about 70 potential ports 
that might provide access to the PLA Navy.  It wasn't clear from your testimony whether that's 
the universe of BRI projects or is there some more precise way you've measured that? 

DR. KARDON:  So, yes.  The Japanese base predated it.  So the 70 are not potential, 
those are actual commercial facilities in which there is a Chinese state-owned enterprise that 
either has some equity stake or some operating lease.  Whether or not there's PLA access in them 
is not in open sources. 

But one thing, if you don't mind me just taking the opportunity to say, I don't think BRI is 
the right political container for it either.  The ports are in lots of places. 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Don't want to get bogged down with that.  What it 
does -- there is an implication which says we paid maybe too much attention to this concept or 
this idea.  If commerce is the strategy, then we ought to be prepared to think about a potential 
PLA Navy access point at wherever they have a state-owned enterprise. 

Okay, Dr. Santoro, thank you very much.  It's been my understanding at least based on 
open source that the PLA does not exercise integrated conventional nuclear warfighting. 

Can you answer that in the open source whether that is the case or not? 
DR. SANTORO:  Yes.  No, they are not.  They exclude nuclear forces from other forms 

of warfighting. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Thanks.  This has implications both for escalation 

control that Dr. Wortzel was talking about, but I think it also should inform our own thinking 
about potential future conflicts in areas with the Chinese. 

All right, leaving the bulk of my time for Dr. Yung. 
Chris, you asked me to ask hard questions.  I'm perplexed by your written statement 

because you said expeditionary operations could be all of these things and then you spent the 
bulk of your time talking about the Taiwan scenario which is a very conventional expeditionary 
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operation, at least it seemed that way to me in your prepared testimony. 
Is that the test case for whether the PLA sees itself as a world-class military by mid-

century?  And then there's a follow-up that really pertains to U.S. policy, but go ahead. 
DR. YUNG:  So I didn't think my written testimony focused on Taiwan.  I thought it was 

important to touch on it because it would have been -- if I had done nothing about -- and, 
actually, my first draft didn't even talk about Taiwan, and I said the commissioner is going to say 
what the heck? 

The most important mission for the PLA is regime survival and making sure Taiwan does 
not go off the reservation.  Therefore, they have to have been obsessed with thinking about 
keeping Taiwan in the fold, which implies obsession with Taiwan as an expeditionary mission. 

So, first point.  And then your second question, is that the measure upon which the PLA 
will consider itself a world-class military force and my answer is no.  Because like I said in my 
testimony, I think the PLA has the capability to do it now. 

It's still -- there's still some things that would make it not a fait accompli, but the 
capability is there to just sort of -- if the PLA is perfectly willing to eat the political costs, the 
high casualties and the disregard for the effect on the economy, then go to town.  That is not a 
world-class military. 

So, first, the PLA is thinking about this is probably not that Taiwan serves as the measure 
of what a world-class military -- so in other words, if Xi Jinping -- if you're trying to read 
between the lines what was Xi Jinping talking about when he gave that speech at the Party 
congress, he was probably not saying we want a world-class military to finally resolve the 
Taiwan issue.  Although that's probably one of the things they want to do, he's thinking, I think, 
much more expansively. 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Okay.  Then at what point did it become the case 
that if the PLA were willing to expend all the costs that they could have done it?  I mean that's 
not a new development.  It's not a capabilities set of developments, right? 

DR. YUNG:  Right. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  I mean that could have been the case at some point 

-- 
DR. YUNG:  Yeah. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  -- in the past. 
DR. YUNG:  So repeat the question.  I want to make sure I answer the right question. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  That's more of rhetorical question. 
DR. YUNG:  Yeah. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  So the other thing I wanted to really get to with 

you is in our first panel this morning, the executive, the administration presenters talked about 
near peer competitor status. 

DR. YUNG:  Right. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Our second panel said it's really, it's maybe the 

wrong metric by which we should judge Chinese modernization at least based on their own terms 
and definitions. 

How have you thought about reconciling this, what the PLA sees as its own aspirations 
and what we, USG, DOD, see as an imperative to characterize -- 

DR. YUNG:  Okay.  So having been in this business a while and worked with some of 
you gentlemen for quite a while, I find the near peer competitor a useful tool because it allows 
you to measure who your competitors are, and therefore you can -- so let's put it this way. 
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I teach at a professional military education institution and those military officers at every 
level know who the, quote unquote, is and this is the new term, facing threat, all right, who to 
watch for.  And so, those officers now are saying how do we compare in terms of personnel?  
How do we compare in terms of military platforms? 

So it does provide a useful tool in that if this is the country that you can expect to be our 
major competitor, not necessarily your adversary or the country you're going to be at war with, 
but this is a country that the Department of Defense is declaring you need to pay attention to, I 
think a near-peer competitor is a useful analytical tool to help focus on the attention on what 
needs to be examined. 

So that's the first part of the answer.  Now does it conflict -- now that's the DOD strategist 
in me talking.  Now the sinologist inside of me is saying, all right, now does that help in terms of 
what the PLA's doing and how to measure progress? 

And that's where your second panel were wrestling with that because what you're going 
to see, is you're going to see them, themselves, wrestling with how to then measure a world-class 
military. 

Some of what the PLA is saying or thinking about is measuring against the United States, 
no question.  I mean just look at the way they copy the United States in certain types of 
operations. 

The fact that they look at an aircraft carrier and you look at how they run a flight deck, so 
that tells me that maybe they're not writing about it, but they're certainly observing and 
comparing their actions, what needs to be done with what we're doing. 

So I would say that near peer competitor serves as a useful tool to sort of measure, put 
things into context.  I would say that in terms of what the Chinese view of what a world-class 
military is, is part of the answer because they are certainly looking at our actions. 

But you can't divorce that from the strategic objectives they're trying to accomplish and 
that may not have nothing to do with the comparison with the United States. 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Yeah, okay.  Just one last point if I can? 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Okay, we're -- go ahead.  A quick answer, quick 

question. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  It's not a question, really, but can we ask you to 

follow up with some of what the metrics would be to making a judgment about near peer 
competitor status?  Not to answer now, but in follow-up.  Thanks. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Oh.  Commissioner Wessel. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Thank you, gentlemen.  I also share my accolades with 

your work and that of the other panelists earlier today, so thank you.  A couple of questions.   
 Several of you have talked about the knowledge shortfall.  And we held a hearing 
earlier this year looking at China-Soviet relations, so wondering if you can give us some 
thoughts there. 

It seems that the relationship is somewhat built on desperation and weakness.  
Desperation and weakness from Russia's side both on wanting to have a confluence of interests 
to respond to the U.S. as well as economic weakness and desire for Chinese investment, Chinese 
arm, you know, purchases of arms, et cetera. 

On the Chinese side, and we are a U.S.-China Commission, it appears that China both 
wants of course some of those armaments where it has limitations--capabilities, R&D, et cetera--
as well as it's hoping through certain joint exercises to gain the knowledge to fill some gaps that 
exist. 
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Although everything I've seen, Vostok and all the other exercises, seem to show very 
limited benefit from the joint exercises.  Can you provide some thoughts on what is coming out 
of that as it relates to the modernization issues? 

Is the relationship one that's providing anything more than some jet engines and some 
other technologies and very little on jointness, command, control, et cetera? 

And, Dr. Yung, if you'd like to start. 
DR. YUNG:  I have been a Russia-China skeptic from the beginning.  This isn't to say 

that there's some utility.  There's definite strategic utility.  There's a strategic utility on China's 
part in aligning with a country that is a challenge to the United States, so, first of all. 

So if China sees itself as a global competitor with the United States, it sees itself as 
benefitting from a soft alignment with Russia.  You see that in U.N. Security Council voting 
patterns.  You see it in China with no real tangible interest in Syria of aligning with the Russians 
to help Russian interests in the Middle East.  It's a you scratch my back, I scratch yours. 

There's definitely an economic component to the relationship as you've alluded to.  The 
Chinese do need some of Russia's weapons system and platforms.  The Russians -- and the gas, 
natural gas that the Russians have to offer.    So I would say that there is a 
complementary relationship that exists, but it has its limitations.  The Russians are still paranoid 
about Chinese potential encroachment upon Russian territory in their east, in their Pacific area. 

And then in addition, here's another interesting wrinkle from this.  China's action in the 
Belt and Road Initiative which encroach upon a number of -- it's not only encroaching upon U.S. 
view -- U.S. interests globally, it's also encroaching upon regional hegemons. 

And so, who happens to be the regional hegemon dominating the Central Asia area, the 
Russians.  So, initially, I was getting reports that the Russians seem to be okay with this, but not 
recently. 

Recently, Putin has been a little unhappy in insisting that Belt and Road have more 
benefits to the union that he's trying to create in the Eurasian land mass.  So I would say that 
there are limitations to how far the Russia-China relationship can go.  I would go -- it is far from 
an alliance. 

And then to answer directly your question, the interoperability benefits from those 
exercises, in my opinion, are minimal.  That is, it's more of a show of solidarity.  It's a show of 
minimal interoperability.  It shows that there's an alternative to NATO and Western security 
architecture. 

But I haven't seen any real hard evidence of close interoperability, joint operations, joint 
planning, any of that.  I've not seen that yet. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Okay.  Any other quick thoughts? 
DR. KARDON:  Sure.  I'd just pick up on where Chris left off on suggesting there are 

limitations in how far we'll go and it's far from alliance. 
It's a similar analytical issue with the bases, places, ports question.  If what you're looking 

for is China and Russia becoming treaty allies with a mutual defense commitment, that is not 
happening and so you can look around for all the reasons why that is. 

But what we do see, you know, you can come up with whatever terminology you want to 
call it in terms of their relationship, but it does have strategic effects.  It doesn't take that much 
coordination, which would be short of cooperation, it doesn't take that much coordination in the 
event of an actual military contingency for this to pose extremely severe challenges to the U.S. 
military. 

And as far as broader geopolitics, they don't need to cooperate that much to frustrate a lot 
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of American efforts, and certainly the U.N. Security Council is structured that way. 
So, you know, I would push back against the idea that it is a relationship built on 

desperation and weakness.  I think they are both proud, sovereign nations that think they're 
acting in their best interests and they are, you know, especially Russia, facing major deficits and 
asymmetries and they are sort of using the resources that they have. 

And I think levering up on Chinese economic power and increasingly military power is 
quite an effective strategy, and so I would not dismiss it as meaningless just because they're 
going to continue to have issues with one another. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Well, I didn't say it was meaningless. 
DR. KARDON:  Right.  Sure, but I also think that there's a tendency to overplay the 

degree to which they cannot get along. 
Yes, it's, I'm sure, the case that there's not a lot of love lost on a lot of issues, but the 

Chinese in particular assess the Sino-Soviet split to have been a grave strategic error.  They're 
acutely aware of it.  They are not intending at least to do that again, and I believe the Russians 
think of it similarly. 

And I would push back also on the idea that there's a knowledge deficit.  There may be in 
this room.  I'm certainly not a China-Russia specialist, but I think there is certainly quite a lot of 
Russia expertise around. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  No, no.  The knowledge was that the warfighter, the 
jointness, et cetera.  It was not -- 

DR. KARDON:  Sure.  Okay, fair enough.    But -- so on that question I think 
there is quite a lot of good work on Russia and on China and on the two of them together. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  No, no.  That I understand, thank you. 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Commissioner Bartholomew? 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you.    Thank you, gentlemen, for 

your interesting testimony. 
Dr. Kardon, I want to go back to this issue of sort of ports, because it keeps coming up, 

and I feel like in some ways there's been a difference between what you've been saying and what 
you wrote. 

It sort of comes across in the answers to the questions that some of these things are things 
that should not be so much of a concern to us.  But as I look at your testimony, this whole 
strongpoints concept means that the issues are there, they're just being thought about differently.  
Is that correct? 

DR. KARDON:  I am not sure I understand exactly.  I think I've spoken consistently with 
what I've written and I'm happy to explore any aspect of that for you. 

Is there a particular -- 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  No.  I guess I just again have the feeling that we 

might come away thinking that this concern about ports and how China might use them is 
overplayed.  And there are a couple of issues related to that that I would like to raise specifically. 

One is, you say that commerce is strategy, right, commercial is strategic, which raises the 
very real possibility that ports that are being run by Chinese companies, state-owned enterprises, 
could engage in economic warfare, right, which is they could block U.S. flagged ships from 
coming in. 

They could raise the fees for ships that are carrying American goods coming in.  We've 
seen that kind of use of economics as a way to send a message.  So I wonder if you could -- I 
mean, do you think that that's a possibility that that's going to happen?  That's one piece of it.   
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 And then, also, you say specifically that commercial operations provide some strong 
arguments against utilizing overseas ports for clandestine intelligence and military operations.   
 And I guess what surprises me there is, I'm just presuming that everybody presumes that 
there's being espionage being done where the Chinese have these facilities.  So, you know, it 
would be shocking if people were shocked that that was actually taking place. 

And also, in some of this you talk about it risking diplomatic relationships.  But in some 
of these countries where they are, there's both either a debt burden, which we'll call -- which 
provides leverage for the Chinese, or there's corruption; that payments have been made to the 
leaders of those countries. 

And so, I'm just not as convinced as you are that it would endanger diplomatic 
relationships if they did spying in these places or used them to the advantage of Chinese 
companies.  I guess that's more of a statement than a question, but I'd like to hear your response. 

DR. KARDON:  Sure.  Thank you, Commissioner Bartholomew.  I'll take them in 
sequence. 

And so, I would not characterize what I've said as being the port question is overplayed 
or is not significant, far from it.  What's overplayed is the expectation that they are all on their 
way to becoming military bases.    And what I'm arguing for is that we should look at 
what they are now and what they could plausibly be in a reasonable time frame under conditions, 
known conditions, and that the commercial functions, we should not be sleeping on those 
commercial functions, and I'll get to that. 

It's, you know, I don't think that there's going to be high-end PLA use of these facilities, 
and if that's what you're looking out for you're going to be very disappointed. 

So your question about economic warfare, I would say economic coercion is part of the 
tactical package that the POC has been using in a lot of different domains.  I don't have any 
evidence that they've done any of the specific things that you've noted, but it's certainly 
plausible. 

And then the question, then it would verge on economic warfare if, for example, China 
Merchant's ports were to start doing that systematically because American cargoes are a big part 
of their revenue and so there would be some retaliation, and that actually would be, that would 
be a different type of escalation, but you could imagine that leading to extreme commercial 
tensions. 

We're certainly in the midst of unprecedentedly extreme commercial tensions now, and 
so I certainly wouldn't rule it out.  But I think that there's a high threshold for doing that and that 
would come along with other sort of much more aggressive foreign policy.  So I don't think that's 
the leading edge, but plausible. 

On espionage, look, we don't know -- my understanding is that everybody does it and 
you're just not supposed to get caught and I think that the Chinese would probably adhere to that 
norm.  And what I'm trying to emphasize is that if they were to really do that at scale and get 
caught, that would be toxic for the brand of BRI. 

If -- and, you know, leaving aside whether or not there is corruption or some complicity 
among the local port operators or even the local national government, what I'm talking about is 
it's not in Beijing's interest. 

And again, this doesn't mean that they wouldn't do it, but I think they probably wouldn't 
and shouldn't do it.  It is not in Beijing's interest for the brand of BRI to be these are all fronts for 
the PLA, they're sending intelligence and military personnel disguised as longshoremen to your 
facilities. 
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Again, it doesn't rule out the possibility they do it, but I think if they do it, they should do 
it with a very light footprint and at a small scale to support something other than major combat 
operations, but to do things more like the commercial espionage that we see kind of distributed 
across the board. 

So, yeah, again, I would not downplay the importance of risking diplomatic relations.  
I'm talking about a big structural issue.  China's Xi Jinping cares a lot about the Belt and Road 
and about China's commercial success.  The Party's legitimacy, the Party's capacity to stay in 
power depends in large part, certainly not the only consideration, on its economic success and its 
economic success depends in large part on its performance overseas. 

And so, I think the opportunity cost again of abandoning that strategy is extremely high 
and will continue for the foreseeable future to be a very strong break on overtly militarizing any 
of these facilities. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  And I think the distinction, of course, is when you're 
talking about overtly militarizing versus the potential of these places being used -- 

DR. KARDON:  Don't get caught, but that's -- 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  But no, I wasn't even just thinking about espionage, 

which of course don't get caught is a really good rule.  But the ability in the event of a conflict, 
right?  I mean China's COSCO shipping company is what, the fourth largest freight carrying 
company in the world.  It is an SOE.  It could be mobilized in the event of a conflict to move 
freight, to move things, and having friends and people in these ports could facilitate things, right. 

So that's short of.  That's not saying that they're going to have military bases in all of 
them, but it is acknowledging that there are potential uses by the military. 

DR. KARDON:  There is no doubt that their potential uses, and I think we talked about 
this earlier, so, you know, commercial logistics, civilian logistics is a huge force multiplier.  It's 
extremely important and the U.S. Navy relies on a lot of commercial logistics. 

And to the extent that China now has this in a vertically integrated firm that is not 
operated or managed by the state but it is part of a broader organism that responds to the state, 
yes, it is no doubt giving them a variety of marginal advantages in moving supplies around the 
globe and in additionally knowing where other supplies are going that they're handling with their 
shipping line. 

So not trivial, but again, you know, I think if they were to start moving nuclear warheads 
around and trying to stage them in these ports, we would know about it and it would be 
extremely costly for them, so they don't want to do that.  What they would do is lightly flow 
supplies that support these lower-intensity PLA operations overseas. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Well, we have about five minutes left for this panel 

and I have one -- 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Sorry. 
Mr. Chairman, I have to say that my colleague here has just pulled up a story from the 

South China Morning Post, the headline of which is, "U.S. security concerns force COSCO-
owned Orient Overseas to sell Long Beach port in California."  Timely. 

PARTICIPANT:  This was a little while ago. 
PARTICIPANT:  This has been going on some time, yeah. 
DR. KARDON:  That's right.  CFIUS insisted that when COSCO acquired, I believe it 

was -- yeah, Overseas Orient commercial liner, that they sell that as a condition for the 
acquisition. 
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COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Right. 
DR. KARDON:  But they also acquired stakes in other U.S. ports in that same deal. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Including Tampa, I believe. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  And Israel. 
DR. KARDON: Haifa and another port in Israel are under contracts and are not being 

operated yet.  I know the U.S. Senate in particular has taken up the issue of Haifa because the 
U.S. Navy operates there.  And I think they haven't finalized the decision on whether or not 
Shanghai International Ports Group is going to hold that lease. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  And I apologize since I got the testimony.  Do you have 
the list of the 70 ports in your testimony?  I don't -- 

DR. KARDON:  The testimony does not include the database because it is a work in 
progress, but I assure you it will be available to the Commission once it has been -- 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  That would be great. 
DR. KARDON:  -- fact-checked and quality controlled. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  It may be helpful to our report, so thank you. 
PARTICIPANT:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Okay, three minutes left.  I'm going to ask David one 

last question because I had it on my list and when he talked about command and control of the 
nuclear system. 

So I want to know what you know or have surmised about command and control for 
China's SSBN fleet.  How are they dealing with that? 

DR. SANTORO:  It's going to be very short.  I don't know anything, and no one does.  
Unfortunately, every time we meet with Chinese colleague we ask, you know, how they think 
about it, how -- will the Rocket Force have a role with the PLA Navy; is the PLA Navy going to 
be alone.  And we get no answer.  So, unfortunately, I can't answer your question. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  I know you can't answer it, but what are your 
suspicions? 

DR. SANTORO:  You know, my guess is that I think the PLA Navy will operate those 
platforms alone and that they will develop nuclear knowledge and capabilities to do so.  It's 
unclear to me that the Rocket Force will have a role because they're two very distinct platforms, 
but I really don't know. 

COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  Well, let's follow it up.  What will -- 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Larry, use your mic. 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  In other words, will the CMC still have an authorization 

as relates --- 
DR. SANTORO:  And this has been actually one of the key questions because it actually 

relates to command and control.  Is that still going to be centralized given that the developing 
and bringing online, so different platforms, how do you do command and control in those 
conditions? 

And again, unfortunately, we get no answers.  And we keep asking and asking, but, you 
know, it remains unclear. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Let me thank all three of you for a very stimulating 
panel, particularly after lunch.  I thought you all three did a terrific job keeping us alert and 
engaged, and educated.  So thanks a lot, and if you have any additional thoughts that you'd like 
to submit for the record, please forward them and we will make sure that they're included. 

I think we have a ten-minute break now.  We'll recommence at 20 minutes past 3:00 for 
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our final panel.  And I see we have our two panelists here. 
(Whereupon, the above-entitled matter went off the record at 3:09 p.m. and resumed at 

3:21 p.m.) 
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PANEL IV INTRODUCTION BY COMMISSIONER LEWIS 
 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Good afternoon, everybody.  Our final panel which is 
composed of former senior U.S. officials will address the implications of Beijing's military 
ambitions for the United States and U.S. allies and partners in the Indo-Pacific and beyond, as 
well as recommendations for U.S. response. 

First, we have Thomas Mahnken, President and Chief Executive Officer at the Center for 
Strategic and Budgetary Assessments.  He's also a Senior Research Professor at Johns Hopkins 
University, Paul Nitze School of Advanced International Studies, and serves as a member of the 
congressionally-mandated National Defense Strategy Commission as a member of the board of 
visitors at Marine Corps University. 

Dr. Mahnken's previous government career includes service as Deputy Assistant 
Secretary of Defense to Policy Planning from 2006 to 2009 where he helped craft the 2006 
Quadrennial Defense Review and 2008 National Defense Strategy. 

He's the author of a number of publications on Asian security issues including the 
Gathering Pacific Storm: Emerging U.S.-China Strategic Competition in Defense Technological 
and Industrial Development.  That's a long title for a book.  He also served for 24 years as an 
officer in the U.S. Navy Reserve.  He holds a B.A. from the University of Southern California, 
an M.A. and Ph.D. from SAIS. 

Thank you very much.  Why don't you please start? 



 
 
 

Back to Table of Contents 

OPENING STATEMENT OF THOMAS G. MAHNKEN, PH.D., PRESIDENT AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CENTER FOR STRATEGIC AND BUDGETARY 
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DR. MAHNKEN:  Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today to discuss 
the implications of a world-class Chinese military for the United States and our allies and 
partners.  I think it's a very real human tendency when we look at -- 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  I'm going to check the sound here. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  Yes. There we go.  Sounds good.  Okay.  Thank you again.  It's still a 

pleasure to be here. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  We won't count that time.  Let's start the time over again. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  There we go.  There we go.  It'll be soccer time. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  I learned that from basketball.  He gets his time back. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  There we go, thank you. 
Look, it's a very real human tendency when we think about the present, we cannot help 

but be informed by the past.  And oftentimes that is useful, but sometimes, particularly when 
you're talking about a rising or emerging power, that past can blind us to the present and 
potentially the future. 

And I would say bureaucracies even more than individual human beings tend to lag that 
changing reality.  So that's really where I want to focus my remarks, because gone are the days 
when China posed solely a regional challenge to the United States and its allies, confined to the 
Western Pacific.  It now poses a global challenge to world order. 

And China is seeking not only to exert influence in the Asia Pacific region, but across the 
globe.  Indeed, Beijing is increasingly exerting its political, economic and military influence to 
coerce U.S. allies and partners to contest international law and freedom of navigation in crucial 
waterways such as the South China Sea, to weaken the U.S. position across the globe, and 
otherwise seek a position of geopolitical dominance from the Western Pacific to the Indian 
Ocean and influence beyond that.    Gone also are the days when the military challenge 
posed by China was confined to the U.S. Indo-Pacific commands area of operations.  Rather, 
China poses a challenge, a political, economic and military challenge that crosses the boundaries 
of the Defense Department's geographic combatant commands and the State Department's 
regional bureaus. 

And here I would actually, I would resort to history.  It's worth noting that throughout the 
Cold War there was no single office.  There was no Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense, for 
example, for the Soviet Union.  Why? 

Well, it was because the U.S.-Soviet competition suffused our relationship and, really, if 
you will, every Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense or Deputy Assistant Secretary of State or 
leader in the U.S. Agency for International Development or leader in the U.S. Information 
Agency, they saw the U.S.-Soviet competition as being their job. 

Now I'm not saying this to predict a new Cold War, but merely to say one of the major 
implications of China's growth as a world-class military is that the China challenge has grown far 
beyond the geographic boundaries of the Western Pacific and far beyond the bureaucratic 
boundaries in Washington, D.C. 

Now let me focus for the remainder of my time on the military dimension of it, although 
happy to take the discussion wherever you would like afterwards.  Heretofore, China's military 
modernization has been driven in large measure by a set of perceived challenges, strategic and 
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operational challenges, and a set of strategic and operational challenges that the Chinese 
leadership has seen really largely coming from us. 

And these include the perceived need to counter the attractiveness of democracy and the 
threat that it poses to the Chinese Communist Party, the pervasiveness of Western media and 
again the threat, or the perceived threat that it poses to the CCP's leadership, and the dominance 
of existing ways of war to include the U.S. style of power projection. 

China has been innovating to solve these challenges for years and even decades, and has 
in the process developed new ways of war that range from so-called anti-access area denial, or in 
Chinese parlance, counter intervention capabilities, to so-called gray zone warfare.   
 Now China has also invested in a series of capabilities designed to demonstrate that 
China possesses a top tier military.  China has been and Beijing's been investing in coins of the 
realm, right, and that's actually lead to, I think, some interesting tensions. 

I mean thus, the PLA has not only built a formidable force to counter U.S. power 
projection capabilities including aircraft carriers, but has also pursued power projection 
capabilities including aircraft carriers of its own.  China is not only developing and fielding a 
suite of anti-satellite weapons, but is also lofting an ever-larger constellation of military satellites 
of its own. 

And as China continues to become a world-class military, I would expect that to 
continue.  China's drive to become a world-class military has also threatened the qualitative 
superiority of the U.S. armed forces, something that we've long taken for granted. 

To date, China's been most successful in innovating in a limited set of areas, particularly 
missile and space areas.  However, Beijing is devoting considerable resources to spur innovation 
in emerging areas as a way of stealing a march or re-leveling the playing field. 

So for the United States, dealing with that challenge is already important and I think it's 
going to become even more important as we move into the future.  The U.S. Government needs 
to ensure that it has the ability to harvest the fruits of private sector innovation for national 
defense and to safeguard the national security innovation base against malign foreign influence, 
and doing so will be vital to maintaining or qualitative edge into the future. 

Beyond that, beyond our technological edge and beyond just the need for defense 
spending, developing innovative operational concepts and fielding new organizations and 
capabilities to overcome the challenges posed by China should become an urgent focus of the 
Defense Department. 

In an era of constrained resources, those concepts and capabilities that offer the greatest 
strategic and operational leverage should receive preferential funding over those that don't.  And 
I believe the defense leaders really do need to take an active role and Congress has a role to play 
in sparking the development of innovative operational concepts by requiring and funding 
experiments and demonstrations and demanding realistic assessments of them. 

I have more thoughts, but I know I have limited time.  These thoughts are in my written 
statement, but certainly look forward to greater discussion of those as we move forward. 
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COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you for being within the time limit.  Thank you. 
Finally, we'll hear from Abraham Denmark, Director of the Asia Program at the 

Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars.  He's also a Senior Fellow at the Center's 
Kissinger Institute on China and the United States and an adjunct Associate Professor at the 
Edmund Walsh School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University. 

Mr. Denmark previously served as Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense for East Asia 
and is the author of the forthcoming book, "Engineering Allies: A Strategy Empowering Allies, 
A Strategy for a New Era in the Indo-Pacific."  Mr. Denmark holds an M.A. in International 
Security from the Josef Korbel School of International Studies at the University of Denver, and 
received a B.A. in History with Honors from the University of Northern Colorado and has also 
studied at Peking University. 

Thank you to our esteemed witnesses for your participation. 
How long were you at Colorado? 
MR. DENMARK:  In Colorado, I grew up there.  I was there about 23 years. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  I see.  Your time, thank you. 
MR. DENMARK:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, 

Commissioners, for having me here.  It's always a pleasure to testify before your Commission 
and a pleasure to be able to talk about our allies and partners, see China's military ambitions to 
field a world-class military. 

Off the top, I'd like to say that my testimony today reflects my views alone, not those of 
the U.S. Government or of the Wilson Center. 

In my written testimony, I offered some general observations about the geopolitical 
context of this subject.  Because of my limited time I'll refrain from detailing them here, but I 
would encourage you take a look at them as they are, I think, critical to understanding how our 
allies and partners view China's military modernization from a perspective that's beyond the 
military. 

But broadly speaking, across the Indo-Pacific and especially in East Asia, China's 
military modernization and Beijing's expanding strategic ambitions are a source of concern.  
While countries have welcomed China's prosperity and have sought to benefit from it, many 
have grown increasingly concerned about the scope and pace of China's military modernization 
and how Beijing may seek to militarize its newfound military might. 

Speaking at the 2019 Shangri-La Dialogue, Singapore's Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong 
gave voice to the concerns that I believe are held by many across the region, and I will quote 
what he said. 

"Now that China is a major power with the second largest defense budget in the world, its 
words and actions are seen differently.  To protect its territories and trade routes, it is natural that 
China would want to develop modern and capable armed forces and aspire to become not just a 
continental power but also a maritime power. 

"At the same time, to grow its international influence beyond hard power, military 
strength, China needs to wield this strength with restraint and legitimacy." 

So I have three observations about how our allies and partners view China's military 
modernization ambitions.  First, U.S. allies and partners are broadly concerned that they see 
China as making progress in its ambition to acquire the ability to undermine the effectiveness of 
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an armed U.S. intervention in a China-related contingency by building military capabilities to 
degrade core U.S. operational and technological advantages. 

This trend is especially worrying for those countries that have heated disputes with China 
and also rely on the United States for their security. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Like which countries? 
MR. DENMARK:  I'd say countries like Japan, Taiwan, Philippines, Australia even, 

under all concerned. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  And Korea. 
MR. DENMARK:  Korea to a lesser degree in that China is not at the height of their 

security concerns, quite obviously, but they do watch these trends quite closely. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you.  Thank you. 
MR. DENMARK:  Of course. 
Second, as China's military capabilities continue to improve, U.S. allies and partners are 

concerned that the PLA is growing increasingly capable of asserting China's interests and claims 
responding to crises in the Taiwan Strait, in disputed claims in the East and South China Seas, 
along China's border with India and on the Korean Peninsula. 

Even for those allies and partners without a specific dispute with China, most are deeply 
concerned about China's regional assertiveness and how these disputes may impact regional 
stability in the course of China's rise.    Third, U.S. allies and partners are also 
concerned about China's expanding international interest in global footprint as driving a range of 
missions beyond China's periphery including power projection and sea lane security. 

For countries further afield from the Chinese mainland, China's expanding military 
interests and capabilities are uniquely troubling, but in some cases are also seen as a positive and 
beneficial development. 

For countries less concerned about China's strategic ambitions, China is seen as a 
potential partner for providing humanitarian and disaster relief, military assistance and 
potentially domestic security support. 

For most African and Latin American countries, for example, China's military 
modernization represents little more than an additional potential benefit building off of 
opportunities of Chinese trade, investment and infrastructure assistance. 

Europe, however, is a different matter.  For Europe's larger nations, especially France and 
the United Kingdom, China's military modernization and concerns about potential Chinese 
revisionism have recently drawn renewed attention to China as a geopolitical and security 
challenge.  It is clear that Europe's major powers have deep concerns about China's ambitions 
and its approach to the liberal international order and see a role for themselves in responding. 

For the United States to successfully compete with China and to sustain a robust and 
successful liberal international order, U.S. allies and partners will be critical to U.S. foreign 
policy. 

Not only do they facilitate American military presence and access around the world, but 
they are also vital partners to advancing shared interests and addressing mutual challenges.  The 
U.S. should treat its allies for what they are, tremendous geopolitical assets and a critical source 
of American power, access and influence. 

To these ends, I have five recommendations of how the U.S. can engage its partners and 
allies in response to China's ambitions to develop and field a world-class military.  And due to 
time constraints, I'll roll through them rather quickly. 

First is to avoid a false and unnecessary choice, and some in the United States 
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Government have sought to force U.S. allies and partners, reportedly, to choose between the 
United States and China. 

Being forced to choose between these two countries, in many cases their top trade partner 
and their top security partner, is a strategic nightmare for many of our allies and partners. 
Moreover, I believe it is an unnecessary choice at this juncture.  We should be engaging with our 
allies and partners and working with them to develop common strategies against common 
challenges. 

Two, to empower U.S. allies and partners.  There are substantial opportunities for the 
United States to build the capabilities of its allies and partners across the Indo-Pacific and 
empower them to defend themselves from potential Chinese aggression and contribute more to 
the health and success of a liberal international order. 

At the most fundamental level, the United States should work with its allies and partners 
to ensure that each country in the Indo-Pacific has the ability to peacefully pursue its interests 
and defend its sovereignty free from Chinese military coercion. 

Three, invest in American military advantages in the Indo-Pacific and beyond.  I won't 
get into the specifics of that for time.     

Four, reduce the PLA's options to expand by working to limit the options Beijing has to 
build new military facilities abroad.     

And, finally, five, to continue to adjust U.S. defense posture in the Indo-Pacific.  And to 
accomplish this goal, the U.S. would need strong collaborative relationships with allies and 
partners across the various government departments and especially between countries' leaders. 

So in conclusion, Mr. Chairman, while the PLA one day may achieve Xi Jinping's vision 
of building a world-class military, the United States has the opportunity to maintain and even 
expand its military advantages.  To stay ahead, we must be focused on our investments and 
policy decision-making and prioritize strategic competition with China above other less 
significant long-term challenges. 

And I look forward to your questions.  Thank you very much. 
  



 
 
 

Back to Table of Contents 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ABRAHAM M. DENMARK, DIRECTOR, ASIA 
PROGRAM, WOODROW WILSON INTERNATIONAL CENTER FOR SCHOLARS 

 

























 
 
 

Back to Table of Contents 

PANEL IV QUESTION AND ANSWER 
 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much.  You ended up exactly on time.  
Thank you. 

Admiral McDevitt? 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Today, I learned that the latest Department of Defense 

Indo-Pacific strategy that came out -- which I admittedly have not yet read, I've downloaded it 
but not yet read it -- made the assertion that China seeks to be the predominant military power in 
the Indo-Pacific. 

For many -- for some time now, I and among many others have been aware of the 
Chinese ambition to be the predominant force in East Asia, but this strategy is the first indication 
that their ambitions for predominance have stretched into the Indian Ocean all the way to include 
India itself and perhaps all of the Indian Ocean. 

In previous testimony, some, a number of individuals, I asked if there was any analytic 
basis that they were aware of to inform this discussion and they were not aware.  Nonetheless, 
since the purpose of this panel is intended to try to what I have called define the size or define 
what the bread box of world-class military would look like, it occurs to me that if, in fact, China 
could be the predominant power in the Indo-Pacific, not counting the Mediterranean or the 
Atlantic or what have you, that would be the equivalent of being a world-class military. 

So the question I pose to you, first of all, in your research and your work in open source 
information and what have you, have you found any indication that suggests that this is an 
ambition that the PLA has? 

And, secondly, even if it's not, would you agree that if, in fact, it could be the 
predominant power in the Indo-Pacific that would be the equivalent of being a world-class 
military? 

DR. MAHNKEN:  So on the first point, I don't claim expertise as a sinologist.  But I 
would say that, you know, the Chinese doctrinal publications that I've read, you know, they talk 
about a pretty ambitious vision, you know, for the PLA. 

And I think we also have seen a track record where past doctrinal publications really 
have, you know, shown the path that we now know that the PLA took, right.  So, and that's a 
vision that includes naval power projection that includes long-range aviation, so that's the first 
thing I would say. 

Second, I think, you know, what would -- how would I answer that question, right?  And 
I think some of the difficulty I have answering that question goes back to my opening statement, 
which is merely thinking about Chinese military power within a particular geographic frame, 
whether it's the Western Pacific or the Asia Pacific or the Indo-Asia-Pacific, only captures some 
elements of it. 

So if I was trying to attack this problem, what would I be looking at?  I'd be looking at 
the size.  I'd be looking at the deployment patterns of the PLA Navy.  That's probably the most 
clear cut one, right. 

And are they seeking preponderance and predominance relative not just to the U.S. Navy 
but also, say, the Indian Navy, the Royal Australian Navy, I'd be looking at that. 

In terms of air capabilities, right, I'd be looking at the air patterns of operations.  But then, 
even then I'd be looking at the Rocket Forces.  I'd be looking at missile deployments, not only in 
Asia but also in South Asia. 

But even that would only partially capture this, right, because I think so much of what the 
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PLA is doing is truly global, whether we think about cyber, whether we think about space.  And 
that's part of -- and that even leaves aside a growing basing network and various other, you 
know, political influence, economic statecraft.    So that's why I guess, just personally 
I think that just trying to encompass the PLA's military activity within a frame, bigger, smaller, is 
only capturing part of it. 

But I do agree with your second point that if we're looking for a surrogate that's probably 
a reasonable surrogate.  If you can dominate over the United States and India, you know, that 
would be pretty powerful. 

MR. DENMARK:  Yeah, I agree with Dr. Mahnken.  I think that we need to be careful.  
Just all I'd add is, I think we need to be careful about applying our own frames to this in that I 
have not seen credible, open sources about the Chinese military talking about dominance the way 
that American military analysts talk about dominance over a particular geographic area.   
 That much more of the writing from the PLA talks about achieving specific missions in 
a specific context in terms of sea lane, protecting sea lanes of communication, being able to 
project power into certain places, to defend Chinese interests in certain areas, less about a 
general sense of peacetime dominance the way we talk about it. 

But I do think as Dr. Mahnken said that if China does seek to be able to defend its sea 
lanes in the Indian Ocean up to the Middle East from the American Navy, from the Indian Navy, 
from any other navy that it may come into contact with, at some point, yes, that does require a 
world-class military that is second to none.  But I think they're a long way from where they are 
from where they need to be able to get together. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  So you're saying then you don't have to be dominant to be a 
world-class military? 

MR. DENMARK:  I would say that you don't have to be a world class military in order to 
achieve your objectives in a specific geography in a specific set of time. 

And this goes back to other writings going back several years where China does not need 
to even be able to equal American military power in specific contingencies in order to cause 
trouble, in order to cause problems for the American military.  And of course, it's easier for them 
closer to home.  It gets harder for them as they get further away. 

But they do not need to be equal with us in order to be able to achieve some of their 
objectives and at some point become dominant in a specific area. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Mr. Kamphausen, he has to leave at 4 o'clock. 
 COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Thank you both.  You're both scholars and 
students of these important issues and have served in policy positions, responsible policy 
positions in the Office of the Secretary of Defense. 

So, I think you have a unique perspective to reflect on this question.  My fellow 
Commissioners may get tired of my broken record on this point, but it's about the nexus of 
world-class military and near peer competitor. 

And, I'm sorry, but these guys can answer this -- can address this in unique ways, I think. 
First of all, world-class military is a Chinese term for itself, not further defined by Xi 

Jinping.  And, according to Dr. Fravel on panel two, is of diminishing use since 2017. 
And, in fact, the commentary, the PLA unofficial but well informed commentary, has 

provided a whole range of potential definitions as to what it might mean. 
I don't think we need to try to figure out what they mean necessarily because they give 

themselves until 2050, and as we postulated earlier, they may well define the state where they are 
at 2050 as being equivalent to being a world-class military.  Right? 
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But what we do, and you all have been a part of, is this debate about China is a near peer 
competitor.  And, more specifically, whether the PLA is a near peer competitor of the United 
States. 

So, I'd invite your comment on that question, but maybe more importantly, what are the 
metrics that we ought to use to make a judgment about that? 

Actually, Dr. Mahnken, you actually gave several in answer to an earlier question and 
maybe you would repeat those. 

But what should we -- what should be used to judge whether they reach that status?  I 
think it's sloppy for us to use a term without a shared understanding.  I'm not saying you all, I'm 
saying our broader community. 

And so, it'd be helpful, any ideas you have that would lend some specificity and clarity to 
that. 

Thank you. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  No, that's an excellent question.  And, maybe, you know, a couple of 

ways to think about this. 
So, and whether it's -- actually, whether it is without the quotes, a world-class military or 

a near peer competitor, I think, you know, one element of it is, how do they match up against 
widely recognized benchmarks of what it is to be a top tier military.  Right? 

So, in at the turn of the last century, you know, you would have said, well, you measure it 
in battleships.  Right?  So, to be a serious power, you measure it in battleships. 

Well, you know, today it's nuclear weapons.  It's intercontinental reach.  It's space.  It's 
aircraft carriers. 

And, again, I think we see -- and it's civil space programs, it's a number of things.  Right?  
And, we certainly see China investing in those existing benchmarks. 

And then, as we look to the future, it's innovation in some particularly promising areas.  
So, I think they're making their bets there with AI and a number of areas. 

But then, I think another useful way to think about it from a U.S. perspective is the ability 
to deny us our objectives, to be able to, you know, to defeat U.S. forces, to thwart U.S. forces. 

And here, to echo the earlier point, you know, Japan in 1941 had an economy one-ninth 
the size of the U.S. economy.  And, yet was able to run roughshod over the Western Pacific and 
Southeast Asia. 

So, you can, you know, you can pose a near peer threat without, you know, without being 
an economic equal.  It's the way I would think about it. 

COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  And, that example also suggests it's highly 
temporal.  I mean, that change within a period of 24, 30 months. 

MR. DENMARK:  That would be the point that I would make actually is that the title, 
what defines a world-class military power is an ever moving target.  And, I would say that the 
U.S. military sets the standard. 

And, my hope is that we can maintain that advantage by continuing to move the standard 
of world-class military beyond the reach of the PLA. 

In terms of metrics, I would say -- my sense is that defining as a world-class, whether or 
not this is world-class, whether or not this is a peer competitor, I think is ultimately for analysts 
and for policymakers is not terribly meaningful. 

To me, I think we need to keep in mind that the purpose of military capabilities is to 
achieve political objectives. 

So, to me, the only metric that really matters ultimately is can China's military 
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capabilities enable them to achieve their political objectives through the use of force? 
And, if they can, even in if in going against the U.S. military, and that to me, is enough of 

a capability. 
COMMISSIONER KAMPHAUSEN:  Just one quick comment in response.  Abe, I 

totally agree. 
Unfortunately, our system is predisposed to use slogans to have meaning.  Right?  And 

so, I'm not saying you ever did it, but it is -- it wouldn't be the first time tomorrow if an official 
in the Pentagon said, China's a near peer competitor and we still don't know exactly what they 
mean. 

We have an impression and then we define it by our own.  So, we're wrestling to try and 
see if we can add some clarity.  But, anyway, thank you very much. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Mr. Mahnken, I have a question for you. 
According to the Defense Intelligence Agency, the Chinese military boasts to world's 

largest and most comprehensive missile force in the world today. 
Beijing has been able to build such an impressive missile force due to the fact that China 

never exceeded to the intermediate range nuclear forces, the INF treaty. 
Now that the U.S. will withdraw from the treaty, is there a case to be made for deploying 

land based missiles in Asia to deter China? 
And, if yes, where should they be deployed?  And, what is the value to the United States 

of a U.S. China military to military engagements, if any? 
DR. MAHNKEN:  How much time to I have?  I guess four minutes and 23 seconds. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  You have several minutes. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  Okay.  So, to take us back to the INF treaty, right, the INF treaty 

equated a basing regime, land basing and a range regime with nuclear systems.  Right? 
So, it was the intermediate range nuclear forces agreement. 
And, I agree that that framework no longer really captures as much meaning as it once 

did.  And, as you point out correctly, China has never been constrained by the INF treaty and has 
built the world's largest missile force. 

As we leave the INF treaty, as the INF treaty goes away, I would be careful to decouple 
the basing regime and the range regime from nuclear delivery. 

So, to answer your question, I think there is actually a very -- there is a strong case for 
land based conventional missiles deployed along the first island chain in anti-ship roles, 
potentially in strike roles. 

There may be a case for intermediate range nuclear forces.  But what I would say there is, 
I think that case would be strongest if the circumstances of the 1970s and 1980s that led to the 
U.S. to deploy Pershing II and ground launch cruise missiles repeat themselves. 

Which is, those weapons were only deployed because of our allies request.  We 
developed and we deployed those forces at the behest of our allies who were worried about 
becoming decoupled from U.S. extended nuclear deferent. 

Were that situation to repeat itself, were U.S. allies to ask for that, I would think that 
would be something that we would want to consider. 

Even absent that, however, I think those range limits and the land basing limit make less 
and less sense for things like anti-ship missions. 

And, realizing they are not to get too wonky on it, about it, but where -- when you're 
particularly thinking about like a land based cruise missile, range is also a surrogate for loiter 
time. 
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So, you could have a long range missile that could go point to point long range but could 
also loiter and could also search.  And, there's a lot of value in that. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you. 
What's the value to the United States of U.S. China military to military engagement? 
DR. MAHNKEN:  I think there is value to the U.S. military and the PLA talking to one 

another.  I think in understanding one another, I do have concerns, though, that often times the 
value of military to military exchanges gets inflated and sometimes it becomes -- they become an 
end to themselves rather than a means to an end. 

I think we need to remember that the PLA is a party army.  It is the party's army.  It's the 
civil military relationship on the Chinese side is very different than the civil military relationship 
on our side. 

And, I think I've certainly seen mirror imaging on the U.S. side in the past in dealing with 
the PLA where it wasn't warranted. 

So, in an attempt to build personal relations between Chinese and American leaders, you 
actually create a mistrust and all sorts of miscommunication. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  And, we're certainly the ones who inform them how to get 
stronger. 

DR. MAHNKEN:  We like to show things off.  We -- I think maybe that's a human 
tendency and maybe we should be a little bit smarter about that sometimes. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Mr. Denmark, I have one question for you. 
In your testimony, you state that forcing allies and partners to choose between the United 

States and China would be a nightmare and is unnecessary at this time. 
A strategic ally versus a commercial ally or a commercial friend. 
At some point, allies or partners may have to choose sides.  What is the best way for the 

United States to ensure that they choose the United States? 
MR. DENMARK:  That's a very good question.  I think this is reacting to some of the 

pressure that's been coming in from the U.S. government forcing the allies to choose sides. 
They're in a very uncomfortable position in that, for the first time, their top security ally 

is not the same country as their top trading partner. 
And, even worse, from their perspective, their top security partner is in a deepening 

competition with their top trading partner. 
In many ways, especially for our allies, the choice is not between being on Team 

America or being on Team China.  In that, they're allies of the United States.  Their security is 
dependent on -- 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  We tried to get various allies not to choose the 5G from 
China. 

MR. DENMARK:  Right.  And, so, my point is that, we had these -- we've had issues 
with our allies throughout the history of these alliances. 

During the Cold War, you know, Canada did not send troops to Vietnam.  Right?  We 
had the Suez Crisis in the middle of the Cold War.  Yet, NATO survived throughout these. 

It's okay for allies to disagree on certain issues.  The alliances can survive them.  And, 
they do -- I think they will continue to remain allied to the United States, to remain comfortable 
in that alliance if we maintain our ability to defend them, if we continue to demonstrate our 
willingness and ability to defend them, and if we stick to the values that are key to our 
attractiveness in terms of democracy, in terms of openness, in terms of -- 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Human rights. 
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MR. DENMARK:  -- political and economic liberalism including human rights, yes. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much. 
Larry Wortzel? 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  Dr. Mahnken, Mr. Denmark, thank you both for being 

here. 
I got questions for both of you and I'm going to ask you each to be a little more specific. 
Tom, your third sentence is that China is a global challenge to the world order, and I don't 

disagree. 
But what I'd like you to do is, now the Chinese Communist Party depends on some 

aspects and institutions of the world order, but it chafes at other aspects of the institutions. 
So, I'd ask you to be a little more specific and talk about what they really want to 

undermine and what aspects of it that we also depend on, they depend on. 
And then, Abe, one of your objectives, one of your recommendations, is to work to limit 

the options Beijing has to build new military facilities of abroad.  All right? 
So, if that's a strategy, that's your end.  I'd like you to talk about the ways you would do 

that.  How would you recommend the United States do that? 
And then, in terms of means, what resources does the United States have available to 

employ to do that? 
And then, finally, because this is what we are about as a Commission, what 

recommendations would you have for what Congress can do to support your objective? 
DR. MAHNKEN:  Thank you. 
When I talk about China as a global challenge, you know, I'm thinking in part about the 

military dimension, but particularly about the political and economic dimensions. 
So, ultimately, the Chinese Communist Party leadership wants to perpetuate its rule.  

That involves maintaining domestic security, maintaining control over the Chinese populous. 
It also requires a preponderance within China's immediate region. 
But those things are, they are necessary but insufficient.  So, if we look at Chinese 

political influence operations, they are truly global and they are meant to influence not only 
Chinese diaspora populations across the world, but also the attitudes of governments across the 
world. 

Their attitudes towards Taiwan, certainly, but also their attitudes towards China. 
If we look at Chinese economic statecraft, it is similarly a global phenomenon meant to 

curry favor among different companies, states with China. 
And, I think ultimately, yes, it does rise to challenging the global order, whether it's the 

global economic order, the global political order, it is the existing global order is one that has 
benefitted China tremendously. 

But I think it's the fact that the Chinese Communist Party did not participate in the 
creation of that order chaffs at them in a fundamental way. 

But you're absolutely right, there is attention there.  China has benefitted tremendously 
from, you know, from the international order.  But it's not always an international order that is 
comfortable to the CCP leadership, whether it's our freedom of navigation, the rules there, 
whether it's protection for intellectual property, whether it's human rights policies that grant 
refuge to folks that the Chinese government may find noxious. 

So, I'm not surprised that they ultimately, you know, want to change things in a way that's 
more beneficial to them. 

MR. DENMARK:  Very quickly, Mr. Commissioner, on your question, I think the key to 
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recognize with what we've seen so far with Djibouti, at least, is that for China, building a 
military facility, a military support facility, is not the equivalent to strategic alignment, that 
Djibouti is not now a Chinese ally. 

And, China is not now committed to the defense of Djibouti. 
That this is a purely a business transaction and Djibouti continues to host other military 

facilities for other countries, including the United States. 
So, to me, the answer to this, to limit China's options, we need to be able to play the 

business game well.  And that, to me, means diplomacy.  It means money.  But foremost, it 
means proactive. 

That it's much easier to limit China's options to build facilities abroad if we're proactive 
rather than trying to somehow roll them back. 

And so, that to me, means, as I said, diplomacy and money. 
And, you asked about resources, very quickly, the National Defense Strategy said that 

great power competition is our top priority, even above terrorism.  Right? 
The National Security Strategy also emphasized the importance of great power 

competition as a key part of our foreign policy.  So, to me, that means it needs to be resourced. 
If you look at how much we're spending on counterterrorism, if you look at how much 

we're spending on a wide variety of other issues, to me, the amount of money that would -- that I 
expect would be required to limit Chinese basing facilities, it's a lot of money.  But, relatively, I 
think it's achievable. 

COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  Well, I mean, to get specific, if you look at 
mechanisms, TPP would perhaps somehow challenge OBOR. 

EXIM Bank funds that companies could draw on. 
MR. DENMARK:  There's a lot of mechanism, the BUILD Act, for example.  There's, 

you know, trade agreements, diplomacy.  You know, there's a lot of tools that we have in our 
handbook. 

We're at an advantageous position in that we have a lot that we can offer these countries.  
And, we can, you know, limit China's military options for new facilities in that way. 

But it requires -- that prioritization requires those mechanisms. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  In terms of recommendations, let me give you one that's very concrete 

and very affordable.  And, this is in the context of Chinese political warfare and Chinese 
economic statecraft. 

You know, that's not just occurring overseas, among our allies, among others.  It's also 
occurring on U.S. territory to include the compact states of the Western Pacific. 

Where, I think there's really been an alarming infiltration of Chinese influence.  Why is 
that occurring?  I think it's occurring because the territories, the compact states, look at the 
calendar.  They realize the compact funding is going to run out.  They realize that their 
economies are not self-sufficient and they're taking money, they're taking investment, maybe 
even a little bit of political influence from China. 

The same pattern is being repeated in the island states of the South Pacific. 
Providing, in the case of Congress, continuing the compact funding I think and providing 

a strong signal there that the United States continues to back the compact states and our Western 
Pacific territories I think would be a strong signal to counter malign Chinese influence. 

Just as support to some of the states in the South Pacific whether it comes from the 
United States or it comes from Australia, New Zealand, would also be a bulwark against that 
type of infiltration. 
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COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much. 
Mike Wessel? 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Thank you, gentlemen. 
Let me go up for a bit of altitude which is spurred by your -- all your comments and to 

look at the architecture, to look at some of the current challenges we face where much of the 
public attention about U.S. China courses around trade conflict right now. 

While there are always so many other -- while there are many other dimensions there is 
the articulation of great power competition without all the mechanisms to support it. 

And, you know, earlier this year, late last year, there was some discussion about what 
was it, Letter X, the Long Telegram, and the need for a new recitation, new architecture that 
would help guide policy and create confidence. 

You know, right now, I don't really know and I spend a lot of my time on this, I don't see 
a clear, consistent, comprehensive policy that I can articulate. 

So, help me, you know, think through this and also because I assume both of you interact 
with a lot of foreign delegations of a, you know, broad basis. 

You know, our headlines here, of course, you know, consumed by a lot of things that are 
day to day conflicts. 

How do our allies look at this?  Do they feel that we have the great power competition 
articulation?  Is the sum and substance of the architecture what do you think needs to be done to 
put us on a better path forward where we see the parts and know how to invest in them? 

MR. DENMARK:  Very good question. 
We are still looking for that Letter X.  About every 18 months somebody comes up with 

something that they think could be it, and it doesn't quite get there. 
But I actually -- I think it's okay.  If you look at George Kennan's description of 

containment from 1948, I think it was. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  '47, '48, yes. 
MR. DENMARK:  '47.  Came 30 years after the Russian Revolution.  It took us 30 years 

to figure out how to handle the -- what the Soviet Union represented and what it meant for us. 
Of course, this was after the Second World War, it posed a different challenge than in 

1917.  But it took us a while to figure it out. 
And, I think we have now identified that there's a problem.  And, there's a general sense 

that we need to compete with China, but we're still struggling with identifying what are we 
actually competing over and what does success look like?  We're still struggling to come to a 
consensus on that. 

And, from what I've seen coming out of the Trump Administration, I think there's some 
good ideas, but I think they're still wrestling with these questions as well.  And, I think it'll take 
us some time. 

And, of course, I have my own ideas, but I would never try to describe it as a Letter X 
level of an idea. 

How our allies and partners see this, I think they're, in some ways, glad to see the Unites 
States identifying competition with China.  They've been seeing this trend for a long time and I 
think they're glad to see that we're taking it seriously. 

I think they, some in the region, appreciate the aggressiveness and muscularity that's been 
demonstrated at least verbally by the Trump Administration.  But I think there's also concerns 
that the United States is not doing what it needs to do in order to actually compete. 

For many of our allies and partners in Asia, the number one item that you get on the list 
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from anybody you talk to would be TPP.  But the decision to withdraw from TPP was a major 
setback in terms of U.S. efforts to compete with China. 

Beyond that, I think looking at U.S. military interventions around the world, when we 
talk about -- when we -- when there's news about the United States looking Iran, at Venezuela, at 
Syria, Eastern Europe, and Russia, not commenting on the importance of these specific issues, 
but for our allies in the Indo-Pacific, they see us looking at -- they see news reports at 
considerations of intervention into these countries, a potential for conflict with these countries. 

And, they ask the question, how can we be sure that you're actually committed to actually 
competing with the Chinese if you're looking at intervening in Venezuela, for example. 

And, that's sort of a particular question is, are we making the investments?  Do we have 
the attention?  And, do we have the right sort of beyond the military, the right geopolitical 
approach? 

The only other piece I'd mention, I realize I'm short on time, is how the administration 
has been handling and talking about U.S. allies and our alliance commitments. 

Seeing them as or describing them as money ventures, describing them as unfair, I think 
really diminishes allied confidence in U.S. commitments. 

I don't think it's a crisis point like Dr. Mahnken described before during the Cold War 
where our allies were concerned about this, but I think does speak to some lingering concerns 
that our allies have about commitment and will. 

COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  So, somewhat corrosive? 
MR. DENMARK:  Yes. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Dr. Mahnken? 
MR. MAHNKEN:  So, I think in my interaction with our allies, with our friends, first and 

foremost, they are looking for a sign of seriousness on the part of the United States. 
And, I think they are seeing that.  I think they are seeing now that we are serious about 

dealing with China. 
First -- 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Comprehensively? 
MR. MAHNKEN:  Yes, and I'll get to that. 
COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Okay, okay. 
MR. MAHNKEN:  And, first, we're willing to talk about China and we're willing to talk 

about competition and we're willing to talk about competition with China, not just in fora like 
this or in classified venues but in the National Security Strategy and National Defense Strategy. 

So, and not even, you know, to resort to an unnamed near peer competitor which, of 
course, the Chinese have known it was them all along.  Right?  So, that's a sign of seriousness. 

Second, a sign of seriousness is our willingness to endure pain in furtherance of our 
interests.  And so, I would put the, you know, the trade war in that context where we're willing to 
sustain economic pain in to compete with China. 

I think many allies in the past saw the United States suggesting that they endure pain 
while we stand back.  So, I think that's very important. 

The third thing I would say that I think really impresses our allies is the level of 
bipartisanship on China in the government, in the Congress.  And, I'm not, you know, telling 
anybody anything they don't already know that, you know, those areas of bipartisan agreement 
are too few these days. 

So, the fact that China is a bipartisan issue and that there is a bipartisan consensus behind 
our China policy I think is very powerful, speaks very powerfully to our allies. 
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COMMISSIONER WESSEL:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Chairman Bartholomew, our Chairman of our Commission. 
CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you very much and thank you to both of our 

witnesses. 
I guess it seems fitting in some ways that while we've had a day talking about world class 

military, we're now getting to the point of sort of world class military for what?  Right?  What is 
this -- what are the political objectives? 

I think one thing that hasn't come up is the sad attractiveness of the Chinese model in the 
number of countries around the world, the model of economic growth with authoritarianism. 

And, Abe, I'll note particularly when you mentioned for most African and Latin 
American countries, the military modernization represents little more than an additional benefit, 
potential benefit on economics and things like that.  

But I think it's important to include in there the potential political.  Right?  I mean, if they 
crack down on their population, their public, they're not going to get any push back from the 
Chinese. 

And, in fact, the Chinese companies are selling equipment, surveillance state equipment.  
And, that's one of the trends that I find myself really concerned about is the export of the 
surveillance state, which is happening everywhere, right? 

I mean, we have smart cities, people interested in smart cities.  And, that's a portion of 
their surveillance state. 

I had to call Chase Bank the other day and they made some comment on the recording 
that they were using voice identification.  And, I thought, wait a minute, I never told you guys 
that I was comfortable with that. 

So, I mean, it's sort of everywhere and we aren't really grappling with that.  But what I'm 
particularly concerned about is in countries that are not allies and partners that might find this 
attractive. 

And, what do we do to try to push back on that?  That's one thing. 
Another thing, you know, we were just in the region for a couple of weeks is, we did hear 

everywhere, of course, our economic relationship with China is so important, but our security 
relationship with the United States is also important. 

But there's a little bit of irony in there which is the economic relationship, I mean, China 
built its economy under the protection of our security umbrella.  And, I can understand some of 
the frustration. 

I don't like the way it's being expressed, but I can understand some of the frustration 
which is, you want us to continue to pay the price for you to be able to have this economic 
relationship, which is -- it's a simple way of saying it, but that's some of it. 

And then, one other thing is we certainly heard, and I agree with, Abe, that we need to be 
more present.  You know, part of what the United States government needs to do is to show up at 
ASEAN and any of these meetings. 

And, we don't even have an ambassador to Singapore.  So, it's those kinds of things that 
we heard about that people were saying. 

But I would like to -- for you guys, again, to address the concern about authoritarianism.  
But how does that fit into what you think Beijing's objectives are, right? 

I mean, you build a world class military to some end. 
MR. DENMARK:  I -- a few reactions that, on your immediate question, I'll be brief. 
And, I think China's ultimate objective is to make the world safe for the Chinese 
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Communist Party. 
(Laughter.) 
MR. DENMARK:  And, I think that involves all aspects of military power, all aspects of 

national power, and I think that's why you see some of -- many of the activities that Dr. Mahnken 
talked about in terms of foreign political influence, military expansion, expanding military 
capabilities, political engagements, infrastructure, I think all that is to advance the interest and 
defend the Chinese Communist Party. 

I would note that the Chinese model is actually not terribly attractive unless you're 
already authoritarian.  In that, it promises authoritarianism plus economic development.  

But the vast majority of countries with the exceptions of some of the worst countries in 
the world I think would much rather engage with the United States if they have the chance. 

And I think -- I have confidence that if we competed side by side with the Chinese that 
we would win more than we lost. 

The only other point I would make is that the Chinese strategy with their economic 
infrastructure strategies has been that eventually economic entanglement would lead to strategic 
alignment. 

And, I think what they're finding is that it doesn't work.  And, if you look at China's top 
trading partners, they're all countries that are not well aligned with China.  Right?  Not only the 
United States, Japan, South Korea, Germany, India, all these countries are China's top trading 
partners.  None of them are closely aligned with the Chinese. 

And, I think that shows that strategic alignment is about more than economic or 
infrastructure connectivity.  And, I think that's a sign of our built in inherent advantages in a 
competition. 

And so, as you said, Madam Chairwoman, I think we're most -- we will win most 
competitions if we actually show up and we devote the amount of resources and attention that's 
necessary to be there. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Dr. Mahnken? 
DR. MAHNKEN:  Yes, I think we need to show up and we also need to be able to 

provide an alternative.  Right? 
So, we need to be able to provide an alternative to Huawei when it comes to 5G.  Right?  

We need -- the fact is that, you know, Asia has a tremendous deficit in infrastructure investment.  
We need to be able to provide an alternative. 

And, if we do that, and I think I would agree with Abe that we have deep advantages, not 
just we, the United States, but we are allies have deep advantages there if we are able to provide 
anything close to, you know, an alternative to what the Chinese are offering.  I think we'll have a 
lot of success. 

But I would agree with you about the, you know, the sad attractiveness of the Chinese 
model to authoritarian states.  And so, there, we need to be true to our country's values, not just 
our interests.  And, we need to call it like we see it and stick by it. 

CHAIRMAN BARTHOLOMEW:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  I have one more question and then Larry will go. 
Can you, in light of what happened in Hong Kong recently where they backed down, 

although it's probably temporary, can you foresee any circumstances under which the Chinese 
would take a similar position on Taiwan? 

DR. MAHNKEN:  Take a similar position in terms of? 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Backing off on Taiwan, under any circumstances? 



 
 
 

Back to Table of Contents 

DR. MAHNKEN:  No, I mean, I think the -- no, I can't -- no. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  No? 
(Laughter.) 
MR. DENMARK:  I don't think you're going to see Taiwan take a step back. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Excuse me? 
MR. DENMARK:  Excuse me, I don't think you'll see China take a step back on Taiwan.  

But just a couple points in would make in addition to that. 
I think we haven't seen the end of China's reaction to this? 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  You mean in Hong Kong? 
MR. DENMARK:  In Hong Kong. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Right. 
MR. DENMARK:  I think that they may wait, allow tempers to die down and then more 

slowly address things. 
But I do think that one of the, you know, this is just my sense, I don't have a news article 

or analysis that I can point you to. 
But my sense is that one of the reasons the Chinese have took a soft position on the 

protests in Hong Kong was because of Taiwan. 
COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Was what? 
MR. DENMARK:  Because of Taiwan. 
If you witnessed Taiwan's leading DPP recently went through a leadership challenge and 

the president, Tsai Ing-Wen.  I think a lot of that was because politics in Taiwan, the attention 
turned from domestic affairs to foreign affairs in the last weeks before their vote. 

And, I think a lot of that was because of what was happening in Hong Kong. 
And, my sense, again, just my own take, is that Beijing saw that what was happening in 

Hong Kong was hurting their position with Taiwan.  And so, I think they decided to back off in 
part for that reason. 

But I don't think that ultimately their approach towards Hong Kong is going to change.  I 
don't think they're going to suddenly take a different stance on Hong Kong and I don't think 
they're going to take an ultimately different stance on Taiwan. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  So, you can foresee no circumstances under which they 
would ever back off on Taiwan? 

MR. DENMARK:  I think we could expect tactical changes.  I think we could expect 
them increasing and decreasing pressure, depending on the political requirements at the moment. 

But in terms of adjusting their overall approach, Xi Jinping described it last year.  I don't 
think you're going to see significant deviations from that. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you. 
Larry? 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  Yes, Chairman Bartholomew talked a little bit about 

this short trip, the trip we took. 
One of the things that struck me while talking to the people from the American Chamber 

of Commerce, U.S. China Business Council, both here and there, is there is some let's call it 
decoupling because one of Xi Jinping's statements was we don't want to decouple. 

But there is some decoupling by corporations on U.S. economic interdependence with 
China.  And, they're diversifying their supply chains.  I think that's a good thing. 

There's actions in Congress to create better visibility over PRC, funding raising in U.S. 
financial markets.  I think that's a good thing. 
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And so, I'd ask you, if there are advantages in corporate, industrial, and financial 
institution diversification in Asia, if you could strategically target it, where are the best places for 
it to go? 

MR. DENMARK:  That's a very interesting question. 
I think I tend to be of the mind that the government should have a fairly limited say in 

where it goes.  But, to my mind, a lot of where it should go is where it's going, Vietnam, Taiwan, 
Philippines, Malaysia, India. 

These to me, these are the countries that so far are benefitting when companies diversify 
out of China, they're moving to those places. 

I do think, though, however, there's some concern amongst some of the governments in 
these countries that the pace of diversification of the supply chains is not keeping pace with the 
pace of, sorry to say pace so much, of U.S. tariffs.  That the amount of economic pain they're 
feeling because of the tariffs is more significant than the amount of benefit they're getting from 
companies shifting their operations from China to them. 

And so, I think they would like this -- I think they are generally fine with the tariffs, 
they're benefitting from it.  But I think they'd like it to be a little bit more predictable and a little 
bit more gradual if they could -- if they had a choice. 

But overall, the countries that we're seeing in Southeast Asia, in South Asia, that's where 
I would hope they are going and that, so far, at least seems to be where they are going. 

DR. MAHNKEN:  I would agree and I think it's because, you know, whether we call it 
decoupling or something else, you know, in part, it's part of a conscious political strategy. 

But to a large measure, it's just -- it's the result of long-term economic trends.  Right? 
COMMISSIONER WORTZEL:  Right.  The Chinese behaved terribly toward those 

corporations and they're looking out for their own interests. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  And, China becomes, for those reasons, for other, you know, 

economic reasons becomes less and less attractive to do business in China and conversely, 
relatively more attractive to do business elsewhere. 

So, I think that's good.  I think also, from, you know, from the Chinese side, real 
emphasis on consumption led growth as opposed to export led growth, there's decoupling on that 
side as well. 

So, and that actually, to echo you, I think that's good news because it's not merely the 
result of a particular strategy that could change, it's a result of some deeper seated underlying 
economic trends that are likely to persist. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  Thank you very much. 
And, I'm going to ask my Co-Chair to end the meeting in a moment, but I just want to 

thank you both very much for coming and helping educate us. 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  The goal I set for myself coming into this series of 

hearings or this hearing, the series of panels, was to develop a better appreciation for what a 
world class military might look like. 

And, recognizing that or worried that Americans, because it was such a slogany 
throwaway line and what have you that the government, in particular, was not paying close 
enough attention to what the implications of such an ambition might be, even though we heard, 
subsequently, that it may be empty rhetoric.  It could be -- and who knows if it's real or not. 

But during the course of the day, I'm going to enumerate some of the characterizations of 
world class military that I heard.  And, since I trust your judgment very, very much, I would like 
very much for you, either of you, to yell foul or when I'm finished, say, no, you forgot X, Y, or 
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Z. 
So, here's some of the characterizations or attributes, if you will, that I heard about a 

world class military. 
The first one is one we talked about is the ability to predominate in the Indo-Pacific 

region. 
A second one would be the ability to pose a threat to U.S. superiority and technology and 

innovation. 
A third might be the ability to accomplish any assigned mission no matter where is was 

geographically, for example, sea land of communication protection. 
The fourth was achieve political objective no matter where they might be. Or, obviously, 

if they have a military component. 
Not be a Mini Me of the United States military, but to use the U.S. military as a yardstick 

or a benchmark for determining progress. 
Or, when the Chinese scientific socialists do their sums and come up with a new number 

for comprehensive national power, they go eureka, our number is higher than the Americans. 
Or, world class means information dominance. 
Or, it is such a powerful military that it can deter by demonstrating that it can win no 

matter what the conflict. 
So, those are the sorts of things that I've come up with based upon what we've heard 

today, over the course of the day, that characterize, perhaps describe, but characterize what 
experts like yourselves have thought as a world class military. 

So, fire away. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  I think that's a great list of attributes.  And, I think -- but I think there's 

one more, and I think you get to aspects of it, but let me just be very, very direct and this is the 
historian in me coming out. 

World class militaries are eventually determined by performance on the battlefield.  In 
1870 Europe, France was seen as possessing the most capable army around. 

We know that not just because of what the French thought and others thought, but 
countries across the world sought to emulate the French. 

Japan, the Japanese Army, early Meiji period brought in French advisors.  After France's 
defeat in the Franco-Prussian War, they kicked them out, brought in the Prussians. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  And, the American Army had picklehaubes. 
DR. MAHNKEN:  Yes, a lot of Army officers don't like to be reminded of that, but thank 

you for doing so. 
(Laughter.) 
DR. MAHNKEN:  Same thing, France, 1940.  The fight where the French army was 

widely regarded as the best army in Europe. 
So, one attribute of a world class military is its ability to defeat the then reigning world 

class military. 
Now, I hope it doesn't come to that, and we should do everything in our power to prevent 

that.  But the historian in me says that's ultimately how those judgments are written on that basis. 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  As a historian myself, I loved it.  Thank you. 
Abe? 
MR. DENMARK:  I think that all the definitions that you provided plus Dr. Mahnken's, 

somewhere in there is the right definition. 
(Laughter.) 
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MR. DENMARK:  To my mind, it's the term world class is very, as you said, very 
slogany.  I suspect that the Central Military Commission has put less thought into that we have. 
And that the objective -- the -- to me, what I think what they're looking for, what I would suspect 
they're looking for, is the ability of the Peoples' Liberation Army to achieve the CMC's political 
objectives. 

COMMISSIONER LEWIS:  To achieve what? 
MR. DENMARK:  The Central Military's Commission's or the Standing Committee's 

political objectives, especially in the face of significant armed resistance by the current reigning 
champion, as Dr. Mahnken said. 

I don't think they're looking to fight any conflict against any foe anywhere on the planet 
at any time the way we do, the way we talk about. 

I think they're looking at a much smaller set of contingencies, they have a much more 
constrained set of objectives.  But, within those parameters, I think their objective is to be the 
unrivaled or unsurpassed military, have the unsurpassed military advantage on those specific 
contingencies and objectives. 

COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Thank you. 
Are there any comments from my fellow Commissioners? 
(No audible response.) 
COMMISSIONER MCDEVITT:  Well, in that case, let me say that this panel and the 

hearings today are concluded.  And I want to thank you both very, very much for really 
marvelous discussion points and insights. 

Adjourned. 
(Whereupon, the above-entitled matter went off the record at 4:34 p.m.) 
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